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from your Mayor

I am pleased to  
present the 2018/19 
City of Burnside 
Annual Report in my 
first term as Mayor.  

Firstly I acknowledge both Mayor 
David Parkin for his service to 
Council over the previous eight  
years and to all Elected Members 
under the previous term of Council 
for their contributions and dedication. 
There were significant challenges  
to navigate over the four year  
period and I thank all for providing  
a platform that we can continue  
to grow from for the betterment of 
this community. It has been a 
productive 12 months building on 
solid foundations with numerous 
positive outcomes for the City. 

The elections held in November  
2018 saw significant changes to 
personnel in the chamber as we 
welcomed seven new faces to our 
Council. The State too experienced  
a significant shift in the local 
government landscape in terms  
of gender, age and cultural 
representation. 

The Council and its Administration,  
as a dedicated team, have continued 
to make a much appreciated 
contribution to the community, 
which is evidenced throughout this 
report. It affirms that our City is a 
green, vibrant, friendly and dynamic 
place to live, conduct business and 
work in; offering our residents, 
employees, businesses and visitors  
an enviable location and lifestyle.  
It is also one that looks to the future 
and recognises the inherent challenges 
ahead, which must be met with 
innovation, creativity and change. 

This report charts our progress towards our Strategic 
Community Plan Be the Future of Burnside 2016-2026 
which represents the shared values and aspirations  
of our community. In addition, the report highlights  
our key achievements and milestones and explains  
some of the challenges we faced. It measures our  
success against the objectives set out in the Annual 
Business Plan and Budget 2018/19 and includes the  
City of Burnside’s audited Financial Statements for  
that period. Importantly, it also highlights the  
increasing role that Council has in ‘non-mandatory 
services’ and how through the activities we provide,  
we strive to enhance wellbeing, social inclusion,  
lifestyle and health outcomes in the community. 

We have delivered an impressive suite of public 
infrastructure, redevelopment and community-building 
initiatives and maintained provision of more than  
110 services that nurture and enrich community life.  
This is even more rewarding and heartening when  
one observes such visible and tangible progress, while  
also providing sound value for residents and ratepayers, 
with cost increases minimised where possible. 

We have delivered 
an impressive suite of 
public infrastructure, 
redevelopment and 

community-building 
initiatives 
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Rates for 2018/19 were set at 2.70 per 
cent, accommodating for unexpected 
cost pressures including the Solid 
Waste Levy. Savings and associated 
strategies were successfully achieved, 
well in excess of expected amounts. 
Our ongoing positive results reaffirm 
our financial sustainability and 
responsibility in a challenging, and 
increasingly scrutinised, environment. 
Council achieved a $2.4m Net 
Surplus compared to an Adopted 
Budget of $0.5m, demonstrating 
prudent and sensible financial 
management and planning. Our 
nation’s recycling industry continued 
to be impacted by the China Sword 
decision and resultant impacts 
throughout the 2018/19 Financial 
Year, with our City not being immune 
to these pressures and forces. The East 
Waste Board steered us through the 
challenges and intricacies that arose 
and Council continues to pursue  
ways to improve the community’s 
understanding of the importance of 
disposing of waste effectively and 
efficiently. It is critical that the local 
government sector ensures the 
ongoing sustainability of the  
recycling industry in South Australia 
– and preserves the community’s trust 
and faith in the recycling process  
– through this time of transition.

It was pleasing to see the impetus 
maintained on key projects and 
witness firsthand the progress of  
the Conyngham Street Depot 
Redevelopment, the re-opening of 
Constable Hyde Memorial Garden, 
the undergrounding of power lines  
for the Magill Village project and to 
be involved with the Administration 
in the delivery of such objectives, 
while frequently visiting our  
library and community centres and 
meeting many in the community.

On a personal level I am proud to 
have seen the Regal Theatre in its  
first year of full operation by Council. 
This much loved site, a heritage icon, 
has flourished over the period with an 
increased portfolio of offerings for all 
in the community. A true community 
venue, it has been pleasing to see 
increases in attendance in addition  
to work commencing to rejuvenate 
parts of the building. Please continue 
to enjoy the concerts as well as the 
movies, as the Regal continues to 
support community fundraising and 
aid community connections. 

I was privileged to conduct my first 
citizenship ceremony on Australia 
Day where more than 80 residents 
from 29 countries became Australian 
citizens. The rich tapestry of cultures 
we welcome to the City contributes  
to making Burnside so special and  
I am particularly proud of our 
diversity. Celebrations of these 
different cultures continue to be 
engaged with by our residents in  
and beyond our City. 

Our engagement and consultation  
for the Wheel Park Research project 
officially began to investigate possible 
locations for such a facility in the  
City of Burnside. Attending the  
onsite consultation days proved to  
be a useful opportunity to hear 
community perspectives and  
directly be in discussion with key 
stakeholders. While appreciating  
the concerns, I also acknowledge  
that there are benefits of having a 
Wheel Park within our City,  
including recreational, lifestyle, social 
and mental health considerations 
and look forward to continuing 
exploration of this project. 

We have continued to interact and 
collaborate across other sectors of 
government. I would like to express 
my thanks to the Commonwealth 
Government who provided a total  
of $5m in funding towards our 
Kensington Gardens Reserve and 
Magill Village projects. The 
Administration has continued to 
advocate and educate on the matter 
of State planning reforms with 
numerous submissions provided.  
Of paramount importance has been 
the need to relay our concerns and 
views on heritage protection and  
I am confident Council has 
undertaken the steps possible to 
maintain these irreplaceable assets. 
Population density, urban infill  
and development overall are 
increasing, bringing additional 
demands on facilities, infrastructure 
and our natural environment. 
Council will continue to work 
diligently to ensure developments  
are appropriate and bring long-
lasting benefits where possible. 
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Our community operates in the  
way it does, not solely because of  
the physical places we create and  
the assets we build, but the sincere 
and honest connections we adopt. 
People who donate their time to 
volunteer, who associate with a  
club, who frequent the community 
centres, library and open spaces  
all help to mould and shape the 
lifestyles we all enjoy. 

I would like to take this opportunity 
to thank every member of the City  
of Burnside family, our Elected 
Members, our staff and volunteers  
for their contributions and support  
in consistently providing a wide 
range of services. Together we 
endeavour to make them flexible, 
open, accessible, and transparent  
and delivered in a cost-efficient  
and effective manner.

You should all be very proud of  
the contribution you have made to 
the City of Burnside in 2018/19.

Anne Monceaux 
Mayor

There has been a continued focus on matters  
relating to environmental action, conservation and 
protection. The implementation of the Canopy Action 
Plan continued, in order to address tree loss through 
community education and active participation in 
management of the urban forest. Waste management 
education efforts also continued with pleasing statistics 
and information reporting to Council and highlighted  
in this report. Council’s annual Local Native Plant Day 
was held at the Biodiversity Nursery, finding new homes 
for more than 2,400 plants and taking in over $4,300  
in donations. The dedicated work of staff and volunteers  
is sincerely appreciated, with the event encouraging  
the community to cultivate local indigenous plants that 
often require less watering.

Providing relevant, efficient and quality services to  
support people at all ages and life stages remained  
a key priority. From our Home Support Program to  
school holiday programs, through to our Carols in the 
Park or hire of facilities, or our Family Fun Days or 
Ballroom Series and library events, we work in  
partnership with the community, offering learning and 
leisure opportunities for thousands of residents. 

Above all, Council has strived to make the City a  
better place to live, work, study and conduct business  
in. This has been demonstrated through the breadth  
of services we have delivered; underpinned by astute  
fiscal management, judicious strategic planning and 
genuine, extensive community consultation and 
collaboration. On this note I thank everyone who has 
been involved in the various feedback and community 
engagement processes and for your contributions.  
You have helped us to understand your needs, desires  
and aspirations and how we can work to meet them. 
Please continue to engage with us. 
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our city
The City of Burnside is one of 
Adelaide’s oldest residential 

areas, encompassing 28 suburbs, 
and is located 10 minutes from  
the central business district of 
Adelaide, found nestled at the  
base of the Adelaide foothills.

The City of Burnside acknowledges  
that the City is located on the 
traditional country of the Kaurna 
people of the Adelaide Plains.  
It recognises and respects their cultural 
heritage, beliefs and relationship  
with the land.

While population and dwelling 
change in the City has been relatively 
stable historically, reflecting the 
established nature of residential 
settlement and lack of strategic 
redevelopment sites, 2018/19 has 
seen some shifts. A factor 
contributing to these shifts included 
the substantial completion of  

Stage 1 of the Cedar Woods Glenside 
Redevelopment, with new residents 
starting to move in to the completed 
dwellings. The Burnside Village 
expansion project has also continued 
to accelerate, with a masterplan that 
ensures the Village continues as South 
Australia’s premier retail and lifestyle 
destination approved by the State 
Commission Assessment Panel in  
May 2019. An increasing proportion  
of residents with non-English speaking 
backgrounds, coupled with both an 
ageing population and an ever-
increasing youth demographic are  
also trends which have continued  
over the past year. 

Since early settlement, Burnside has 
evolved into a dynamic community;  
a true mix of diverse cultures, with 
contemporary and highly valued 
heritage areas, a city conscious of  
and respecting its past, while also 
appreciating the need for innovation 
and economic prosperity.

The Estimated Resident Population of 
the City of Burnside as of 30 June 2018 
(obtained from Australian Bureau  
of Statistics) is 45,706.
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The 2016 Census revealed the following statistics for the City of Burnside:

26 per cent of the 
population reported doing 

some form of voluntary  
work in 2016.

3 per cent of the resident 
population have difficulty 

communicating  
in English. 

34.2 per cent of the 
dwellings were medium or 
high density, compared to 

26 per cent in Greater 
Adelaide.

22 per cent of people came 
from countries where English 
was not their first language.

There were 2,841  
couples with young children 

in the City of Burnside in 
2016, comprising 16 per cent 

of households.

35.2 per cent of households 
with a mortgage were 

making loan repayments of 
$2,600 or more per month.

The largest increase in 
ancestry is Chinese and 

Indian.

13,390 people were born 
overseas and 25 per cent 

arrived in Australia between  
2011 and 2016.

20.4 per cent of the 
population earned an 

income of $1,750 or more 
per week in 2016.

7,480 (17 per cent) were  
5 to 17 year olds (primary and 

secondary schoolers) in the  
City of Burnside. 

There were 7,013 households 
(40 per cent) with children.
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Transparent and honest

Enjoyment and involvement

our values

Caring and supportive

Innovative and creative
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261,638 Documents registered

7,168 Customer Requests

40,589 Calls handled

Seamless election process, with  
7 new Council Members

Corporate and Development

348 cats registered voluntarily

5,442 dogs registered 

104 Permits to burn issued

$1m of savings achieved

1,305 development 
applications received

743 respondents to the 2019/20 
Annual Business Plan and Budget 
Consultation

A 9 per cent increase to 69 per 
cent satisfaction for providing and 
maintaining street trees – Annual 
Community Survey 2018

2018 Annual Community Survey 
indicated that the community’s  
overall satisfaction with Council’s 
performance continues to be high  
(7.1 out of a possible 10) 

92 per cent Skytrust actions completed

our vision Established and renowned for its heritage  
and character, green leafy streets and  
open spaces, Burnside is an urban oasis.

It has a collaborative, diverse and accepting community, 
that together with Council, works towards building upon 
Burnside’s historic and traditional foundations to deliver 
a progressive and contemporary City cognisant of its past.
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14,882 km total length of footpaths

Completion of the LED street lighting 

upgrade project, with nearly 4,000 LED 
light replacements

Urban and Community

Investment to renew 
the following in our 
open space areas:

4 Playgrounds 

12 Benches

5 Bus stop shelters

3 Drinking fountains

5 Picnic tables

3 Tennis courts

459,843 library items borrowed

13,531 adults and kids attended  
library children’s programs

321,168 library visitors

41,189 attendances at the Regal Theatre

4,900 people attended Family Fun Days 
or Outdoor Movie Nights

178,700 people utilised the Ballroom, 
Dulwich Community Centre and the 
Glenunga Hub

49,272 hours of Home Support  
services provided

101 new volunteers recruited

159 individuals 
received citizenship  
in 2018/19

33,257 attendances at  
Pepper Street Arts Centre

108,364 attendances at  
George Bolton Swimming 
Centre Burnside for the season

>$13m Capital Works delivery

Town Hall renovation complete

Establishment of Urban Foresters Group

4,142 Hard Waste bookings

24,059 work orders actioned

1,071 new street trees planted

11,400 native plants grown  
in our nursery
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and Waste 
Management **

financial summary  
and expenditure

Expenditure

** City Maintenance includes: street sweeping, hard waste collection, planting  
of trees and maintenance of assets, infrastructure, parks and reserves.

***Assets and Infrastructure relates to the operational expenditure relating to  
property maintenance for Council as well as a component of administrative  
costs which includes salaries and depreciation.
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8%
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Financial Management and Sustainability (Strategic Direction 4)

In 2018/19, Council delivered a strong outcome  
against the adopted Annual Business Plan and Budget  
and remained committed to realising savings across  
the organisation while simultaneously providing its 
services to the community. A 2.70 per cent general  
rate increase was delivered to residents and ratepayers, 
despite the cost of Council business increasing by 
approximately 4.20 per cent. A $2.2m in Operating 
Surplus compared to an Adopted Budget of $0.5m and 
Quarter 3 Forecast of $1m demonstrates the Council’s 
responsible fiscal management. 

This strong performance was a result of Council  
being able to achieve savings of $1m well exceeding  
the Adopted Budget Savings Target of $590k as well  
as additional income from other sources. 

Savings resulted from, inter alia, diligent management  
of employee’s costs and robust vacancy management, 
electricity and maintenance reductions due to the roll  
out of the LED lighting project and procurement 

our performance 
highlights

efficiencies achieved through contract 
negotiations for a number of projects. 
Furthermore, a reduction in the New 
Footpath Construction program due 
to works not proceeding as a result of 
community consultation feedback 
provided additional capital savings. 
Taking responsibility for the daily 
operations and management of the 
iconic Regal Theatre presented an 
additional revenue stream to Council 
while fostering community participation 
and social cohesion. In addition, 
further income resulted from increased 
parking fines; directly linked to 
expanded resources and working hours. 

Such targeted efforts allowed Council 
to continue delivery and maintain 
momentum of the full range and 
level of the 118 services previously 
provided to the community, as well  
as introducing $433k of additional 
projects and new services in the 
2018/19 financial year.  

Council’s Strategic Community Plan ‘Be the Future of Burnside  
2016-2026’ identifies four broad Strategic Directions from the which  
the Council undertake planning, action and evaluation; providing  
the overarching direction which guides the allocation of resources  
over the long, medium and short-term. These are: 

Strategic Direction 1 | Our integrated urban form and living spaces 
Strategic Direction 2 | Our protected and valued environment 
Strategic Direction 3 | Our diverse, connected, happy and healthy people 
Strategic Direction 4 | Our leading, inclusive and connected Council
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In spite of a number of cost pressures, Council was able  
to deliver a strong outcome for the community and 
achieve all its set financial indicators. In addition, 
Council’s net debt level as at 30 June was $12.0m,  
$3.8m less than the Adopted Budget position of $15.8m. 

The City of Burnside was fortunate to be advised of 
successfully securing $5m in Federal Government  
funding to assist in delivery of the Kensington Gardens 
Reserve and Magill Road projects and acknowledges  
the assistance from this tier of government. This injection  
of grant funding was a milestone moment for both 
projects, allowing work to accelerate on each site for the 
betterment of residents with a view to improving the 
amenity and social and recreational usage of each area. 

The Executive Team also continued the rotating  
Executive Group Manager structure established in early 
2018. This unique and innovative structure increases 
capacity and diversity of thought on the Executive Team, 
supporting equal opportunity while significantly reducing 
Executive and Management employee costs and is an 
important component of the organisation’s people strategy. 

Operating projects included work  
on rejuvenating the Canopy Action 
Plan and education, a community 
representative survey, a successful 
pilot project for place making  
grants and provision for a temporary 
Local History and Cultural Officer. 
New services included hard waste 
promotion and provision for a 
short-term employee under equity 
and diversity. 

Furthermore Council was able to 
deliver $13.3m of Capital projects 
this financial year. This included 
investment in new projects, like the 
redevelopment of Constable Hyde 
Memorial Garden and contributions 
towards the Conyngham Street Depot 
and Magill Village Redevelopment, 
as well as investment in renewing 
existing assets like drainage, bus 
shelters, plant, fleet, open space and 
traffic infrastructure. 

The 2018/19 financial year also 
brought a number of costs pressures, 
often external and outside the  
span of control of Council which 
directly impacted the ‘cost of business’ 
to deliver community services.  
These included election costs and  
flow-on cost increases relating to  
the international recyclable waste 
ban policy. 

Strategic Direction 1 | Our integrated urban form and living spaces 
Strategic Direction 2 | Our protected and valued environment 
Strategic Direction 3 | Our diverse, connected, happy and healthy people 
Strategic Direction 4 | Our leading, inclusive and connected Council

Council regularly measured 
its performance against  
the Annual Business Plan 
and Budget through 
monthly reporting to 
Council, conducting 
quarterly budget reviews, 
annual long-term financial 
plan review, customer 
complaint and reporting 
systems, budget consultation 
processes and an annual 
community survey.
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Our Workforce – People and Culture (Strategic Direction 4)

As at 30 June 2019  
the current Full Time 
equivalent (FTE) staff  
count for the City of 
Burnside was 161.22 FTE. 

Our People 2019-2023, a Strategic 
Workforce Plan, was endorsed by  
the Executive team in 2018/19. 
Recognising that the nature of the 
workforce is both fluid and in a time 
of profound change, and supporting 
the Administration’s most valued 
asset – its people – this document 
reinforces the strategic direction of  
a leading, inclusive and connected 
Council. Leveraging evidence from 
the Annual Community Survey and 
the employee climate survey,  
coupled with an analysis against 
contemporary human resource  
trends and principles, and a series  
of employee workshops to identify 
future opportunities and challenges, 
the plan is both nimble and bold, 

and will serve as a critical tool to 
identify priorities that will improve 
employee experiences and position 
Council an employer of choice, in 
addition to addressing succession 
planning challenges and the quest  
for talent. The strategy focuses on 
four key areas (Engage, Grow, 
Succeed, Advance) that support and 
develop people throughout their 
entire employee life cycle and will be  
a key enabling document as Council 
strives to meet future workforce 
challenges including an ageing 
workforce, talent management and 
contemporary and best practice 
recruitment and selection.

A new Leadership Development 
Program was launched in 2018/19. 
As an overarching program to benefit 
leaders of varying levels across the 
organisation this revised model will 
challenge and empower the leaders  
of tomorrow. The delivery of this 
program also supports Council’s 
commitment to providing suitable 
learning and development 
opportunities for staff and fostering 
an environment of continuous 
learning and sharing of knowledge, 
coupled with a recognition of the 
talent management and succession 
planning challenges faced by the 
sector in general. Following a tender 
process, Synergy IQ was selected to 
deliver a series of short and 
contemporary courses, specifically 
designed to build on the constructive 
and dynamic leadership competencies 
and behaviours already founded, 
allowing rapid deployment of 
knowledge, tools and skills within the 
work setting. Embedded within this 
customised program is the ‘Dare to 
Lead’ program which will equip 
participants with an internationally 

recognised accreditation. This 
development program has been 
designed and tailored for Council 
using the data from the 2018 culture 
and climate surveys, 360 feedback 
reviews, the training needs analysis 
and other relevant HR evidence bases 
and sources which have highlighted 
the key improvement areas and 
competencies to assist in cultivating, 
nurturing and further enhancing  
the Administration’s leadership  
skills at all levels.

In 2018/19 Council staff continued  
to excel again in the awards field 
during the financial year. At the 
Local Government Information 
Technology Awards 2018, a high 
commendation was awarded in the 
Young Achievement Award category, 
with Council also being presented 
with the Community Transformation 
Initiative Award. The Minister for 
Health and Wellbeing, as part of the 
Public Health Excellence Awards, 
presented the City of Burnside in 2019 
with a commendation for the  
Urban Forest Interactive Initiative.  
In addition, at the National TreeNet 
Symposium 2018 an award was 
received for ‘Leadership in Urban 
Forestry’. The Urban Forest Interactive 
Initiative was also recognised as a 
Local Government initiative toward 
addressing Climate Change at the 
City of Adelaide 2019 ‘Hot Hot Hot’ 
event. Such awards are a testament  
to employees’ commitment to  
their work and to the Council and 
reflect the dedication of all involved 
and complement other human 
resource initiatives and attesting  
to their success. 
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Governance and Elected Member liaison 

A summary of Elected Members, their terms 
of office, allowances, meeting attendance 
and related information, including 
committees of Council, is provided later in 
this document as mandated by the Local 
Government Act 1999 and relevant 
regulations. A report on the use of Sections 
90 (2) and 91 (7) by the Council and its 
Committees also follows in this report. 

Local Government elections were held across the  
State in November 2018. The City of Burnside worked 
collaboratively with the Electoral Commission of South 
Australia and the Local Government Association SA to 
successfully execute the election process and meet 
legislative requirements. The council elections were 
conducted by postal voting and voting closed at 5 pm 
Friday 9 November 2018. More than 30 per cent (30.39) of 
voters in the City of Burnside participated in the election 
which was lower than the State return rate of 32.66 per cent.

Following the election, a new Elected Member body was 
sworn in on 20 November 2018 and the new Council  
held their first meeting on 27 November 2018. 

The election resulted in seven  
new Councillors being elected in  
addition to a new Mayor with five 
Councillors being re-elected.
The new Council commenced a trial of Public  
Question Time and continued for the remainder of  
the financial year. This provided an opportunity for 
members of the public to further engage and become 
familiar with the Council and its operations at  
meetings and seek answers to appropriate questions.  
This further enhanced Council’s endeavours for  
openness, interaction and transparency. Live streaming  
of meetings continued during the financial year and  
a comprehensive review of confidential items was 
undertaken ensuring that items are released where 
possible and providing public access. 

Work has commenced on the review of the Code of 
Practice for Meetings and Access to Documents. Elected 
Members have provided feedback which identify 
opportunities to improve the Council’s Codes of Practice. 

As part of their induction all Elected 
Members were provided with 
mandatory training in accordance 
with the legislative requirements and 
a summary is provided in this report. 
Regular opportunities were provided 
for Elected Members to ‘hit the 
ground running’ for the new term, 
including a bus tour of key sites, 
induction sessions with subsidiaries 
and a Future Directions Forum. 

The Council undertook a review of  
its by-laws, as required by  
legislation. During the consultation 
on the by-laws 42 submissions were 
received, resulting in amendments to 
the Dog By-law. The next mandatory 
review of by-laws will be in 2026.  
A summary of current by-laws is 
provided in this report. 

No management plans for 
community land were prepared or 
finalised by Council in 2018/19.

19 www.burnside.sa.gov.au



 

Regal Theatre – a local icon
Following a period of interim management, the  
2018/19 financial year saw the City of Burnside  
assume responsibility for day-to-day management and 
oversight of this heritage listed and treasured attraction. 
This decision of Council has represented a new chapter  
for the iconic venue, allowing for strengthened community 
partnerships and interaction and acted as a further 
enabler towards Council’s strategic direction and vision. 
Since the transition the Administration has actively 
explored opportunities to expand the community use  
of the theatre to include live theatre, music, community 
and family events, with increased private/group/
charitable hire, delivering a multi-purpose facility for  
the community and residents. 

The increased activation of the site has provided a 
medium for fostering community participation and 
involvement and brought together individuals in the  
City and wider community who might not otherwise  
have had the chance to do so. Minor works have been 
undertaken to replace lighting around the screen,  
re-painting the foyer and replacing the carpet in  
the foyer area. In addition, strategies and campaigns  
have been proactively developed to realise the benefits 
stemming from school holiday periods and other  
annual events. Over the 2018/19 financial year, the  
Regal Theatre saw a 35 per cent increase in attendance 
when compared to 2017/18. The Annual Community 
Survey undertaken in 2018 saw 87 per cent of respondents 
indicating satisfaction with Council’s ‘provision of the 
Regal Theatre as a cinema and community venue’.

Constable Hyde Memorial Garden 
redevelopment
The redevelopment of the southern half (Space 1) of 
Constable Hyde Memorial Garden was completed in 
2018/19 and the park has been re-opened to the  
public who have warmed to the new space. This space  
has included development of a play space, an improved 
turf area with new irrigation, a little community library, 
additional trees, a new lizard sculpture and a new path 
and seating. An official event to mark the re-opening  
was held in April 2019 and featured a tree planting by  
the Mayor, in addition to the announcement of the 
winning name of the new blue tongue lizard sculpture,  
for which a competition was held (known as Tili  – Tiliqua 
scincoides). The sculpture was made from a red gum that 
was previously damaged in a storm. Council resurrected  
the trunk and commissioned an artist to sculpt a blue 
tongue lizard, native to the Burnside area. 

Following the successful redevelopment and reopening  
of space 1, Council was successful in obtaining a grant  
of $85,000 from the Department of Planning, Transport 
and Infrastructure (DPTI) to assist with the redevelopment 
of Space 2 (northern end) with work to commence in  
the second half of 2019.

Business Excellence, Strategy and Project Delivery
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Conyngham Street Depot 
redevelopment
Located in the heart of Glenside,  
the Conyngham Street Depot 
redevelopment will turn an 
underutilised storage depot into  
a multi-purpose facility that will 
greatly benefit Burnside’s 
community, especially its  
increasing ageing population.  
The redevelopment will deliver  
a brand new Men’s Shed,  
Biodiversity Conservation Nursery  
and Community Garden, as well  
as a reconfigured Council Depot, 
allowing these operations to  
continue in a more efficient and 
better designed space. Construction 
commenced in March 2019 with  
the Mayor and government 
representatives conducting a  
‘sod turning’ ceremony, with the  
new facilities scheduled to be 
officially opened in early 2020. 
Demolition, earthworks, soil 
remediation and subgrade works 
were completed in April 2019.  
The building footings and walls  
are nearing completion, coupled  
with several sections of new 
stormwater drainage. 

The design incorporates several 
environmentally sustainable 
principles such as permeable  
paving, two 3,000 litre tanks to 
capture rainwater for use onsite  
and a 10kw rooftop solar array.  
The new site will provide a vibrant 
community setting, with a  
variety of educational and 
intergenerational opportunities. 

The City of Burnside acknowledges 
the Lions Club of Glenside’s donation 
of $40,000 in the 2018/19 year with  
a commitment towards a further 
$40,000 in the following year.

Kensington Gardens Reserve Master Plan
Since the endorsement of the Kensington Gardens  
Reserve Master Plan, work has been underway to  
develop a detailed design for the revitalisation of the  
south east corner of the Reserve, followed by an updated 
cost assessment. This project, through a staged approach,  
will replace the unsafe and polluted artificial lake with  
a functional wetland to treat urban water pollution 
entering the creek system, as well as eight reconfigured 
tennis courts and nature play features, providing for an 
improved sport and recreational offering. Design work 
progressed in 2018/19 and is expected to be completed  
in late 2019. The East Torrens Kensington Gardens  
Tennis Club provided written support in February 2019  
for a configuration in line with the Council-endorsed 
Master Plan.

In addition to Federal Government funding  
Council was also successful in securing funding  
from the Natural Resources Management 2019/20  
Water Sustainability Grants scheme.

Magill Village Project
The redevelopment of Magill Road is a joint project 
between the City of Burnside and Campbelltown City 
Council to deliver a revitalised streetscape, expected  
to result in significant economic benefit to the area,  
with particular focus on the retail strip from the Tower 
Hotel to Carey Street. This project will deliver a vastly 
improved shopping and consumer experience, 
opportunities for vibrant street life, and a safer, more 
attractive environment for pedestrians and cyclists.  
Both Councils have been working with project partners, 
including DPTI, to develop the design, which is expected  
to be completed before the end of 2019. The two  
councils have also finalised an agreement with SA  
Power Networks in December 2018 to undertake  
powerlines undergrounding works along Magill Road. 
These works commenced in January 2019 are expected  
to be completed by the end of 2019. 

21 www.burnside.sa.gov.au



22 annual report | 2018/19



Wheel Park consultation  
and engagement 
Council gave further consideration to the potential of 
developing such a facility in early 2019. This followed  
a period of consultation with key representatives from 
skate, scooter, BMX, roller sports and the ‘Skate Park  
for Burnside’ group to establish their key criteria for a 
successful wheel park. In the first half of 2019 an  
extensive consultation process was carried out across  
the City for four potential sites – JB Ware Reserve, 
Kensington Gardens Reserve, Mellor Reserve and  
Penfold Park – with the goal of gauging community 
sentiment on potentially having such a facility at  
one of these locations.

Although conventional methods were utilised for  
this exercise, the Administration also undertook  
extensive face-to-face communication, including  
door knocking of residents and holding public forums  
on location, with a view to dispelling many of the 
common myths around wheel parks, while also 
identifying key genuine concerns. Promotion of the 
consultation occurred through social media, engage.
burnside, eNews, email banner, an advertisement in  
the Messenger East, and flyers. The Administration  
also met with key student representative groups from  
schools within the City of Burnside and facilitated,  
in the Council Chamber, interactive presentations  
from this cohort. The student survey aimed to  
determine the demand for a wheel park among  
the key age groups who use a wheel park  
(11 – 15 year olds), through examining current  
habits and expected use of a future facility, if built.  
In addition the Council has been involved in  
constructive discussions with neighbouring councils, 
demonstrating a collaborative and cross-sector  
approach to this project. Final results will be  
separated to distinguish between relevant groups  
(eg residents v non-residents) with a full report  
presented to Council in the second half of 2019. 

Participatory Budgeting and  
Place Making – involving our community  
at the heart of decision-making
In 2018/19 two pilot programs, funded through the 
2018/19 Annual Business Plan and Budget process,  
were promoted to the community which aimed to  
assist the public to identify what is important in  
their neighbourhood, while also enabling them to  
be involved in making a difference to their local area  
and decision-making and allow for improved social 
connectedness. This was the first year that both programs 
were initiated and have proved to be a beneficial trial  
and evidence base for consideration of future programs. 

The Your Neighbourhood Budget provided a total  
of $20,000 to spend on projects within the City of  
Burnside. Through an engagement process members  
of the community were able to nominate ideas that  
they were keen to see implemented in publicly  
accessible parks, streets or community centres. A voting 
process was then executed to determine the projects  
that received funding. A total of 226 people voted on  
10 eligible submissions which were installed for the 
betterment of the community, ranging from a verge 
community garden to improved drainage solutions  
at the Conyngham Street dog park. 

‘Fund My Place’ was a place-making project aiming  
to bring the community in unison to transform their  
local public spaces including streets, reserves, laneways  
and footpaths. Grants of up to $2,500 were offered in  
order to transform public spaces, and then encourage 
citizens to use their own time and skills to redevelop  
a space or run an event. There were a total of three 
successful applications which included guitar lessons, 
water colour painting classes and development of 
mindfulness postcards. 

All recipients were formally acknowledged at  
an inaugural awards ceremony presided by the  
Mayor in May 2019.
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Community Grants –  
supporting our local community
Once again Council was proud in 2018/19 to be  
able to provide grants to the local community to help  
fund community projects and events with the aim 
 of encouraging, developing and supporting programs, 
services, facilities and projects of a health, recreational, 
social, environmental and community development 
nature. All applications received were assessed against 
criteria which included benefit to the community,  
linkages to the adopted Connected Communities  
Strategy, and overall value. In May 2019 a total of 
$31,854 was endorsed for Mid-Level Grants for a total  
of seven organisations. A total of $18,624 was also 
endorsed for Minor Grants for a total of 14 organisations. 
Recipients included the Glenunga Tennis Club, SIDS  
and Kids, Eastwood Community Centre, Burnside  
Painting Group, Burnside Youth Concert Band, Dance  
for Parkinson’s, the Ladies Probus Club of Burnside  
and a variety of others.

Digital transformation –  
work orders project update
During 2018/19 the Work Order system stage 1 was 
further embedded into the everyday business of the 
Operations and Environment Group. To support this  
across organisational group was re-established to  
assist with working through and solving user and  
system opportunities and issues. This group worked its  
way through over 150 outstanding opportunities and 
issues to enhance the experience of the users and the 
system data being produced. In the latter part of the 
financial year stage 2 was commenced which focused  
on the introduction of proactive scheduling. Early 
indications are that the automatic scheduling of work  
in areas such as the Workshop and Parks teams will 
improve the planning and management of these 
maintenance and service functions. Looking ahead,  
the stage 2 rollout will continue into all Operations  
and Environment Group teams that run proactive  
services. Through the cross organisational group further 
opportunities for the use of Work Orders with other  
groups of Council will be investigated. A workshop for 
Elected Members has been scheduled in late 2019. Such 
projects allow residents and ratepayers to be provided  
with timely and user-friendly systems, allowing for a 
responsive and proactive interaction with Council. 
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LED lighting 
Following Council consideration  
in August 2019 the Light Emitting 
Diode (LED) upgrade project was 
completed in the 2018/19 financial 
year, seeing nearly 4,000 of City  
of Burnside’s street lights upgraded  
to energy efficient LEDs and reducing 
the overall carbon footprint. This 
project will result in significantly 
reduced energy consumption,  
saving around 10,000 tonnes of 
greenhouse emissions and an 
estimated $9 million over the life  
of these assets. In addition the 
community will benefit from 
improved lighting given the LEDs 
deliver consistent levels of light, 
minimise glare, are reliable  
and allow for improved safety at 
night for both pedestrians and 
motorists. The financial, safety and 
environmental savings and benefits 
are considerable. As an additional 
benefit this rollout has provided 
lighting that is ‘smart city mobilised’ 
for potential future applications. 

Connected Cities Project –  
a connected and smart City
The City of Burnside has partnered with the Cities  
of Campbelltown, Port Adelaide Enfield, Playford  
and Prospect along with the University of Adelaide  
to source federal grant funding from the Smart Cities  
and Suburbs Program for the Connected Cities Project. 
Connected Cities has used innovative smart city 
technology to implement a 12 month pilot project 
designed to confirm this technology’s capacity to provide 
businesses, community groups and Councils with usage 
data about their assets and locations that supports 
evidence-based decision-making.

Council is also a member of the Metropolitan Local 
Government Smart Cities Network (MLGSCN) which  
was formed to implement a Smart Cities Strategy. The 
Connected Cities Project is of considerable interest to  
the Network and is consistent with the sector-wide 
approach provided by the Strategy.

Each participating Council has its own sub-projects  
with the City of Burnside responsible for two – Magill 
Village and Tusmore Park. Seventeen car park sensors 
were installed in April 2019 at Tusmore Park. An online 
dashboard indicates car park occupancy in real time  
as well as usage rates over time for both disability and 
non-disability spots. Arrangements have also been  
made for the installation of sensors for the wading  
pool, barbeque’s, tennis courts, toilets and playground  
at Tusmore Park together with pedestrian counters at 
Magill Village in collaboration with the City of 
Campbelltown. Data collected and evaluated will  
support Council’s day-to-day asset maintenance and  
also asset management planning during the pilot.  
For example, bins can be proactively emptied when  
nearly full rather than reacting to complaints or  
fixed schedules, while patronage of the wading  
pool will be used to support future decisions around  
its potential upgrade or replacement in coming  
years. A major launch event for all Councils involved  
was held in July 2019.
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Environmental Sustainability  
and Waste Management 
In 2018/19 several significant events occurred which 
indirectly impacted the Kerbside Waste Collection  
Service for Council. These included the ongoing matter  
of ‘China Sword’ (a major reduction in acceptance  
of recyclable material by China), the Solid Waste Levy  
and entering into a new East Waste Recycling Contract 
with the Northern Adelaide Waste Management 
Authority. However, Council was still pleasingly able  
to make solid progress in this area with positive results 
relating to contamination, organics and mattress 
collection. Further details can be found in the  
East Waste Annual Report 2018/19 provided with  
this document. 

Compostable bags were provided to 3,146 households 
(around 20 per cent of households), a slight increase  
on the previous year (19 per cent) and new initiatives  
to promote and provide education on the use of green  
bins for kitchen organics will commence in the next 
financial year. 

The Administration also made submissions in response  
to consultation conducted by the State Government  
which included a discussion paper on a ban of  
single-use plastics and a consultation on ‘Improving  
South Australia’s Container Deposit Scheme’.

Regionally, the City of Burnside has continued to be  
a member of Resilient East, a partnership between  
state and local government organisations in eastern 
Adelaide. Recent achievements include development  
and release of an Urban Heat Map, along with a  
report on urban heat mapping that explains the work  
and discusses how councils might respond to urban  
heat risks. It addition membership has provided a 
platform to better engage with the State Government  
on planning policy reform and reforms in the  
Natural Resources Management area, such as  
the creation of the Green Adelaide Board. 

As a further initiative to mitigate environmental impact 
and be seen as a responsible corporate citizen, Council 
acquired two hybrid vehicles which commenced service  
in May 2019, replacing vehicles with conventional 
engines. In 2018/19 Council continued involvement in 
large-scale collaborative Water Sensitive Urban Design 
(WSUD) projects such as ERA Water and the Glenelg-
Adelaide recycled water scheme, coupled with extensive 
smaller-scale WSUD installations, including permeable 
paving footpaths and carpark areas, raingardens, 
stormwater infiltration systems for houses in verges 
(B-pods), and kerbside infiltration inlets for street trees 
(treenet inlets). The Capital Works Program for 2018/19 
included a number of projects involving application  
of WSUD treatments, with projects being selected in 
locations where they would provide a significant benefit 
and/or address a known issue. In the first half of 2019, 
Council revised its Verge Development Policy which 
promotes increased vegetation cover by supporting 
residents who wish to add vegetation to their verges and 
banning artificial turf (which increases urban heat and 
has a negative impact on the health of nearby trees by 
reducing the infiltration of water). The Hills Face Reserve 
Vegetation Management Plan was updated over the 
course of the year which guides future biodiversity and 
bushfire fuel management actions. 
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Progress continued to be made 
against Council’s Canopy Action  
Plan with key outcomes including 
promotion of the Urban Forest 
through the Urban Forest Interactive 
site, social media, public conference 
and seminar presentations, Urban 
Forestry Program and bespoke 
industry training. In addition a 
community volunteer Urban Forestry 
Program has been developed. 

As part of the implementation of 
actions arising from the Hazelwood 
Park Conservation and Management 
Plan, the Administration engaged 
Seed Consulting Services to undertake 
an assessment of trees within 
Hazelwood Park using the Zi-Tree Eco 
software. The purpose of this study 
was to commence valuing the 
benefits trees provide to the 
community and a report with 
comprehensive assessment was 
provided in August 2018.

A proposed framework and approach 
for the development of a revised 
Environment and Biodiversity 
Strategy (E&BS) for the City of 
Burnside was presented to Council in 
September 2018. The new E&BS will 
set the Council’s high-level priorities 
for the next four years in the delivery 
of ‘Our protected and valued 
environment’, Strategic Direction 2  
in the Strategic Community Plan.
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Commencing review of the  
Strategic Management Plan 
Preliminary work commenced in 2018/19 on the 
substantial task of reviewing Council’s Strategic 
Community Plan with early efforts focused on  
allowing Elected Members to provide direct input  
into shaping upfront the direction of the new Strategic 
Community Plan, informed by an evidence base and  
prior to any development of the Plan being undertaken  
by the Administration. This has included workshops  
with Elected Members and staff, with work commencing 
early in the 2019/20 financial year to start some initial 
collection of community input through the Annual 
Community Survey. The development of this document 
and significant engagement with our community will  
be a key priority in 2019/20 to ensure that the plan 
remains relevant to, and guides the City toward a  
future that reflects the community’s collective goals, 
visions and aspirations

Economic Development 
The green light to expand Burnside Village was  
given in April / May 2019 with development consent 
granted to enhance South Australia’s premier  
shopping destination with the addition of more  
fashion, homewares, entertainment and dining options. 
The proposed development includes world-class retail  
design together with opportunities to expand  
the renowned boutique retail offerings in the distinctive 
Burnside Village atmosphere. Development approval  
not only enables Burnside Village to maintain its  
position as a landmark asset, it will deliver broader 
economic benefits by injecting more than $297 million 
annually into the South Australian economy.

The General Manager Corporate and Development 
continued to represent Council on the Eastern Business 
Enterprise Centre Board. A major relaunch of this 
initiative was held in October 2019 and has been  
renamed Propel SA. A range of services are designed  
and offered to help local business succeed. The group can 
assist local businesses to grow by providing valuable low 
cost support to help achieve goals. Propel SA is proudly 
supported by the City of Burnside, Campbelltown City 
Council and the Town of Walkerville.

New opportunities continue to also be actively  
sourced for the Regal Theatre, including support and 
networking with relevant businesses. 

Public Health and Wellbeing
Council continues to be represented  
on the Eastern Health Authority 
(EHA) Board and was directly 
involved in the early stages of 
shaping the proposed ‘Better Living 
Better Health – Regional Health  
and Wellbeing Plan for the EHA 
Constituent Councils 2020-2025’.  
This document will serve as a refresh 
to the existing plan, last revised  
in 2015. The draft Regional Plan  
has been compiled as a more  
aspirational Plan which looks to 
promote an enhanced regional 
collaborative approach to public 
health and wellbeing. Significantly 
the new proposed Plan considered 
priority populations identified in 
South Australia’s State Public Health 
Plan 2019-2024 and addresses the 
State’s four focal strategic priorities:  
Promote, Protect, Prevent, and 
Progress. Consumers will be able to 
directly have input into the plan in 
the coming financial year. The City 
also continued to benefit from a 
robust and highly professional food 
safety and immunisation service. 
EHA’s accessible public immunisation 
clinics remain extremely popular 
with 5,712 clients being provided 
9,764 vaccines, an increase of  
38 per cent over the last two years.  
In addition, 8,500 vaccines were 
provided to students attending high 
schools located in the EHA’s region. 
This service was also promoted 
through various communication and  
marketing initiated by the Council. 
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ERA Water
The Eastern Region Alliance Water 
(ERA Water) project of stormwater 
harvesting for aquifer storage and 
recovery began irrigation of Council 
reserves in November 2018. Despite 
the performance of the project being 
constrained by the low rainfall of  
the winter of 2018, and the reduced 
injection capacity of the project, 
progress has continued to be made. 

During the year connections  
were completed to 14 reserves  
of the Constituent Councils –  
the Corporation of the Town of 
Walkerville, City of Burnside,  
and City of Norwood, Payneham  
& St Peters. Tenders have been  
sought for connections to a further  
30 reserves in the coming year.

The City of Burnside provided 
accounting and IT support  
during the year. Council also  
wishes to thank Mr Geoff Vogt  
for his services as independent 
member for Council on the Board.  
Mr Vogt will be replaced by  
Councillor Sarah Hughes in the 
2019/20 financial year.

Government Reform – shaping the future 
Planning Reforms 

The Administration has been in the process of  
preparing a detailed transition project plan in regards  
to the State Planning Reforms and in line with the  
phased implementation of the Planning, Development 
and Infrastructure Act 2016 (PDI Act) and in advance  
of the new Planning and Design Code being consulted  
on and activated. 

The Council provided submissions on the following papers 
released as part of the reform process in 2018/19:

• Planning and Design Code Discussion Paper

• Draft State Planning Policies for South Australia

• Integrated Movement Systems Policy Discussion Paper

• Natural Resources and Environment  
Policy Discussion Paper

• Productive Economy Discussion Paper

• Inquiry into heritage by the Environment Resources  
and Development Committee of Parliament

• Technical response to the Heritage Position Papers.

In addition, staff have continued to contribute  
towards responses made by the Local Government 
Association (LGA) SA in relation to heritage issues and  
the planning reforms generally. A key cornerstone of  
Council’s position has been the importance of advocating  
for heritage protection and education, highlighting 
important concerns and technical recommendations 
regarding the State Government’s approach to heritage 
policy, particularly in relation to existing Contributory 
Items within Historic Conservation Zones (HCZ). Issues  
of concern are wide and include, among other matters, 
suggested demolition criteria, non-identification of 
contributing items, insufficient consideration of the 
heritage inquiry and ambiguous information pertaining 
to demolition ‘control’. Council will continue to advocate 
to ensure a sustainable and appropriate balance between 
economic growth and the preservation of our valued 
environment, character and culture.
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The City of Burnside remains 
committed to recognising and 
celebrating the City’s rich history  
and heritage, to maintaining and 
enhancing its unique historic 
character and to ensuring its built 
and natural heritage and historic 
streetscapes, buildings and other 
assets are preserved, maintained  
and promoted for current and  
future generations. A new heritage 
policy was prepared towards the  
end of the 2018/19 financial year. 
This key document will assist in 
guiding decisions and actions  
within the City in order to support  
the conservation of the City’s built 
and natural heritage and strive to 
assist and educate property owners, 
community groups, industry and 
government in the management  
of built and natural heritage.

A proposal will also be prepared  
for consideration in late 2019 for  
a local Heritage Reference Group, 
allowing for expert input and 
community engagement. 

As part of these reforms the 
Administration have also  
been identifying opportunities  
to include suggested actions or  
policy considerations relating to 
climate change mitigation and 
environmental sustainability  
where relevant.

Local Government Reforms

In February 2019, the Premier and Minister for Minister  
for Transport, Infrastructure and Local Government,  
The Hon Stephan Knoll MP, held a round table discussion 
with 45 Mayors from across South Australia to discuss 
local government reform, particularly the review of the 
Local Government Act 1999 and related legislation. 
Following the roundtable meeting, in March 2019 the 
Minister for Local Government called for submissions  
and ideas on the four areas of local government reform 
being considered being: Stronger council member  
capacity and better conduct; Lower costs and enhanced 
financial accountability; Efficient and transparent local 
government representation and Simpler regulation. 

Council made a submission expressing its concerns 
relating to overall Elected Member Code of Conduct 
processes and governance, in conjunction with duties  
of Elected Members as articulated in legislation. If these 
duties are to genuinely be a general expectation of council 
members, there should be clear, appropriate, impartial 
and proportionate mechanisms for addressing council 
member actions that breach public expectations. Elected 
Members had the opportunity to make direct submissions 
on matters such as derelict and abandoned housing and 
suggestions to reduce the ‘red tape’ across the sector. 

This presents a unique opportunity for Council to 
communicate what changes it wants to see, what that 
change should look like and what reform of the Local 
Government Act 1999 should achieve for councils and their 
communities and provides an opportunity for local 
government sector to work with the State Government  
on meaningful reform that will benefit the community.

Following the consideration of all ideas, a detailed  
reform paper will be released by the State Government  
for consultation late 2019, enabling further discussion  
and consultation on proposals for reform before a  
Local Government Reform Amendment Bill is  
prepared for parliament in 2020.
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our structure

In addition, the Administration 
evaluates operational matters, 
considering comments on policies, 
strategies and services prior to their 
review and adoption by Council.

The City of Burnside has two  
General Managers led by a Chief 
Executive Officer who establishes  
and maintains the organisational 
structure of Council Administration. 

The Chief Executive Officer’s  
office deals with issues of strategic 
organisational significance and 
business planning, including Elected 
Member management, liaison and 
support, Council and Committee 
Governance, intergovernmental 
relations and Executive support.

The Council’s Administration is 
responsible for the coordination, 
implementation and management of 
Council decisions, services and activities in 
accordance with the City of Burnside’s 
Strategic Plan.

The General Managers  
lead two divisions of 
Administration:
• Corporate and Development 

• Urban and Community.

There were no additional  
allowances, bonus or benefits  
paid to senior executive officers.  
An option is provided to salary 
sacrifice superannuation or salary 
sacrifice towards a Council fleet 
vehicle or novated lease. 

Senior executive salary packages 
include the following benefits:

• Competitive salary

• Salary sacrifice towards  
a Council fleet vehicle or  
novated lease vehicle

• Employer-sponsored 
superannuation contributions

• Employee salary-sacrificed 
superannuation

• Tablet (IT).

All salary information is  
provided on Council’s website 
through a public salary register. 
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Council Members  
(as at 30 June 2019)

local government – your council

Council Process

The City of Burnside delivers a vast range of  
services and it is important that those services  
respond to the needs of the community. The  
Mayor and Elected Members act as the democratic  
link between the Council Administration and  
the community it serves, to make sure citizens’  
voices are heard.

All major policy decisions are made by Elected 
Members, who then delegate the day-to-day  
running of the Council to its Administration.  
It is the Administration’s job to turn the Elected 
Members’ decisions regarding the Council’s  
policies and priorities into action.

Composition of Council

The Council consists of the  
Principal Member (Mayor) and  
12 Ward Councillors. The City is  
made up of six Wards:
Beaumont, Burnside, Eastwood and Glenunga, 
Kensington Gardens and Magill, Kensington Park,  
and Rose Park and Toorak Gardens.

Each Ward is represented by two Councillors, with  
the Mayor elected by the entire City. The current 
Council was elected in November 2018. Council 
elections are held every four years.

Following the November 2018 Council elections 
Council farewelled Mayor David Parkin, Cr Mark 
Osterstock, Cr Di Wilkins, Cr Felicity Lord, Cr Graham 
Bills, Cr Lance Bagster and Cr Peter Ford and  
welcomed a new Mayor and 7 new councillors.

The Council meets at the Civic Centre on the  
second and fourth Tuesday of each month at 7 pm 
unless otherwise determined. The Council considers 
information, reports and recommendations which  
are prepared by the Administration to assist Council  
to make decisions on the budget, strategic planning, 
policies, and other civic matters. Members of the  
public are welcome to attend Council meetings.

Mayor Anne Monceaux

Beaumont Ward

Cr Paul Huebl Cr Harvey Jones

Burnside Ward

Cr Mike Daws Cr Jenny Turnbull
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Eastwood and Glenunga Ward

Cr Helga Lemon Cr Julian Carbone

Kensington Park Ward

Cr Sarah Hughes Cr Jane Davey

Kensington Gardens and Magill Ward

Cr Grant Piggott Cr Henry Davis

Rose Park and Toorak Gardens Ward

Cr Peter Cornish Cr Lilian Henschke

Agendas and 
Minutes

Agendas of Council and Committee 
meetings are placed on display in the 
Council office and in the Library no 
less than three clear days prior to the 
meetings. Minutes of the meetings are 
displayed in the Council office within 
five days after the meetings have 
taken place. Agendas and minutes are 
also available on the Burnside Council 
website at www.burnside.sa.gov.au 

Meetings are closed to the public  
only if a matter is considered in 
confidence under Section 90 of the 
Local Government Act 1999. 

For more details of Council meeting 
procedure refer to the ‘Code of 
Practice – Meeting Procedures’ and 
the ‘Code of Practice for Access to 
Meetings and Documents’.
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Elected Member and 
Independent Member 
Allowances

Elected Members receive an annual allowance to assist 
with expenses incurred undertaking their role in recognition 
of the role they perform. Councillors in charge of chairing 
a committee are paid an additional allowance. 

The rate of annual allowance for Elected Members was  
set by the Remuneration Tribunal of South Australia on  
30 August 2018 and is indexed every year in November 
(aside from an Election year). Members’ allowances  
are paid monthly in arrears. 

In addition, Elected Members have access to a computer 
and photocopier within the Civic Centre and are provided 
a tablet. The Mayor is provided with a mobile phone and  
a tablet. Council maintains a register of allowances which 
details the amounts and benefits paid to Elected Members. 
Elected Members can claim for reimbursement of further 
costs in accordance with Council’s Elected Members’ 
Allowances and Benefits Policy. 

Some Elected Members may receive additional  
allowances for chairing committees or sitting fees  
if they represent Council on external boards. 

The Council Assessment Panel (CAP) requires 
representation from Independent Members who receive  
an allowance for chairing the committee or a sitting  
fee. Independent Members of the Audit Committee  
receive an allowance for attending meetings, with the  
Chair receiving a distinct amount.
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Elected Members

CAP Council Total

Lance Bagster* $3588 $3588

Retired/not elected at November 2018 Elections 

Graham Bills $6326 $6326

Peter Ford $6326 $6326

Felicity Lord $6326 $6326

Mark Osterstock $6326 $6326

David Parkin $15676 $15676

Di Wilkins 1000 $6326 $7326

Re-elected at November 2018 Elections

Peter Cornish $15600 $15600

Jane Davey $15600 $15600

Henry Davis $15600 $15600

Helga Lemon $15600 $15600

Grant Piggott $15600 $15600

Anne Monceaux $42853 $42853

Elected at November 2018 Elections

Mike Daws $9085 $9085

Lilian Henschke 1200 $9085 $10285

Paul Huebl $9085 $9085

Sarah Hughes $9085 $9085

Jennifer Turnbull $9085 $9085

Julian Carbone $9085 $9085

Harvey Jones $9085 $9085

* resigned from Council 17/9/18

Independent Members

Audit CAP Total

Bill Chandler  $6000  $6000

Ross Bateup  $4400  $4400

Kate Shierlaw  $4400  $4400

Graeme Brown  $5000  $5000

Roberto Bria $1410  $1410

Stephen Coates (Gross) $1410  $1551

David Powell $2950  $2950
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Representation 
Review 

Council completed the Representation 
Review process in 2012/13 and the 
changes to the Ward boundaries took 
effect at the Council election in 
November 2014. 

Council’s representation is scheduled 
to be reviewed from June 2020 – June 
2021 with Council Elections to be  
held in November 2022. 

Representation Quota

Council’s representation quota is 
2,419 (the amount ascertained by 
dividing the number of electors for 
the area of the Council by the 
number of members who constitute 
the Council). Burnside is one of  
seven South Australian councils 
classified as Urban Development 
Medium (UDM). The average 
representation quota for this 
classification is 2,543.

Section 12 of the Local Government 
Act 1999 sets out the process that 
councils are required to follow when 
undertaking an elector representation 
review. The commencement of the 
review is triggered by the release of  
a Representation Options Paper 
which outlines the representation 
structures available. The Local 
Government Act 1999 sets out the 
requirements for conducting a  
review as well as setting timeframes 
to provide opportunity for members 
of the public to make submissions  

at key stages of the review. In 
undertaking the review, the  
Council must prepare a report on  
the public consultation undertaken 
and any proposal that the council 
considers should be carried into  
effect. A final report must be  
compiled that includes a summary  
of amendments resulting from  
any considerations in respect of  
the public consultation process,  
with the report then submitted  
to the Electoral Commissioner  
for certification. The Electoral 
Commissioner must determine 
whether the requirements of the 
review have been satisfied.

It is acknowledged that changes  
to the provisions in the Local 
Government Act 1999 that  
guide representation reviews may  
be considered within the local 
government reform process  
currently underway and  
highlighted in this report. 
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Clare & Gilbert Valleys 6687 10 668 M 0 0 RAL

Coorong 3754 9 417 C 3 0 RAL

Grant 5458 10 545 M 3 0 RAL

Adelaide Plains 5975 10 597 M 3 0 RAL

Mid Murray 6442 10 644 M 3 0 RAL

Naracoorte Lucindale 5830 11 530 M 0 0 RAL

Northern Areas 3382 9 375 C 4 0 RAM

Renmark Paringa 6462 9 718 M 0 0 RAL

Tatiara 4513 10 451 M 0 0 RAL

Wakefield Regional 4765 10 476 M 3 0 RAL

Barunga West 1979 9 219 C 0 0 RAM

Ceduna 2052 9 228 M 0 0 RAM

Goyder 3024 7 432 C 4 0 RAM

Kangaroo Island 3471 10 347 M 0 0 RAM

Kingston 1821 8 227 M 0 0 RAM

Lower Eyre Peninsula 3694 7 527 C 0 0 RAL

Mount Remarkable 2125 7 303 C 2 0 RAM

Peterborough 1210 9 134 M 0 0 RAS

Southern Mallee 1321 7 188 C 0 0 RAM

Tumby Bay 1985 7 283 M 0 0 RAM

Yankallilla 4203 9 467 C 2 0 RAM

Cleve 1232 7 176 C 0 0 RAS

Elliston 715 8 89 C 0 0 RAS

Flinders Rangers 1169 9 129 M 0 0 RAS

Franklin Harbour 893 6 148 C 0 0 RAS

Karoonda East Murray 741 7 105 M 0 0 RAS

Kimba 799 7 114 C 0 0 RAS

Orroroo Carrieton 674 6 112 C 0 0 RAS

Robe 1203 7 171 M 0 0 RAS

Streaky Bay 1558 8 194 C 2 0 RAM

Wudinna 837 7 119 C 0 0 RAS
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Alexandrina 20350 12 1695 M 5 0 UFS

Barossa Council 17600 12 1466 M 0 0 UFS

Berri Barmera 7307 9 811 M 0 0 RAV

Copper Coast 11226 10 1122 M 0 0 RAV

Light regional 10316 11 937 M 4 0 RAV

Loxton Waikerie 8158 11 741 M 0 0 RAV

Murray Bridge 14334 10 1433 M 0 0 URS

Port Pirie 12790 10 1279 M 0 0 RAV

Victor Harbour 12313 10 1231 M 0 0 URS

Wattle Range 8444 12 703 M 4 0 RAV

Yorke Peninsula 8770 12 730 M 3 0 RAV

Adelaide 26679 12 2223 M 3 4 UCC

Charles Sturt 84425 17 4966 M 8 0 UDL

Marion 64219 13 4939 M 6 0 UDL

Port Adelaide Enfield 83240 18 4624 M 7 0 UDL

Salisbury 94017 15 6267 M 7 0 UDV

Tea Tree Gully 72663 13 5589 M 6 0 UDL

Burnside 31453 13 2419 M 6 0 UDM
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Council Meetings  
held in confidence

The Council holds regular meetings throughout the year 
and some matters, due to their nature, may be closed to 
the public and considered in confidence pursuant to 
section 90(2) of the Local Government Act 1999. In some 
instances, Council may also make an order pursuant to 
section 91(7) to retain information in confidence. 

During 2018/19, 23 instances occurred where a Committee 
or Council were satisfied it was necessary to exclude the 
public and consider items in confidence.

Meeting Subject
Provision  
of s90(3)

Order Scope 91(7) Items Released

24/07/2018 
Council

Appointment of Members  
to the Brown Hill and  
Keswick Creeks  
Stormwater Subsidiary  
(Operational) (18.2)

90(3)(a) Attachments A  
– Expressions of Interest/
CV’s of preferred 
Candidates for 
appointment

Report, minutes

24/07/2018 
Council

Council Resolutions  
C11055, C11112, C11200  
– Continuation of 
Correspondence Protocol 
(Operational) (18.1)

90(3)(g) Report, minutes

30/07/2018 
CEO Ctee

Chief Executive Officer  
360 Review  
(Non-Elected Member)  
for 2017/2018 – Final

90(3)(a) Attachment A 
– Richard Altman 
Consulting Report 
– City of Burnside 
Chief Executive 
Officer – 2017/18 
Performance Review 
Report (360 degree) 
July 2018 and 
minutes
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28/08/2018 
Council

Investigation Pursuant To 
Referral Under Section 24  
(2)(A) Of The Independent 
Commissioner Against 
Corruption Act 2012  
– District Court Action 
DCCIV-18-498 – Settlement 
Proposal (Operational) (18.1)

90(3)(h) Report,  
Attachment F and H,  
audio recording

Attachment A - Correspondence from 
Mr Bagster dated 19 February 2018

Attachment B - Correspondence from 
Ombudsman SA dated 27 March 2018

Attachment C - Correspondence from 
the Administration to Cr Bagster dated 
16 April 2018

Attachment D - Apology received  
from Cr Bagster dated 22 April 2018

Attachment E - Settlement proposal 
from Cr Bagster dated 10 July 2018

Attachment G - Apology received  
from Cr Bagster dated 9 August 2018

Attachment I - Settlement proposal 
received from Cr Bagster dated  
15 August 2018

Attachment J - Correspondence from 
Ombudsman SA dated 21 August 2018

Minutes

28/08/2018 
Council

Proposal for Ongoing 
Management of the  
Regal Theatre  
(Operational) (18.2)

90(3)(d); 
90(3)(g)

Report, Attachment 
B – Galpins Report 
– Responses and 
submissions to the 
independent EoI 
process

Attachment A –  
Location Plan, minutes

11/09/2018 
Council

Chief Executive Officer 
Performance Review  
and Remuneration  
Review 2017/2018

90(3)(a) Report, Attachment 
and audio recording

Minutes

11/09/2018 
Council

Legal Advice on Remaking  
of Confidential Order for 
Confidential Topic 41.1 – 
Performance of the 
Independent Auditor

90(3)(h) Report, Attachment 
A and audio 
recording

Attachment B – Register  
of Confidential Items as at  
31 August 2018, minutes

16/02/2019 
Council

Complaint 90(3)(a) Minutes, documents 
and audio recording

Meeting Subject
Provision  
of s90(3)

Order Scope 91(7) Items Released
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20/02/2019 
Council

Receipt of Legal Advice  
in Respect to Complaint

90(3)(a) 

90(3)(h)

Minutes, documents 
and audio recording

13/03/2019 
CEO Ctee

Appointment of Performance 
Appraisal and Remuneration 
Advisor (6.1)

90(3)(d)

90(3)(k)

Report, 
Attachments, 
minutes

14/03/2019 
Council

Receipt of Legal Advice (5.1) 90(3)(a)

90(3)(h)

Minutes documents 
and audio recording

14/03/2019 
Council

Receipt of Legal Advice 90(3)(a)

90(3)(h)

Minutes, documents 
audio recording

14/03/2019 
Council

Receipt of Legal Advice 90(3)(a)

90(3)(h)

Minutes, documents 
and audio recording

30/04/2019 
Council

East Waste  
Recycling Contract

90(3)(d)

90(3)(k)

Report, 
Attachments, 
minutes and audio 
recording

11/06/2019 
Council

Ongoing Complaint 90(3)(h)

90(3)(i)

Minutes and 
documents

20/06/2019 
CEO Ctee

Recruitment and Selection  
of Acting Chief Executive 
Officer (short term / locum 
arrangement)

90(3)(a) Minutes and 
documents

20/06/2019 
CEO Ctee

Acting Chief Executive  
Officer (current arrangement) 
Remuneration

90(3)(a) Minutes and 
documents

20/06/2019 
CEO Ctee

Recruitment and Selection  
of Chief Executive Officer 
(long term)

90(3)(k) Minutes and 
documents

Meeting Subject
Provision  
of s90(3)

Order Scope 91(7) Items Released
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During 2018/19, 57 of the orders 
expired or were revoked during  
the annual review of confidential 
items. The remaining orders will be 
reviewed internally twice each year 
and should it be deemed appropriate, 
the orders will be revoked.

25/06/2019 
Council

Council Member Code  
of Conduct Complaint  
(COCC 19 – 1) (19.1)

90(3)(a) Report,  
Attachment C, 
minutes, audio 
recording

Attachment A – Council Member 
Code of Conduct

Attachment B – Council Member 
Code of Conduct Complaint Handling 
Procedure

15/07/2019 
CEO Ctee

Action Items Table (6.1) 90(3)(a)

90(3)(b)

Report, Attachment 
A, minutes released

Minutes not retained in 
confidence by the CEO Committee

15/07/2019 
CEO Ctee

Report on Procurement 
Process for the Recruitment  
of a Chief Executive Officer 
for the City of Burnside (6.3)

90(3)(k) Report, Attachment 
A, Attachment B, 
Attachment C, 
minutes

20/07/2019 
Council

Proposed Plan and Timetable 
for Recruitment and Selection 
of Chief Executive Officer and 
Minutes of the CEO 
Recruitment, Performance 
Appraisal and Remuneration 
Review Committee  
– 15 July 2019 (19.2)

90(3)(k) Report, Attachment 
A, Attachment B, 
minutes

23/07/2019 
Council

External Audit Appointment 
(19.1)

90(3)(d)

90(3)(k)

Report and 
Attachments

Meeting Subject
Provision  
of s90(3)

Order Scope 91(7) Items Released

The total number of items  
remaining in confidence under 
section 91(7) of the Local Government 
Act 1999 as of 30 June 2019 stands 
at 126, excluding any orders made 
before 15 November 2010.

The full register of all items retained in  
confidence is published on council’s website.
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Requests for information 
that are not generally 
readily available to the 
public will be considered  
in accordance with the 
Freedom of Information  
Act 1991. 

Freedom of Information 

Under this legislation the application fee must be 
forwarded with the completed request form unless  
the applicant is granted a fee exemption. The fees are  
set by the State Government and are reviewed each year. 
Members of the public may apply under Freedom of 
Information (FOI) for access to the Council’s documents 
concerning his or her personal affairs and for  
amendment of those records. The application form  
can be obtained from the Council office or downloaded 
from the Council’s website. 

FOI request forms and a list of fees and charges  
applicable to requests are available from the Council  
office and website. Freedom of Information enquiries  
and requests should be addressed to:  
 
Freedom of Information Officer,  
City of Burnside, PO Box 9, Glenside SA 5065. 

Applicants will receive a response as soon as possible  
and within the statutory 30 calendar days of Council 
receiving the properly completed FOI request form  
together with the application and search fees. 

During 2018/19 Council processed 17 Freedom of 
Information requests and provided its annual  
return to State Records.
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council and committee 
meeting attendance

A total of 28 Council meetings were held  
in 2018/19 which comprised of 6 Special  
Meetings and 22 Ordinary Meetings. 

1 June 2018  – 16 November 2018  
(end of caretaker period)
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Mayor Parkin ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ 8

Cr Bills ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ LOA LOA LOA ⚫ 5

Cr Cornish ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ 8

Cr Davey ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ 8

Cr Davis ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ A ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ 7

Cr Ford ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ 8

Cr Lemon ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ 8

Cr Lord ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ A ⚫ A ⚫ 6

Cr Monceaux ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ 8

Cr Osterstock ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ A ⚫ A ⚫ ⚫ 6

Cr Piggott ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ A 7

Cr Wilkins ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ 8

Cr Bagster 0
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Audit Committee
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David Powell –  
Presiding Member

⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫

Roberto Bria ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫

Stephen Coats ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫

Mayor Parkin ⚫ ⚫

Cr Henry Davis A A

Mayor Monceaux ⚫ *

Cr Lilian Henschke ⚫ ⚫

20 November 2018  – 30 June 2019
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Mayor 
Monceaux

⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ A ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ 19

Cr Carbone ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ A ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ 19

Cr Cornish ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ LOA ⚫ LOA ⚫ ⚫ A ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ 17

Cr Davey ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ A ⚫ A ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ 18

Cr Davis ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ 20

Cr Daws ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ 20

Cr Henschke ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ A ⚫ A ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ 18

Cr Huebl ⚫ LOA ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ A ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ 18

Cr Hughes ⚫ A ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ 19

Cr Jones ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ A ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ 19

Cr Lemon ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ A ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ 19

Cr Piggott ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ A ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ 19

Cr Turnbull ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ LOA ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ 19

CEO Recruitment, Performance Appraisal 
and Remuneration Review Committee

A: Absent  LOA: Leave of Absence

* Cr Harvey Jones Proxy for Mayor
The Audit Committee met five times in 2018/19.

The CEO Recruitment, Performance Appraisal and Remuneration 
Review Committee met seven times in 2018/19.
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Mayor Parkin ⚫ ⚫ ⚫

Cr Peter Cornish ⚫ ⚫ ⚫

Cr Helga Lemon ⚫ ⚫ ⚫

Cr Grant Piggott ⚫ ⚫ A

Mayor Monceaux ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫

Cr Peter Cornish LOA ⚫ ⚫ ⚫

Cr Mike Daws ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫

Cr Helga Lemon ⚫ ⚫ ⚫ ⚫
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council committees

Council Committees are created under 
Section 41 of the Local Government Act, 
1999, with the exception of the Council 
Assessment Panel (formerly the 
Development Assessment Panel) which  
is established under Section 56 A of the 
Development Act, 1993 and the Strategic 
Planning and Development Policy 
Committee established under S101A of  
the Development Act, 1993.

Council may establish 
committees to:
• Assist the Council in the 

performance of its functions.

• Inquire into, and report  
to the Council on, matters  
within the ambit of the  
Council’s responsibilities.

• Provide advice to the Council.

• Exercise, perform or  
discharge delegated powers, 
functions or duties.

When establishing a committee, 
Council must determine the reporting 
and accountability requirements  
for the committee. Committees  
that are performing a regulatory 
activity of the Council must report  
to the Council on its activities  
every quarter. Members of the  
public are welcome to attend 
committee meetings.

The Audit Committee meets at  
least five times a year in the  
Council Chamber. In 2018/19,  
the Audit Committee comprised  
of two Elected Members of Council 
(including the Mayor) and three 
Independent members.

The CEO Recruitment, Performance 
Appraisal and Remuneration Review 
Committee meets as needed in the 
Executive Boardroom or Chamber.  
Its role is to perform the function of  
a selection panel for the position of 
Chief Executive Officer, to monitor 
the performance of the appointee and 
review conditions of remuneration 
and employment on an annual basis.
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The Council Assessment Panel (CAP)  – formerly the 
Development Assessment Panel (DAP)  – meets in the 
Council Chamber on the first Tuesday of each month  
at 6 pm. The CAP is comprised of the Presiding Member, 
three Independent Members and one Elected Member. 
The CAP is established under Section 56A of the 
Development Act, 1993, for the purpose of considering 
and making decisions on certain types of development 
applications. In accordance with the Development Act, 
1993, the Presiding Member of CAP must not be an 
Elected Member or Council officer. 

Under section 34(23) of the Development Act, 1993  
“a council must delegate its powers and functions  
as a relevant authority with respect to determining 
whether or not to grant development plan consent 
under this Act to its council development assessment 
panel; or a person for the time being occupying a 
particular office or position (but not including a person 
who is a member of the council).” The Development 
Delegations Policy defines which applications will be 
referred to the CAP.

The Council Assessment Panel makes decisions on 
development applications in accordance with the 
requirements of the Development Act, 1993. It provides 
advice to Council about trends, issues and any other 
matters that may relate to the applications.
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• Local Government  
Association Delegate – ToC

• Local Government Finance 
Authority Delegate – ToC

• National General Assembly (NGA) 
of Local Government and Local 
Government Managers Australia 
Conference Delegate – ToC

• Eastern Region  
Alliance Representative

Mayor David Parkin

council representation  
on boards and committees

Cr Peter Cornish

• Eastern Waste Management 
Authority Deputy 1 July 2018  
– 16 November 2018

• Eastern Health Authority 
1 July 2018 – 30 July 2019

• Local Government  
Association Delegate – ToC

• Local Government Finance 
Authority Delegate – ToC

• National General Assembly (NGA) 
of Local Government and Local 
Government Managers Australia 
Conference Delegate – ToC

• Eastern Region  
Alliance Representative

• Eastern Health Authority 
1 July 2018 – 16 November 2018

• Burnside Retirement Services 
(until May 2019)

Mayor Anne Monceaux

• Highbury Landfill Authority (HLA) 
and HLA Audit Committee

• Eastern Region  
Alliance Representative

• Brown Hill Keswick Creek 
Stormwater Project  
Steering Group Representative

Chief Executive Officer

Cr Mark Osterstock

• Burnside War Memorial Hospital 
1 July 2018 – 16 November 2018

• Burnside Retirement Services 
1 July 2018 – 16 November 2018
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NB: 16 November 2018 – official 
conclusion of caretaker period  
ToC: Term of Council

• General Manager  
Corporate & Development

Eastside Business  
Enterprise Centre (EBEC)

• Team Leader Ranger Services

Adelaide Mt Lofty  
Ranges Bushfire 

Management Committee

• Group Manager City Development 
and Safety – Board Member

• General Manager Corporate and 
Development – Deputy Board 
Member for Group Manager 

Eastern Health Authority

Cr Grant Piggott

• Eastern Waste Management 
Authority Director 1 July 2018  
– 16 November 2018

Cr Jane Davey

• Burnside War Memorial Hospital 
1 July 2018 – 16 November 2018

• East Waste Management Authority 
27 November 2018 – 30 July 2019

Cr Julian Carbone

• Burnside War Memorial Hospital 
1 July 2018 – 16 November 2018

Cr Henry Davis

• Eastern Health Authority 
27 November 2018 – 30 July 2019

Cr Peter Huebl

• Burnside Retirement Services  
1 July 2018 – 16 November 2018

Cr Di Wilkins

• Mr Geoff Vogt – Independent 
Member for the City of Burnside

ERA Water
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elected member  
training and development

Date Name of Training/Workshop

28.08.2018 Caretaker Period Training

22.11.2018 Mandatory Training – Council and Committees  
Meetings facilitated by Kelledy Jones Lawyers

26.11.2018 Mandatory Training – Legal Responsibilities  
facilitated by Norman Waterhouse

11.12.2018 Professional Relationships (including Bullying and Harassment)

22.01.2019 Mandatory Training – Financial management and  
reporting training facilitated by Norman Waterhouse

9.05.2019 Mandatory Training – Introduction to LG and LG 
 fundamentals – Norman Waterhouse Lawyers

21.05.2019 Development 101  – An Introduction

30.05.2019 Development Part 2

25.07.2018 Confidential Briefing

14.08.2018 Introduction of the new Independent Chair of  
the ERA Water Board

6.09.2018 Candidate Briefing Session

11.09.2018 Burnside War Memorial Hospital Constitution Matters

29.01.2019 Budget and Finance – Plan and cycle for 19/20

12.02.2019 Burnside Village Development Progress and Update

16.02.2019 EM Induction Day – Subsidiaries

25.02.2019 Magill Village Master Plan and Development  
– Project Update

19.03.2019 Budget Workshop 1 and 2 Combined –  
2019/2020 Annual Business Plan and Budget

28.03.2019 ERA Water – facilitated by ERA Water Board Chair

30.03.2019 Future Directions Forum

4.04.2019 ERA Water and Budge

16.05.2019 Street Verge Maintenance Program Service Review

13.06.2019 Budget Workshop 3

20.06.2019 Environment and Biodiversity Strategy

27.06.2019 Laurel Avenue Nursery

The City of Burnside is committed  
to providing training and 
development for Elected Members. 

It assists Council in remaining 
compliant with all relevant 
legislation, standards and codes.  
To broaden their knowledge and 
skills, Elected Members can attend 
training sessions, workshops and 
conferences throughout the year.

In 2018/19, Elected 
Members were invited  
to workshops / training 
sessions, noting that  
four of these are  
mandatory training 
modules, prescribed  
by legislation, following  
the 2018 Elections.
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Specific Elected Member 
Training and Travel

Elected Member Name of Training/Course Cost (approximate) Inc. GST

Mayor Anne Monceaux Mayors’ and Chairpersons’ Leadership Program $605

Mayor Anne Monceaux National General Assembly of Local Government  
Official delegate of Council 

$2,500 (includes travel related  
costs and registration)

Mayor Anne Monceaux Planning Institute of Australia – State Planning Conference $460

Mayor Anne Monceaux Local Government Association Ordinary General Meeting 
(represented by Councillor Cornish)

$350

Councillors Henschke  
and Jones

Audit Committee Training provided by Local  
Government Association

$360 each
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reporting

Representation Quota

Council’s representation quota is 2,447 (the amount 
ascertained by dividing the number of electors for the 
area of the Council by the number of members who 
constitute the Council). Burnside is one of seven South 
Australian councils classified as Urban Development 
Medium (UDM). The average representation quota  
for this classification is 2,562.

Tenders and contracts

Council’s Procurement Policy ensures that all  
procurement activities are underpinned by  
the following key governance principles:

• Value for money

• Transparent and fair competition 

• Ethical behaviour and probity

• Risk management 

• Financial responsibility 

• Compliance with statutory obligations

• Social, economic and environmental sustainability. 

Significant  
business activity

There was no significant business 
activity recorded for the 2018/19 
financial year.

National 
Competition Policy

Principles of competitive neutrality 
are designed to neutralise any 
net competitive advantage that a 
government or local government 
agency engaged in significant 
business activities would otherwise 
have, by virtue of its control by the 
government or local government, 
over private business operating in  
the same market.

Council has a complaints mechanism 
in place and in 2018/19 no 
complaints were received with  
regard to Competitive Neutrality.

Internal review

A person who may be aggrieved by a Council decision 
can request an internal review of the decision in 
accordance with Section 270 of the Local Government  
Act 1999. There was one application for internal reviews 
during the year as outlined below. 

During 2018/19 financial year two requests for reviews 
received in the 2017/18 financial year were resolved and 
one new application for an internal review was received. 
This year the majority of the applications received 
requesting an internal review of a Council decision were 
outside the scope of the Section 270 review process as 
alternative statutory review processes were available to 
applicants to request a review or challenge a decision. 
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List of Mandatory Policies, 
Codes, Procedures and Registers 
(Local Government Act 1999)

Policies
• Public Consultation Policy  

(Community Engagement) 

• Complaint Handling 

• Elected Members’ Allowances and Benefits 

• Elected Members’ Training  
and Development 

• Naming of Public Places 

• Order Making

• Procurement Governance  
Framework and Policy

• Tenders and Contract Engagement 

• Request for Service 

• Risk Management 

• Whistleblower Protection 

• Prudential Project Management 

• Informal Gatherings

• Internal Financial Control Framework.

Codes
• Code of Conduct – Council Members

• Code of Conduct – Council Employees 

• Code of Practice – Meetings and 
Documents – Access and Procedures. 

Procedures 
• Internal Review of Council Decisions 

(Section 270) Procedure 

• Council Member Code of Conduct 
Complaint Handling Procedure 

• Request for Service Procedure. 

Local Government  
(Elections) Act 1999
• Caretaker Policy

• Register of Campaign  
Donations Returns.
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Registers 
• By-laws

• Community Land

• Delegations

• Fees and Charges (list of) 

• Public Roads

• Rates Assessment Record

• Register of Interests 
 – Elected Members, Audit Committee  
and DAP Independent Members

• Register of Allowances and Benefits – 
Elected Members

• Register of Remuneration, Salaries  
and Benefits – Employees

• Register of Interests – Employees

• Conflicts of Interest Register

• Register of Gifts and Benefits for  
Council Members

• Register of Gifts and Benefits for 
Employees, Staff and Associates.

By-laws currently gazetted
The City of Burnside’s by-laws were gazetted  
in the SA Gazette on 6 September 2018 and 
these came into effect on 2 January 2019. 
Council’s by-laws are:

• Permits and Penalties

• Moveable Signs

• Local Government Land

• Roads

• Dogs

• Waste Management

• Lodging Houses.

These by-laws expire in 2026.
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22

COLLECTED

KERBSIDE TONNES

A TOTAL OF 105,328
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As such, East Waste continues to show leadership 
in shaping the future of the sector in a range of 
areas. Throughout this Report, (and East Waste’s 
General Manager Rob Gregory’s Report), we will 
highlight what East Waste is doing to reduce 
material going to landfill and how we are doing it.

In my last year as Chairperson of East Waste, it is 
my pleasure to be able to bring to your attention 
the accomplishments of East Waste in this 
Report for the 2018/19 financial year.

Education and Behaviour Change Initiatives

East Waste’s on-going “Why waste it?” education 
campaign continues to build on its success of 
recent years. As part of East Waste’s education 
focus, stakeholders and residents may be aware 
of East Waste’s whichbin.com.au website,  
which provides a detailed A-Z guide, assisting  
the community in knowing what items go in 
‘which bin’ and how to divert many resources 
from going to landfill.

The success of this A-Z guide has garnered 
considerable interest, which prompted the  

South Australian Government to approach  
East Waste seeking to take over the ownership 
of the website and A-Z guide, with the intention 
of targeting residents and providing consistent 
information to all South Australians. 

The East Waste Board were more 
than happy to hand over the  
whichbin.com.au website and  
A-Z guide to the State Government, 
as it was seen as a positive step 
forward in providing a consistent 
education recycling message to  
all South Australian’s. 

The State Government’s whichbin.
com.au website can be found at: 
whichbin.sa.gov.au

Strategic Focus

The 2018/19 Financial Year has seen East Waste 
review its 10 Year Business Plan. East Waste has 
consulted with its Member Councils, its Board, 
staff and industry experts to assist in shaping  
and identifying its future strategic direction. 

The public interest and momentum within the resource recovery industry continues and 
from an environmental and cost perspective, responsible organisations are strongly focused 
on recovering kerbside materials that can be recycled and re-purposed, and diverting any 
collected materials from going to landfill.

Mr Brian Cunningham 
Independent  Chairperson

EASTERN WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY  A N N UA L  R E P O RT  2018-2019

REPORT

CHAIRPERSON’S
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The focus of this plan, and one that is supported 
by the abovementioned stakeholders, is the 
identification of residential/community behaviour 
change initiatives that will result in the reduction 
of materials/resources going to landfill. 

Of particularly focus within the strategic 
direction, is identifying and putting into practice 
tangible plans that will get food scraps out of the 
kerbside general waste bins and into the green 
organics bin, whereby it can be processed into 
organic products such as compost and mulch. 
I look forward to the endorsed Strategic Plan 
being released in the 2019/20 Financial Year  
and guiding the Organisations exciting future.

Financial Performance

I am pleased to be able to report that East Waste 
has delivered an operating surplus of $136,000 for 
the 2018/19 Financial Year. In a year that has seen 
ever increasing fuel prices, this is an outstanding 
result and is a testament to the robust financial 
policies, practices and governance arrangements 
East Waste has established to ensure strict 
management of its annual budgets. 

Well done to East Waste’s Board, Audit and Risk 
Management Committee and Executive Staff 
for overseeing a positive result for East Waste’s 
Member Councils.

Thank you, and farewell

My tenure as Chairperson of East Waste has 
come to its conclusion, therefore this is my last 
East Waste Annual Report. Having been initially 
appointed as Chairperson in 2013, I have been 
privileged to be able occupy this position for the 
past six (6) years.

In this time, the East Waste Board has overseen 
significant positive change across its entire 

business and service delivery to its Member 
Councils. The maturity and growth of East 
Waste as an organisation and industry advocacy 
leader has been extremely satisfying, and I am 
genuinely proud of who East Waste is today.

I would like to thank the East Waste Board and 
Audit and Risk Management Committee for 
their continued commitment to deliver strong 
leadership and positives outcomes for East Waste 
during my tenure. 

EASTERN WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY  A N N UA L  R E P O RT  2018-2019

CHAIRPERSON’S REPORT
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Both the Board and Committee members were 
always collegial in their approach and put the 
interests of East Waste before anything else. This 
approach, and the conduct of all members, has 
put East Waste in the position it is in today.

To East Waste Member Councils, thank you for 
your support and leadership in working with 
East Waste to deliver its vision of growth and 
improvement. It has been a pleasure to oversee 
the delivery of service to all Member Councils.

To East Waste’s General Manager, Mr Rob 
Gregory, thank you for your leadership of the  

East Waste staff and your unwavering work ethic 
to see East Waste continue to provide leadership 
within the waste/resource recovery industry. 

As I depart, I am confident in the future of the 
East Waste business under Rob’s leadership.  
I look forward to watching East Waste’s journey 
from afar.

I commend the 2018/19 East Waste Annual 
Report to you.

Brian Cunningham 
Independent Chairperson

EASTERN WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY  A N N UA L  R E P O RT  2018-2019

CHAIRPERSON’S REPORT

Can you make a difference?

Solutions for Waste Forum

City of Prospect 
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Australia’s Recycling industry continued to be 
impacted by the China Sword decision and flow-
on affects throughout the 2018/19 Financial Year. 
East Waste has not been immune to the impacts, 
however, later in my report I will highlight 
East Waste’s leadership and response to the 
disruption to the recycling industry.

I provide the following highlights to you:

Farewell to East Waste’s Chairperson

Those that know about East Waste will be 
aware that Mr Brian Cunningham has been the 
Independent Chairperson for the past 6 years. 
Brian’s tenure as Chairperson of East Waste has 
now concluded, and I would like to take this 
opportunity to express our (East Waste and its 
Member Councils) enormous gratitude to Brian.

Brian’s tenure can only be described as highly 
successful. Brian has provided strong leadership 
to not only the Board but also to East Waste 
staff during his time. Brian’s extensive leadership 
experience, network and capabilities genuinely 
shaped East Waste into the strong, mature 
business that we see today. 

For all his success, whether in business or on 
the football field, Brian is a truly humble and 
respectful person who showed genuine care and 
belief in the Board, Committee’s, staff, Member 
Councils and all other stakeholders. East Waste 
will truly miss Brian’s contribution to East Waste 
and we wish him well for the future.

Turning a challenge into  
an opportunity

East Waste collects approximately 
23,000 tonnes of kerbside (yellow 
bin) recyclables on behalf of 
its seven (7) Member Councils 
annually and holds the head 
contract on behalf of all Member 
Councils for the disposal of the 
collected recyclables. 

The impacts of the world-wide 
recycling challenges resulted in 
East Waste having to undertake a procurement 
process with the intention of entering into 
a contract for the receipt and processing of 
recyclables.

My Report in the 2017/18 East Waste Annual Report referred to the busy year that was 
2017/18. The 2018/19 Financial Year has been no different, with considerable interest and focus 
on the waste/resource recovery industry and the local government/subsidiary environment. 

Mr Rob Gregory 
General Manager  

EASTERN WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY  A N N UA L  R E P O RT  2018-2019

REPORT

GENERAL MANAGER’S
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East Waste and its Member Councils entered 
into this process with a clear edict that any 
potential contractor would need to demonstrate 
transparency in how collected materials are 
processed and where they end up, on-shore 
processing where possible, commitment to a 
circular economy and a risk share approach to 
the management of the contract. 

I am pleased to report, that after a robust process, 
the Board and all Member Councils resolved to 
enter into a contract with the Northern Adelaide 
Waste Management Authority (NAWMA) for the 
receipt and processing of recyclables. NAWMA 
holds a clear vision for the on-shore processing of 
the materials they receive, and they have a strong 
commitment to a circular economy here in South 
Australia.

The contract entered into is a first in Australia for 
its type and I look forward to the partnership with 
NAWMA.

Education 

East Waste has operated in various iterations 
for over 90 years, principally in waste logistics, 
but is now evolving from predominately waste 

collection to ‘resource managers and educators’ 
on behalf of our Member Councils. East Waste 
has in recent years been industry leaders in the 
waste education space thanks to passionate staff 
and as detailed in the Chairman’s report resulted 
in the State Government taking ownership of 
our highly successful WhichBin? Branding for 
a statewide rollout. East Waste will continue 
delivering waste education as we seek to go an 
important step further and influence meaningful 
behaviour change practices. 

East Waste were instrumental in working 
with the Local Government Association to 
expand the delivery of waste education and 
messaging via the My Local Services App across 
all South Australian Councils. If you haven’t yet 
downloaded the free App I strongly encourage 
you to do so, so that you never miss bin night and 
you receive important waste disposal reminders 
at the same time. 

Safety & Wellbeing

East Waste has and will continue its pursuit of 
improvement and implementation of innovative 
technology in order to advance the services 

EASTERN WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY  A N N UA L  R E P O RT  2018-2019

GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT

waste education

the forefront of

East Waste is at
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I would like to thank the Board, Member Councils 
and the East Waste Executive Team for their 
support and guidance over the past 12 months. 

East Waste has a number of exciting 
developments as part of the 2019/20 adopted 
Annual Plan and Budget and I look forward 
with great excitement to working with Member 
Councils, the Board and staff to deliver these over 
the coming 12 months. 

Rob Gregory 
General Manager

provided to our Member Councils. Underpinning 
this and all that we do is our principle of ‘Safety 
First.’ East Waste proactively embraced the 
requirements of the National Heavy Vehicle 
Legislation and this was formally recognised late 
last year by being awarded a WHS Best Practice 
Merit Award through the Local Government 
Association Workers Compensation Scheme.

This is but one of a number of significant 
improvements that we continue to implement to 
ensure all East Waste staff and other road users 
remain safe and free from injury.

Thanks

The 2018/19 Financial Year has been busy and 
challenging one, however was ultimately a 
successful one, particularly with respect to the 
positive deliverables and strong operating results. 
This success would not have been possible 
without the commitment and work ethic of the 
East Waste Board, Audit and Risk Management 
Committee, Member Councils and importantly 
the East Waste staff.

EASTERN WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY  A N N UA L  R E P O RT  2018-2019

GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT

creator and presenter

ABC’s ‘War on Waste’ series

Craig Reucassel
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TOTAL TONNAGES 
COLLECTED

105,328

TONNES DIVERTED 
FROM LANDFILL:

TOTAL

57,599
54% DIVERSION

HARD WASTE 
TONNES  

CONVERTED TO 
ALTERNATIVE FUEL

3,104

E-WASTE  
RECYCLED  

(3 COUNCILS ONLY)

10,134
KILOGRAMS

220,000+
KERBSIDE BINS 
COLLECTED PER 

WEEK
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Member Council Recyclables Organics Waste

Adelaide Hills Council 3,473 3,863 7,027

City of Burnside 4,004 6,649 7,570

Campbelltown City Council 4,103 6,328 9,123

City of Mitcham 5,913 9,373 11,8671

City of Norwood, Payneham & St Peters  3,332 4,526 6,839

City of Prospect 1,682 2,663 3,911

Town of Walkerville 633 1,058 1,392

RECYCLABLES

23,140 
TONNES

ORGANICS

34,459 
TONNES

WASTE

47,729 
TONNES

1 City of Mitcham undertakes the collection of waste for its residents.

EASTERN WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY  A N N UA L  R E P O RT  2018-2019

COLLECTED 2018-2019

KERBSIDE TONNAGES
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The membership of the Board comprises of eight 
directors – one director appointed by each of the 
Member Councils, and one independent person 
who acts as Chair.  The Board appoints a General 
Manager who is responsible for implementing 

the decisions made by the Board, and running 
the day-to-day operations of East Waste.  
The Board held eleven formal meetings over  
the 2018 – 2019 financial year. The table below 
details Board Member attendance.

East Waste is administered by a Board in accordance with the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 1999, the East Waste Charter, and various other policies and codes.

BOARD MEMBER MEETINGS

Mr Brian Cunningham (Chair) 6/11*

Cr Linda Green (Adelaide Hills Council) 11/11

Cr Grant Piggott (City of Burnside) 9/11

Mr Paul Di Iulio (Campbelltown City Council) 7/11

Cr Karen Hockley (City of Mitcham) *Term expired 25/11/2018 3/4

Mr Matthew Pears (City of Mitcham) *Appointed 25/11/2018 until 12/2/19 2/2

Mayor Heather Holmes-Ross (City of Mitcham) *Appointed 12/2/2019 4/5

Mr Mario Barone (City of Norwood, Payneham & St Peters) 11/11

Cr Gianni Busato (Corporation of the Town of Walkerville) *Term expired 23/11/2018  2/4

Cr Rob Ashby (Corporation of the Town of Walkerville) *Appointed 26/11/2018 6/7

Ms Cate Hart (City of Prospect) *Resignation effective 28 June 2019 8/10

*In order to appropriately manage a conflict of interest through the recycling tender process,  
Brian excused himself from meetings where the sole business related to the recycling tender.
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DEPUTY DIRECTOR ATTENDANCE MEETINGS

Mr Simon Bradley (City of Prospect) 2/11

Cr Stephen Fisher (City of Mitcham)  2/11

Mr Andrian Wiguna (Campbelltown City Council) 1/11

Cr Graham Webster (Corporation of the Town of Walkerville) 1/11

Audit and Risk Management Committee

In accordance with the requirements of the 
Local Government Act 1999, East Waste has 
an established Audit and Risk Management 
Committee (the Audit Committee). The principal 
objective of the Audit Committee is to ensure 
that the East Waste Board meets its legislative 
and probity requirements as required by the 

 
Local Government Act 199 and other relevant 
legislation, standards and codes.

The Audit Committee held five formal meetings 
over the 2018 – 2019 financial year. 

The table below details Audit Committee 
Member attendance.

AUDIT & RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE MEMBER MEETINGS

Mr Brian Cunningham (Chair) 4/5

Mr Mario Barone (City of Norwood, Payneham & St Peters) 5/5

Cr Karen Hockley (City of Mitcham) *Term expired 25/11/2018 1/1

Cr Grant Piggott (City of Burnside) *Appointed 13 December 2018 3/3

Mr Tim Muhlhausler (Independent Member) 5/5

Mr Leigh Hall (Independent Member) 3/5

The Audited Financial Statements for the year ending 30 June 2019 are provided at page 19.

Recycling Review Technical Working 
Committee

As per information provided in the Chairperson’s 
Report and General Manager’s Report, the China 
Sword issue has impacted Local Governments 
across all of Australia. 

To assist in navigating the challenges and 
complexities that have arisen out of the China 
Sword decision, the East Waste Board established 
a Recycling Review Technical Working 
Committee (the Committee) in accordance  
with Clause 78 of the East Waste Charter. 

Membership of the Committee is as follows:

RECYCLING REVIEW TECHNICAL  

WORKING COMMITTEE

Cr Karen Hockley (Chair)

Mr Grant Piggott (City of Burnside)

Mr Paul Di Iulio (Campbelltown City Council

Mr Jeff Tate (Independent Member)

Mr Rob Gregory (East Waste)

Mr Shane Raymond (East Waste)

The Committee held two formal meetings in the 
2018 – 2019 financial year.
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Due to local success,  
East Waste facilitated a  
statewide rollout of the 
waste spotlights on the  
My Local Services App.

MY LOCAL SERVICES APP

AVAILABLE TO RESIDENTS

THROUGH 2018-2019
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CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- the financial statements accurately reflect the Authority's accounting and other records.

............................................................. .............................................................
Rob Gregory

EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Paul Di Iulio 

ACTING CHAIRPERSON

Date:

- the financial statements present a true and fair view of the Authority's financial position at 30 June 2019 and the 
results of its operations and cash flows for the financial year.

- internal controls implemented by the Authority provide a reasonable assurance that the Authority's financial 
records are complete, accurate and reliable and were effective throughout the financial year.

We have been authorised by Eastern Waste Management Authority Inc. to certify the financial statements in their 
final form.  In our opinion: 

CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EASTERN WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY INC

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2019

- the accompanying financial statements comply with the Local Government Act 1999, Local Government (Financial 
Management) Regulations 2011 and Australian Accounting Standards.

26/09/2019

EASTERN WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY  A N N UA L  R E P O RT  2018-2019

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018-2019

135 www.burnside.sa.gov.au



22

This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

   2019 2018 
  Notes $’000 $’000

INCOME 
User charges  2  15,440  12,689 
Investment income  2  32  19 
Grants, subsidies and contributions   38  15 
Other   2 684  413

Total Income   16,194  13,136

EXPENSES 
Employee costs  3  5,580  5,605 
Materials, contracts & other expenses  3  8,229  5,776 
Finance costs   290  321 
Depreciation, amortisation & impairment  3  1,959  1,767

Total Expenses   16,058  13,469

OPERATING SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)   136  (333) 
 transfer to Equity Statement

Asset disposal & fair value adjustments  4  32  10 
Amounts received specifically for new/upgraded assets   -  -

NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)   168  (323)

Other Comprehensive Income 
 Changes in revaluation surplus - infrastructure, property, 
 plant & equipment  -  -

Total Other Comprehensive Income   -  -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   168  (323)
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This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2019

   2019 2018 
  Notes $’000 $’000

ASSETS 
Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents  5  1,967  1,376 
Trade & other receivables  5  717  1,127

Total Current Assets   2,684  2,503

Non-current Assets 
Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment  6  6,100  6,165

Total Assets   8,784  8,668

LIABILITIES 
Current Liabilities 
Trade & Other Payables  7  771  821 
Provisions  7  540  530 
Borrowings  7  1,987  2,007

Total Current Liabilities   3,298  3,358

Non-current Liabilities 
Borrowings  7  4,702  4,774 
Provisions  7  78  63

Total Non-current Liabilities   4,780  4,837

Total Liabilities   8,078  8,195

NET ASSETS   706  473

EQUITY 
Accumulated Surplus   706  473

TOTAL EQUITY   706  473
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This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

   Accumulated TOTAL 
   Surplus EQUITY 
   $’000 $’000

2019

Balance at end of previous reporting period  473 473

Net Surplus/ (Deficit) for Year  168 168 
Other Comprehensive Income 
Contributed Equity  65 65 
Distributions to Member Councils  - -

Balance at end of period  706 706

 

   Accumulated TOTAL 
   Surplus EQUITY 
   $’000 $’000

2018

Balance at end of previous reporting period  611 611

Net Surplus/ (Deficit) for Year  (323) (323) 
Other Comprehensive Income 
Contributed Equity  185 185 
Distributions to Member Councils  - -

Balance at end of period  473 473
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This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AS AT 30 JUNE 2019

   2019 2018 
  Notes $’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts

 Operating receipts   16,572  12,400 
 Investment receipts   32  20

Payments

 Employee costs   (5,555)  (5,548) 
 Materials, contracts & other expenses   (8,260)  (5,808) 
 Finance payments   (309)  (320)

Net Cash provided by (or used in) Operating Activities  8  2,480  744

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Receipts

 Sale of replaced assets  4  35  11 
 Sale of surplus assets  4  -  -

Payments

 Expenditure on renewal/replacement of assets  6  (1,897)  1,887) 
 Expenditure on new/upgraded assets   -  - 
 Distributions to member councils   -  -

Net Cash provided by (or used in) Investing Activities   (1,862)  (1,876)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Receipts

 Capital contribution by member councils   65  185 
 Proceeds from Borrowings   1,814  1,971

Payments 
 Repayments of Borrowings   (1,906)  (1,632)

Net Cash provided by (or used in) Financing Activities   (27)  524

Net Increase (Decrease) in cash held   591  (608)

Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of period  5 1,376  1,984

Cash & cash equivalents at end of period  5 1,967  1,376
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34,459 TONNES OF

ORGANIC WASTE
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

1 Basis of Preparation

1.1 Compliance with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards as they apply to not-for-profit entities, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board, Interpretations and relevant South Australian legislation.

The financial report was authorised for issue by certificate under regulation 14 of the Local Government 
(Financial Management) Regulations 2011.

The Authority is a Local Government Authority Section 43 Regional Subsidiary under the control of the 
Adelaide Hills Council, City of Burnside, Campbelltown City Council, City of Mitcham, City of Norwood, 
Payneham & St Peters, City of Prospect and the Corporation of the Town of Walkerville. The seven 
Member Councils have an equity share and the Board comprises a Director from each Council and an 
Independent Chair appointed by the absolute majority of the Member Councils.

1.2 Historical Cost Convention

Except where stated below, these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
historical cost convention.

1.3 Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards which 
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates, and requires management to exercise its 
judgement in applying the Authority’s accounting policies.

The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and 
estimates are significant to the financial statements are specifically referred to in the relevant sections of 
this Note.

1.4 Rounding

All amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000) for 
the first time this year.

2 The Local Government Reporting Entity

Eastern Waste Management Authority Inc. operates as a regional subsidiary pursuant to Section 43 of 
the Local Government Act 1999 and Section 25 of the Local Government Implementation Act 1999.

3 Income Recognition

Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Income is recognised 
when the Authority obtains control over the assets comprising the income, or when the amount due 
constitutes an enforceable debt, whichever first occurs.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)
4 Cash, Cash Equivalents and other Financial Instruments

Cash Assets include all amounts readily convertible to cash on hand at the Authority’s option with an 
insignificant risk of changes in value with a maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

Receivables are generally unsecured and do not bear interest. All receivables are reviewed as at the 
reporting date and adequate allowance made for amounts the receipt of which is considered doubtful.

All financial instruments are recognised at fair value at the date of recognition. A detailed statement of 
the accounting policies applied to financial instruments forms part of Note 9.

5 Property, Plant & Equipment

All non-current assets purchased or constructed are capitalised as the expenditure is incurred and 
depreciated as soon as the asset is held “ready for use”.

5.1 Initial Recognition

All assets are initially recognised at cost. Cost is determined as the fair value of the assets given as 
consideration plus costs incidental to the acquisition.

5.2 Materiality

Assets with an economic life in excess of one year are only capitalised where the cost of acquisition 
exceeds materiality thresholds established by the Authority for each type of asset. In determining (and in 
annually reviewing) such thresholds, regard is had to the nature of the asset and its estimated service life.

5.3 Depreciation of Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment assets are systematically depreciated over their useful lives in a manner 
which reflects the consumption of the service potential embodied in those assets.

Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis. Major depreciation periods for each class of asset are 
shown below. Depreciation periods for infrastructure assets have been estimated based on the best 
information available to the Authority, but appropriate records covering the entire life cycle of these 
assets are not available, and extreme care should be used in interpreting financial information based on 
these estimates.

   Plant & Equipment   5 - 10 years 
   Buildings & Other Structures  5 - 20 years

5.4 Impairment

Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount (which is the higher of the present value of future cash outflows or value in use).

For assets whose future economic benefits are not dependent on the ability to generate cash flows, 
and where the future economic benefits would be replaced if the Authority were deprived thereof, the 
value in use is the depreciated replacement cost. In assessing impairment for these assets, a rebuttable 
assumption is made that the current replacement cost exceeds the original cost of acquisition.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)
6 Payables

6.1 Goods & Services

Creditors are amounts due to external parties for the supply of goods and services and are recognised as 
liabilities when the goods and services are received.

Creditors are normally paid 30 days after the month of invoice. No interest is payable on these amounts.

7 Employee Benefits

7.1 Salaries, Wages & Compensated Absences

Liabilities for employees’ entitlements to salaries, wages and compensated absences expected to be 
paid or settled within 12 months of reporting date are accrued at nominal amounts (including payroll 
based oncosts) measured in accordance with AASB 119.

Liabilities for employee benefits not expected to be paid or settled within 12 months are measured as 
the present value of the estimated future cash outflows (including payroll based oncosts) to be made in 
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Present values are calculated using 
government guaranteed securities rates with similar maturity terms.

No accrual is made for sick leave as the Authority’s experience indicates that, on average, sick leave 
taken in each reporting period is less than the entitlement accruing in that period, and this experience 
is expected to recur in future reporting periods. The Authority does not make payment for untaken sick 
leave.

7.2 Superannuation

The Authority makes employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to Statewide 
Super. The Scheme has two types of membership, each of which is funded differently.

Accumulation Fund Members 
Accumulation fund members receive both employer and employee contributions on a progressive 
basis. Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of employee earnings in 
accordance with Superannuation Guarantee Legislation (9.5% in 2018/19; 9.5% in 2017/18). No further 
liability accrues to the employer as the superannuation benefits accruing to employees are represented 
by their share of the net assets of the Fund.

Defined Benefit Members 
Defined benefit scheme is where the benefit payable is based on a formula determined by the 
member’s contribution rate, number of years of contribution and final average salary. The Authority 
makes employer contributions as determined by the scheme’s Trustee based on advice from the 
Scheme’s Actuarial.

The most recent full actuarial investigation conducted by the Scheme’s actuary, Louise Campbell, 
FIAA, of Willie Towers Watson as at 30 June 2017.The Trustee has determined that the current funding 
arrangements are adequate for the expected Salarylink liabilities. However, future financial and 
economic circumstances may require changes to the Authority’s contribution rates at some future time.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)
The Authority also makes contributions to other superannuation schemes selected by employees 
under the ‘choice of fund’ legislation. All such schemes are of the accumulation type, where the 
superannuation benefits accruing to the employee are represented by their share of the new assets of 
the scheme, and no further liability attaches to the Authority.

8 Leases

Lease arrangements have been accounted for in accordance with AASB 117.

In respect of finance leases, where the Authority substantially carries all the risks incident to ownership, 
the leased items are initially recognised as assets and liabilities equal in amount to the present value 
of the minimum lease payments. The assets are disclosed as assets under lease, and are amortised to 
expense over the period during which the Authority is expected to benefit from the use of the leased 
assets.

Lease payments are allocated between interest expense and reduction of the lease liability, according to 
the interest rate implicit in the lease.

In respect of operating leases, where the lessor substantially retains all of the risks and benefits incident 
to ownership of the leased items, lease payments are charged to expense over the lease term.

9 GST Implications

In accordance with UIG Abstract 1031 “Accounting for the Goods & Services Tax”

• Receivables and Creditors include GST receivable and payable. 
• Except in relation to input taxed activities, revenues and operating expenditures exclude GST 
 receivable and payable. 
• Non-current assets and capital expenditures include GST net of any recoupment. 
• Amounts included in the Statement of Cash Flows are disclosed on a gross basis.

10 Comparative Information

Comparative information has been reclassified to be consistent with the current year disclosure of 
equivalent information in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.

11 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

The Board evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial report based on historical 
knowledge and best available current information.

Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and based on current trends and economic 
data, obtained both externally and within the Authority.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)
12 New Accounting Standards

Certain new accounting standards have been published that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2019 
reporting period and have not been used in preparing these reports.

The Authority is of the view that AASB 16 Leases will have an immaterial impact on the future financial 
performance and position of the Authority. It is estimated that AASB 16 will result in the Authority 
recognising an additional $44,000 operating expense in FY2020 to account for different accounting 
treatment of its operating leases compared to the current adopted accounting policies of the Authority.

The Authority is expected to record a ‘Right-of-Use’ asset and a corresponding liability of equal value of 
$1.32 million as at 1 July 2019 as a result of the introduction of AASB 16.

13 Highbury Landfill Authority Inc.

The Authority, originally known as the East Torrens Municipal Destructor Trust, was established on 19 
July 1928 (the name change took place in 1993). As at 1 July 2004, the Authority comprised of 3 Member 
Councils, being the City of Norwood, Payneham & St Peters, City of Burnside and the Corporation of the 
Town of Walkerville.

On 5 August 2004, the City of Norwood, Payneham & St Peters, the City of Burnside and the Corporation 
of the Town of Walkerville established the Highbury Landfill Authority Inc. Its purpose included the 
facilitation of the closure and the post closure of the Highbury Landfill site, as well as managing the joint 
interests and liability of the Councils in relation to the closure of the site.

On 31 December 2004 the property known as the Highbury Landfill site was transferred from East Waste 
to Highbury Landfill Authority Inc.

On 1 January 2005, the Authority’s Charter was amended to include the three new Member Councils – 
the City of Mitcham, the City of Campbelltown and the Adelaide Hills Council.

On 1 January 2005 a loan was created between the Authority and the Highbury Landfill Authority that 
represented the net value of assets in East Waste prior to 1 January 2005. This was an At Call Loan and 
interest had been capitalised until the loan was called in by the Highbury Landfill Authority in November 
2008. The loan amount was

$873,000 and the Authority borrowed the money from the National Australia Bank with an Interest Only 
Loan. This loan has now been re-financed through the Local Government Finance Authority, to be repaid 
in 10 years.

The Board of the Authority resolved in February 2010 to charge Member Councils the loan repayments 
for this loan in their equity percentages as set out in the January 2006 Charter.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
NOTE 2 - INCOME
   2019 2018 
  Notes $’000 $’000

USER CHARGES 
 Waste Collection Income   11,768  11,215 
 Waste Processing Income   3,456  1,643 
 Administration   216  239 
 Recycle Rebate   -  306 
 Recycle Rebate - Member Councils   -  (306) 
 Member Council Waste Collection Rebate   -  (408)

   15,440  12,689

INVESTMENT INCOME 
 Interest on investments 
       Local Government Finance Authority   32  19

   32  19

OTHER INCOME 
 Bin Supply   201  106 
 Replacement Bins   439  271 
 Sundry   44  36

   684  413

NOTE 3 - EXPENSES
EMPLOYEE COSTS 
 Salaries and Wages   4,434  4,120 
 Employee leave expense   25  38 
 Superannuation   369  330 
 Wages Casual Agency   522  787 
 Workers’ Compensation Insurance   120  166 
 Other   110  164

Total Employee Costs   5,580  5,605

Total Number of Employees (Full Time Equivalent as at reporting date)  55  50
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
NOTE 3 - EXPENSES (Cont.)
   2019 2018 
  Notes $’000 $’000

MATERIALS, CONTRACTS & OTHER EXPENSES 
Auditor’s Remuneration   9  9 
Board Expenses   26  28 
Lease costs   316  316 
Subtotal - Prescribed Expenses   351  353

Other Materials, Contracts & Expenses 
Waste Processing Costs   3,479  1,657 
Electricity   25  41 
Fuel, Gas & Oil   1,180  9 71 
GPS Expenses   17  63 
Legal Expenses   88  70 
Maintenance   1,815  1,736 
Parts, Accessories & Consumables   9  84 
Printing, Stationery & Postage   55  65 
Professional Services   440  286 
Registration & Insurance - Trucks   358  227 
Sundry   370  176 
Telephone   42  47 
Subtotal - Other Materials, Contracts & Expenses   7,878  5,423

   8,229  5,776

DEPRECIATION 
Buildings & Other Structures   8  - 
Plant, Machinery & Equipment   1,951  1,767

   1,959  1,767 

NOTE 4 - ASSET DISPOSAL
INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT 
Assets renewed or directly replaced 
Proceeds from disposal   35  11 
Less: Carrying amount of assets sold   (3)  (1) 
Gain (Loss) on disposal   32  10 

NOTE 5 - CURRENT ASSETS
CASH & EQUIVALENT ASSETS 
Cash on Hand and at Bank   1,548  1,250 
Deposits at Call   419  126

   1,967  1,376

TRADE & OTHER RECEIVABLES 
Debtors - general   716  1,098 
Accrued Income   1  - 
Prepayments   -  29

   717  1,127
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  Carrying       Carrying 
  Amount       Disposals        Depreciation Transfer Amount   
   New/ 
   Upgrade Renewal

Buildings &  
Other  
Structures  30  28  - - (8) 1 50

Plant, Machinery  
& Equipment  6,134  1,869 - (3) (1,951) 1 6,050

Work in Progress 1 - - - - (1) -

Total Property,  
Plant &  
Equipment 6,165  1,897 - (3) (1,959) 1 6,100

2018 Totals 6,046 1,887 - (1) (1,767) - 6,165

Additions

CARRYING AMOUNT MOVEMENT DURING YEAR 
$’000

2018 
$’000

2019 
$’000

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
NOTE 6 - PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT 
   2019 2018 
  Notes $’000 $’000

Buildings & Other Structures - At Cost   106  78

Accumulated Depreciation   (56)  (48)

   50  30

Plant, Machinery & Equipment   15,068  14,448

Accumulated Depreciation   (9,018)  (8,314)

   6,050  6,134

Work in Progress (WIP)   -  1

Total Property, Plant & Equipment   6,100  6,165
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
NOTE 7 - LIABILITIES
    2019  2018 
  Notes  $’000  $’000

TRADE & OTHER PAYABLES  Current Non-current Current Non-current

Goods & Services  554 - 697 -

Accrued expenses - other  217 - 124 -

   771 - 821 -

BORROWINGS   

Loans    1,987 4,702   2,007 4,774 

   1,987 4,702 2,007 4,774

PROVISIONS

Annual Leave  236 - 223 - 

Long Service Leave  304 78 307 63 

   540 78 530 63
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
NOTE 8 - RECONCILIATION TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT
(a) Reconciliation of Cash

Cash Assets comprise highly liquid investments with short periods to maturity subject to insignificant 
risk of changes of value.  Cash at the end of the reporting period as shown in the Cash Flow Statement 
is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

   2019 2018 
  Notes $’000 $’000

Total cash & equivalent assets 5 1,967 1,376 
Less: Short-term borrowings  - -

Balances per Cash Flow Statement  1,967 1,376

(b) Reconciliation of Change in Net Assets to Cash from Operating Activities

Net Surplus (Deficit)  168 (323) 
Non-cash items in Income Statement 
 Depreciation, amortisation & impairment  1,959 1,767 
 Net increase (decrease) in unpaid employee benefits  25 38

Net increase (decrease) accrued interest charges  (32) 2 
(Gain) / Loss on Disposal   (19)  (10)

   2,101 1,474

Add (Less): Changes in Net Current Assets 
 Net (increase) decrease in receivables  410 (717) 
 Net increase (decrease) in trade & other payables  (31) (5) 
 Net increase (decrease) in other provisions   -  (8) 

Net Cash provided by (or used in) operations  2,480 744

(c) Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities

Acquisition of assets by means of: 
 - Physical resources received free of charge  - - 
 - Non-cash grants & contributions  - -

      Amounts recognised in Income Statement  - -

 - Finance Leases  - -

Total Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities  - -

(d) Financing Arrangements

Corporate Credit Cards  15 15 
Cash Advance Debenture Facility  1,000 1,000
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
NOTE 9 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Recognised Financial Instruments

Bank, Deposits at Call,  
Short Term Deposits

Accounting Policy: Carried at lower of cost and net realisable value; 
Interest is recognised when earned.

Terms & conditions: Deposits on Call do not have a maturity period 
and have an average interest rates of 1.25%  - 1.85% (2018: 1.5%).

Carrying amount: approximates fair value due to the short term to 
maturity.

Receivables - Gate Fees 
& Associated Charges

Accounting Policy: Carried at nominal values less any allowance for 
doubtful debts. An allowance for doubtful debts is recognised (and re-
assessed annually) when collection in full is no longer probable.

Carrying amount: approximates fair value (after deduction of any 
allowance).

Liabilities - Creditors and 
Accruals

Accounting Policy: Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in 
the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the 
Authority.

Terms & conditions: Liabilities are normally settled on 30 day terms.

Carrying amount: approximates fair value.

Net Fair Value 
All carrying values approximate fair value for all recognised financial instruments. There is no recognised 
market for the financial assets of the Authority.

Risk Exposures 
Credit Risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counterparties fail to perform as contracted. 
The maximum credit risk on financial assets of the Authority is the carrying amount, net of any provision 
for doubtful debts. All investments are made with the SA Local Government Finance Authority and Bank 
SA. There is no material exposure to any individual debtor.

Market Risk is the risk that fair values of financial assets will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices. All of the Authority’s financial assets are denominated in Australian dollars and are not traded on 
any market, and hence neither market risk nor currency risk apply.

Liquidity Risk is the risk that the Authority will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations with financial 
liabilities. In accordance with the model Treasury Policy (LGA Information Paper 15), liabilities have a 
range of maturity dates based on cash inflows. The Authority also has available a range of bank overdraft 
and short-term draw down facilities that it can access.

Interest Rate Risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 
rates. Most of the Authority’s financial instruments are at fixed rates. Any such variations in future cash 
flows will not be material in effect on either the Authority’s incomes or expenditures.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
NOTE 9 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT) 
Liquidity Analysis

2019 Floating    Non- 
  Interest < 1 year > 1 year > 5 years Interest Total 
  Rate  < 5 years  Bearing 

Financial Assets $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Fair Value through P&L 
 Cash Assets  1,548  419  -  -  -  1,967

Loans & Receivables 
 Receivables  -  -  -  -  716  716

Total  1,548  419  -  -  716  2,683

Financial Liabilities 
 Payables  -  -  -  -  554  771 
 Current Borrowings  -  1,987  -  -  -  1,987 
 Non-Current Borrowings  -  -  3,390  1,312  -  4,702

Total  -  1,987  3,390  1,312  554  7,460

EXCESS OF FINANCIAL  
ASSETS OVER LIABILITIES  1,548  (1,568) (3,390)  (1,312)  162  (4,777)

2018 Floating    Non- 
  Interest < 1 year > 1 year > 5 years Interest Total 
  Rate  < 5 years  Bearing 

Financial Assets $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Fair Value through P&L 
 Cash Assets 1,250  126  -  -  -  1,376

Loans & Receivables 
 Receivables - - - - 1,098  1,098

 Total 1,250  126  -  -  1,098  2,474

Financial Liabilities 
 Payables - - - - 697  698 
 Current Borrowings - 2,007 - - - 2,007 
 Non-Current Borrowings -  -  3,153  1,621  -  4,774 

 Total -  2,007  3,153  1,621  697  7,479

EXCESS OF FINANCIAL  
ASSETS OVER LIABILITIES  1,250  (1,881)  (3,153)  (1,621)  401  (5,005)

Fixed Interest Maturing In

Fixed Interest Maturing In
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
NOTE 10 - COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
   2019 2018 
  Notes $’000 $’000

Expenditure Commitments

Other expenditure committed for at the reporting date but not recognised in the financial statements  
as liabilities:

Audit Services  - 9 
Truck Fleet Replacement   -   1,810 

   - 1,819

These expenditures are payable:   

Not later than one year  - 1,819 
Later than one year and not later than 5 years  - - 
Later than 5 years   -  -

   - 1,819

NOTE 11  -  OPERATING  LEASES
Lease payment commitments of Authority

No contingent rentals were paid during the current or previous reporting periods. No lease imposes 
any additional restrictions on the Authority in relation to additional debt or further leasing.

No lease contains any escalation clause. Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases that 
have not been recognised in the financial statements are as follows:

Not later than one year  263 252 
Later than one year and not later than 5 years  1,159 834 
Later than 5 years   80  603 

   1,502 1,689

NOTE 12 - EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER REPORTING DATE
There were no events after Balance Date that are require to be disclosed.

EASTERN WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY  A N N UA L  R E P O RT  2018-2019

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018-2019

153 www.burnside.sa.gov.au



40

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
NOTE 13  -  DISCLOSURES OF RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Key Management Personnel include the Chair of the Board, Chief Executive and other prescribed 
officers as defined under Section 112 of the Local Government Act 1999. In all, 4 persons were paid the 
following total compensation:

  2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000

Salaries, allowances & other short term benefits 467 405

Long term benefits - -

TOTAL 467 405

Transactions with Related Parties:

The following transactions occurred with Related Parties:

   Amounts Description 
  Sale of Goods Outstanding from of Services 
  and Services Related Parties Provided to 
Related Party Entity ($’000) ($’000) Related Parties

Adelaide Hills Council 2,988 107

City of Burnside 2,425 128

City of Mitcham 2,438 193

City of Norwood, Payneham & St Peters 2,249 96

City of Prospect 1,108 49

Corporation of the City of Campbelltown 2,658 117

Corporation of the Town of Walkerville 502 23

Amounts recorded as outstanding from Related Parties are recorded in Trade and other receivables in 
Note 5.

The Related Parties disclosed above are equity owners of the Authority and are referred to as Member 
Councils. Member Councils have equal representation on the Board of the Authority and accordingly 
have significant influence on the financial and operating decisions of the Authority. No one Member 
Council individually has control of those policies.

Provision of kerbside waste 
collection and hardwaste

Provision of kerbside waste 
collection and hardwaste

Provision of kerbside waste 
collection and hardwaste

Provision of kerbside waste 
collection and hardwaste

Provision of kerbside waste 
collection and hardwaste

Provision of kerbside waste 
collection and hardwaste

Provision of kerbside waste 
collection and hardwaste
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

 

 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
TO THE MEMBERS OF THE EASTERN WASTE                        
MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY INC 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of the Eastern Waste Management Authority Inc, 
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019, the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies and the Certification of the Financial Statements. 

In our opinion, the financial report gives a true and fair view of the financial position of the Eastern 
Waste Management Authority Inc as of 30 June 2019, and of its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Local 
Government Act 1999 and the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report. We are independent of the entity in accordance with the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in 
Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial report, which gives a true and fair view 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Local Government Act 1999 and the 
Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011, and for such internal control as the 
committee and management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of a financial report 
that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, management is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the entity or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the entity’s financial reporting 
process. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx. This description 
forms part of our auditor’s report. 
 
BENTLEYS SA AUDIT PARTNERSHIP 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DAVID PAPA 
PARTNER 
 
Dated at Adelaide this 29th day of September 2019 
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HH II GG HH BB UU RR YY   LL AA NN DD FF II LL LL   AA UU TT HH OO RR II TT YY   

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8 / 2 0 1 9  

 The Board of the Highbury Landfill Authority 
(HLA) had a new board member appointed by 
Walkerville, Mr Joshua Bowen, after the 
November 2018 Local Government elections  
with the remaining two Councils reappointing 
their members. The Board formally thanks the 
retiring Chair Mr. Graham Webster for his 
service to the Authority. 
The Independent Member on the Audit 
Committee remained Peter Holmes from Ferrier 
Hodgson. TJH Management Services Pty Ltd 
continued to  provide administration and 
management services to HLA. 
 
The site is governed by  the South Australian 
Environment Protection Authority (SA EPA) as a 
contaminated site covered by the Environment 
Protection Act 1993. The Authority has an 
ongoing environmental duty to manage the site 
and ensure that it has minimal impact on the 
surrounding  environment. The site has 
remained stable and within an acceptable risk 
profile during the year. 
 
The landfill gas quality continues to degrade 
and McMahon Services Australia Pty Ltd 
through its sub-contractor Biogas Systems is 
contracted to manage the gas field and flare 
the landfill gas 24 hours per day 7 days per 
week. 

The accounting standards require Highbury 
to estimate the future costs over an initial 
period of at least 25 years to meet the 
legislative requirements of a closed landfill 
in South Australia. HLA is now 9 years into 
the post closure management period and 
the provision in the accounts is a net 
present value (NPV) calculation of the 
future cash outflows to manage the 
remaining 16 years. As recommended by 
the HLA audit committee the provision 
calculation was reviewed by Golder 
Associates Pty Ltd last year and their 
recommendations continue to be adopted 
by the Board. The next review is due in 
2021. There has been no material change 
to the provision from last year. 

S P E C I A L  P O I N T S  O F  
I N T E R E S T :  

• The Risk Management Plan 
continued to be the 
measure of how the site was 
managed during the year. 

• The Board conducted a 
nationwide EOI process to 
explore Future Options for 
the closed landfill site. The 
board has resolved to 
negotiate with Joule Energy 
on their preferred proposal 
to establish a solar power 
plant on the site and export 
green energy into the 
electricity grid. 

 

TToorrrreennss  RRooaadd  EEnnttrraannccee  

TThhee  LLooCCaall  ffllaarree  iinnssttaalllleedd  aanndd  ooppeerraattiinngg  aatt  tthhee  HHiigghh--
bbuurryy  llaannddffiillll  

CC//--  2211  RRuunnddllee  SSttrreeeett,,  KKeenntt  TToowwnn    SSAA    55006677    TTeell::0088  88336633  99110000    EEmmaaiill::    ttrreevvoorr@@ttjjhhmmss..ccoomm..aauu  

MMoonniittoorriinngg  BBoorree  iinn  tthhee  llaannddffiillll  
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F I N A N C I A L  S U M M A R Y  F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D I N G  3 0  J U N E  2 0 1 9  

  

  22001199  22001188    22001199  22001188  

  

  $$  $$    $$  $$  

IINNCCOOMMEE    CCUURRRREENNTT  AASSSSEETTSS    

Interest Received 121 116 Cash & Cash Equivalents 85,055 65,959 

Sundry Income 18017 22,741 Trade & Other Receivables 13,197 28,251 

Highbury Landfill Provision 26,244 _       

TTOOTTAALL  RREEVVEENNUUEE  4444,,338822  2222,,885577  TToottaall  CCuurrrreenntt  AAsssseettss  9988,,225522  9944,,221100  

         

EEXXPPEENNSSEESS    NNOONN--CCUURRRREENNTT  AASSSSEETTSS    

Materials, contracts & other expenses 2,500 2,500 Infrastructure, Property, Plant 186,731 211,949 

Depreciation, amortisation & impairment 25,218 25,219    

Finance  Payments 8,312 11,173 TToottaall  NNoonn--CCuurrrreenntt  AAsssseettss  118866,,773311  221111,,994499  

Highbury Closure Provision - 178,785 TTOOTTAALL  AASSSSEETTSS  228844,,998833  330066,,115599  

TTOOTTAALL  EEXXPPEENNSSEESS  3366,,003300  221177,,667777      

   CCUURRRREENNTT  LLIIAABBIILLIITTIIEESS    

OOPPEERRAATTIINNGG  SSUURRPPLLUUSS//  ((DDEEFFIICCIITT))  88,,335522  ((119944,,882200))  Trade and Other Payables 25,239 16,778 

      Borrowings 24,647 23,748 

      Provisions 203,890 283,000 

TTOOTTAALL  CCOOMMPPRREEHHEENNSSIIVVEE  IINNCCOOMMEE 444488,,882277  444488,,882277  TToottaall  CCuurrrreenntt  LLiiaabbiilliittiieess  225533,,777766  332233,,552266  

            

     NNOONN--CCUURRRREENNTT  LLIIAABBIILLIITTIIEESS    

    Borrowings 184,595 209,243 

    Provisions 3,385,870 3,560,000 

      TToottaall  NNoonn--CCuurrrreenntt  LLiiaabbiilliittiieess  33,,557700,,446655  33,,776699,,224433  

   TTOOTTAALL  LLIIAABBIILLIITTIIEESS  33,,882244,,224411  44,,009922,,776699  

         

   NNEETT  AASSSSEETTSS  ((33,,553399,,225588))  ((33,,778866,,661100))  

       

   EEQQUUIITTYY    

   Accumulated Deficit ((33,,553399,,225588))  ((33,,778866,,661100))  

   TTOOTTAALL  EEQQUUIITTYY  ((33,,553399,,225588))  ((33,,778866,,661100))  

IInnccoommee  SSttaatteemmeenntt  aass    aatt  3300  JJuunnee  22001199  SSttaatteemmeenntt  ooff  FFiinnaanncciiaall  PPoossiittiioonn  aass  aatt  3300  JJuunnee  22001199  

HIGHBURY LANDFILL AUTHORITY 

The site continues to revegetate naturally and is maintained with annual spraying for  
noxious weeds and regular grass cutting and maintenance. In accordance with the landfill clo-
sure plan, the retention pond is being planted out with appropriate plants to further improve the 
quality of water discharged off site.  
 
The EPA are provided with monthly reports on landfill gas extraction and  
monitoring. These reports show compliance with the risk profile for the site.  
 RReetteennttiioonn  PPoonndd  

RRee--vveeggeettaattiioonn  ooff  tthhee  llaannddffiillll  
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A E R I A L  M A P  O F  L A N D F I L L  G A S  M O N I T O R I N G  L O C A T I O N S  F O R  T H E  H I G H B U R Y  
L A N D F I L L  T O  M O N I T O R  C O M P L I A N C E  W I T H  T H E  E P A  L A N D F I L L  L I C E N C E   

L A N D F I L L  G A S  
M A N A G E M E N T  
A T  H I G H B U R Y  

• The plan opposite 
shows the network of moni-
toring bores to  assist in 
managing landfill gas on 
the site. 

• Boundary gas extraction 
bores have been estab-
lished on the southern and 
eastern boundaries of the 
site. 

• Landfill gas monitoring 
bores were monitored regu-
larly during the year 

• McMahons through 
their sub-contractor Biogas 
Systems extracted landfill 
gas from approximately 80 
extraction bores located 
over the site and flared the 
landfill gas. 

• The landfill gas quality 
and quantity are declining 
and is insufficient to gener-
ate green electricity so the 
gas is burnt to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions. 

• The ongoing flaring of 
the landfill gas ensures 
that the gas is controlled 
from the site to comply 
with the risk management 
plan. 
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRPERSON 
 
The Eastern Region Alliance Water (ERA Water) project of stormwater harvesting for aquifer storage 
and recovery began irrigation of Council reserves in November 2018. 

During the year connections were completed to 14 reserves of the Constituent Councils – the 
Corporation of the Town of Walkerville, City of Burnside, and, City of Norwood, Payneham & St 
Peters. Tenders have been sought for connections to a further 30 reserves in the coming year. 

The commissioning process confirmed the design capacity of the system except for the injection 
bore capacity. One of the original five bores required by the project design failed to provide an 
adequate yield. The result of the consequently reduced injection capacity and a low rainfall year, 
meant that the expected volume of water injected into the aquifer was not achieved. Approval was 
sought and obtained from the Constituent Councils to install additional injection bore capacity and 
to increase the borrowing limits to fund the additional work involved. 

In February 2019, the Felixstow Reserve was officially opened. The Reserve incorporates the 
wetland treatment system of the ERA Water project as part of an enhanced area of public amenity 
developed by the City of Norwood, Payneham and St Peters. 

There have been a number of personnel changes during the year. In September 2018, Robin English 
was appointed General Manager of ERA Water and he is making a positive impact in this important 
role. Geoff Vogt’s term as a Board member for the City of Burnside was completed in June 2019. The 
Board has greatly appreciated Geoff’s sage advice. Burnside has appointed Cr Sarah Hughes as the 
city’s Board member. 

Dr BRYAN JENKINS 

Independent Chair, ERA WATER Board 
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GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT 
 
During the year, significant progress has been made at Eastern Region Alliance Water, with 
commissioning completed and the first sales of water to customers having been made.  

The performance of the project has however been constrained by the low rainfall of the winter of 
2018, and the reduced injection capacity of the project. These two factors have limited the amount 
of water that was able to be harvested and stored, and therefore limited the sales of water in the 
summer of 2018/2019. The two risks of low rainfall and reduced injection capacity due to one of the 
five bores in the project not performing at its designed capacity, are anticipated risks. It is 
unfortunate that both have occurred in the first year of operation. 

The Board has now approved an increase in bore capacity and preparations are being made to 
replace the inadequate bore with another. ERAW trusts that a new, successful bore will overcome 
the constraint on injection capacity and enable the scheme to operate as designed. 

With lower than expected volumes of water available for sale during the year, ERAW was able to 
delay the construction of some of the connections to delivery points of the Constituent Councils so 
that costs could be saved by reducing the cost per connection. Late in the year, tenders were let for 
the construction of the remaining connections to Constituent Councils. Construction will commence 
early in the new year. 

During the year BRM Advisory commenced providing accounting and strategic financial planning 
services, replacing accounting services provided by the City of Burnside.  The scope of the financial 
information now available to the Board has been greatly improved and enabled much better 
decision making on the basis of sound information. 

ERAW looks forward to completing the replacement injection bore and therefore being able to 
improve both injection and delivery of water and water sales, improving the financial viability of 
scheme. 

ROBIN ENGLISH 

ERA WATER GENERAL MANAGER 
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ABOUT ERA WATER 
 
ERA Water Regional Subsidiary (ERA Water) is a regional subsidiary of the Constituent Councils 
established on 21 July 2015 under Section 43 of the Local Government Act 1999. Its Charter 
provides for the supply of recycled urban storm water on behalf of its Constituent Councils in the 
eastern suburbs of Adelaide, South Australia. 

THE CONSTITUENT COUNCILS 

The Constituent Councils of ERA Water are: 

• The Corporation of the Town of Walkerville  

• The City of Norwood, Payneham and St Peters 

• The City of Burnside 

PURPOSE 
ERA Water was established as a result of the Waterproofing Eastern Adelaide project (the Project) 
which was supported through funding from the Australian Government’s National Urban Water and 
Desalination Plan, and the Adelaide and Mount Lofty Ranges Natural Resources Management Board. 

ERA Water’s prime purpose, is to implement and manage a water recycling scheme which captures, 
treats and delivers stormwater for irrigation purposes to the Constituent Councils and other 
customers. The scheme included the establishment of wetlands and biofilters, aquifer recharge and 
recovery infrastructure, pipeline installations and water storage facilities and utilises a process 
known as Aquifer Storage and Recovery (ASR) - a system of harvesting, treating and injecting the 
cleaned water into aquifers for later use.   

The scheme comprises two treatment sites (which are capable of harvesting 600 ML of stormwater 
per annum and yielding for use 458 ML of water per annum) as well as 46km of distribution pipe 
network covering each of the three Constituent Council areas. The distribution network is designed 
to deliver water to Constituent Council reserves as well as to other potential customers in these 
areas and beyond (see Attachment showing a plan of the ERA Water network).  

ERA Water expects to ultimately sell 458 ML per annum of water of which 204.7 ML per annum is 
committed to the three Constituent Councils.  An additional 253.3 ML per annum is forecast to be 
sold to other customers.  
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SUPPORT FROM CONSTITUENT COUNCILS 
 
BOARD OF MANAGEMENT 

ERA Water is governed by a Board of Management composed of an Independent Chairperson and a 
representative from each Constituent Council as shown in the Table below. The Board held nine 
formal meetings during the 2018-19 financial year. The table below details Board Member 
attendance at each meeting. 

 

 
Member 

Meetings 
Attended 

Independent Chairperson Bryan Jenkins  9 
City of Burnside (Independent Member) Geoff Vogt 9 
City of Norwood Payneham and St Peters John Minney  9 
Corporation of the Town of Walkerville Kiki Magro 8 

 
 

Geoff Vogt Independent Member for the City of Burnside resigned as Acting Chair and Bryan Jenkins 
was appointed as Independent Chair on 11 July, 2018.  
 
Brian Maguire resigned as General Manager of ERA Water on 21 August, 2018 and Robin English 
was appointed as General Manager on 10 September, 2018.  

CONFIDENTIALITY 

During the 2018-19 financial year, the Board considered reports of a confidential nature at one 
meeting where it was necessary to exclude the public from discussion. The table below identifies 
the grounds on which the Board made this determination 

 

 
Local Government Act 1999 Description 

90(3)(d) Information relating to commercial information 
of a confidential nature (not being a trade secret) 

Number of 
times used 

 
1 

 
 

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 

No requests were received under the Freedom of Information Act during the 2018-19 financial year 

STAFFING STRUCTURE 

ERA Water appointed Robin English as General Manager on a fixed term contract, 
commencing on 10 September, 2018. 

Apart from the General Manager, no other staff were appointed by ERA Water during the 
year. 
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The Town of Walkerville continued to provide ERA Water with financial, administrative and 
Board secretarial support functions and services throughout the 2018-19 financial year. 

The City of Burnside provided accounting and IT support during the year.   

The City of Norwood Payneham & St Peters provided office accommodation for the General 
Manager. 

\
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FY2019 BUDGET and LONG TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 

The Budget FY2018-19 and Long Term Financial Plan (LTFP) for ERA Water were adopted by the 
Constituent Councils.  

CHARTER 

The Charter for ERA Water was approved by the Minister for Local Government on 21 July 2015. The 
Charter sets out the responsibilities of ERA Water including its governance, financials and its 
responsibilities to the Constituent Councils. 

FINANCE AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The ERA Water Audit Committee held three meetings in the 2018-19 financial year. The work of 
the Committee over the past financial year has included reviewing ERA Water’s audited 
Financial Statements, reviewing the draft Budget and Long Term Financial Plan, providing 
recommendations on financial and accounting policy matters, and considering external audit 
matters. 

The Audit Committee Members in 2018-19 were:  Meetings Attended 

• Corinne Garrett (Chairperson)     2 

• Peter Holmes (resigned 29 May, 2019)    3 

• Roberto Bria        2 

• Bryan Jenkins (appointed 22 August, 2018)    3 

  

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Audited Financial Statements for the year ending the 30 June 2019 are provided in the annual 
report below and show an Operating Deficit of $                and Total Council Equity of $                     

It became clear during the year that, as a result of very much dryer than average rainfall during 
the winter of 2018, and a lower than designed injection capacity, there would be a need for the 
Project to secure increased financing to enable it to continue in operation, until average rainfall 
returned and injection capacity could be improved to the design requirements. 

Insufficient injection capacity resulted from the low yield produced by one of the five bores 
required in the design of the scheme, and constructed downstream of lower Portrush Road. It 
was initially hoped that the four successful bores would provide sufficient injection capacity to 
avoid the additional expense of a replacement bore. This proved not to be the case.  

Board approval was therefore requested to increase to the funding financing available to ERAW, 
should it be required, by $2.3 million, and this was provided by the 30th April, 2019. Funding will 
be drawn down as and when required.
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PROJECT 

CONSTRUCTION 

Construction of the Project is complete and the commissioning phase commenced on 30 
November, 2018, with a ceremony celebrating the first water provided by the Project to a 
customer and used to irrigate Levi Park at Walkerville. 

There are still a number of connections to customers irrigation points to be provided. The 
provision of these connections was delayed by insufficient water harvesting during the extremely 
dry winter of 2018. It became economically efficient to delay provision of the connections to the 
winter of 2019.  

OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE 

Engineering management of the Project has been performed by Walbridge Gilbert Aztec, the 
Project’s designers, for a number of years, including 2019, Operations by Guidera O’Connor and 
Landscaping by LCS Landscaping. The term contracts of all of these contractors had expired by the 
end of the year and the negotiation of future arrangements with them was well advanced. New 
contractual arrangements are expected to be concluded early in the new financial year. They 
continue to provide services under interim arrangements. 

The performance of the Project continues to improve and in the event of increased rainfall, will 
improve further. At the end of the financial year 193.1 ML of water had been harvested at the 
Projects two intakes, 101.5 ML had been treated to the required standard and injected into the 
aquifer and 23.4 ML had been provided to the Constituent Councils for irrigation. The current 
winter harvest season is being constrained by a late start to the rains and high turbidity of initial 
streamflows. 

It will be clear from references to low winter rains in 2018, and a late start to rains in 2019, that 
the establishment of a plume of stored water in the aquifer is not as advanced as it was planned 
to be by year end. As water becomes available, every effort will be made to improve the position. 

It is pleasing to report that the establishment of the Felixstow Wetland as part of the Project, 
jointly funded by the Project and the City of Norwood Payneham and St Peters, has been a great 
success. It was opened on the 10th February, 2019, and has provided greatly improved amenity 
for both residents in the area and those who visit from elsewhere. It is a wonderful example of 
the benefits that projects such as this can provide. Significantly, it is operating to design 
specifications and admirably performing its tasks of cleaning raw water for injection. 
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RAINFALL DATA 
 
In view of the dependence of the project upon rainfall, average rainfall for Adelaide, and actual 
rainfall in the eighteen months to 30th June 2019, has been provided below. 

 
The following rainfall figures have been taken from the Bureau of Meteorology’s weather station at 
Kent Town. 

 
Rainfall Adelaide   

2018 Jan Feb Mar April May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Total     
Mean 
rainfall 
(mm)  

20.1 15.5 26.4 38.2 61.5 77.5 77.5 68.1 58.7 41.4 29.9 28.9 543.7 40 1977 
2018   

2018 7.2 5.8 5.8 22.2 67.8 54.8 67.8 82.6 23.2 21.8 48.6 19.8 427.4     

2019 Jan Feb Mar April May Jun            
Mean 
rainfall 
(mm)  

20.1 15.5 26.4 38.2 61.5 77.5         1977 
2018 

 
 

2019 0.0 9.0 8.2 5.4 87.4 82.6           
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285000

PORT  ADELAIDE ENFIELD

PROSPECT
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SSTTOORRMMWWAATTEERR  HHAARRVVEESSTTIINNGG  Stormwater is harvested from Third and Fourth Creeks 

F
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TTRREEAATTMMEENNTT  OOFF  SSTTOORRMMWWAATTEERR Stormwater is treated through wetlands and biofilters 
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RREETTIICCUULLAATTIIOONN  OOFF  RREECCOOVVEERREEDD  WWAATTEERR  Recovered water is pumped through a pipeline 
network to Council reserves 
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ssyysstteemm  ooff  CCoouunncciill  rreesseerrvveess  iinn  ppllaaccee  ooff  ppoottaabbllee  wwaatteerr  
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General Purpose Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2019 
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The Corporation of the Town of Walkerville
The City of Norwood, Payneham and St Peters
The City of Burnside
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ERA Water Regional Subsidiary

General Purpose Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2019

Certification of Financial Statements

We have been authorised by ERA Water Regional Subsidiary to certify the financial statements in their final form.

In our opinion:

 the accompanying financial statements comply with the Local Government Act 1999 , Local 
Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011  and Australian Accounting Standards,

 the financial statements present a true and fair view of ERA Water Regional Subsidiary's financial position at 30 June
2019 and the results of its operations and cash flows for the financial year,

 internal controls implemented by ERA Water Regional Subsidiary provide a reasonable assurance that ERA Water Regional 
Subsidiary's financial records are complete, accurate and reliable and were effective throughout the financial year,

 the financial statements accurately reflect ERA Water Regional Subsidiary's accounting and other records.

Robin English Bryan Jenkins
General Manager Chairperson

Date: 
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ERA Water Regional Subsidiary

Statement of Comprehensive Income
 for the year ended 30 June 2019

$

Income
User Charges
Grants, Subsidies and Contributions
Investment Income
Reimbursements

Total Income

Expenses
Employee Costs
Materials, Contracts & Other Expenses
Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairment
Finance Costs

Total Expenses

Operating Surplus / (Deficit)

Amounts Received Specifically for New or Upgraded Assets

Net Surplus / (Deficit) 

Total Comprehensive Income

2b

Notes

2a

2019

3c

2c

3a

616,5513b

2b

25,860

265,701

-

2018

43,223110,407

180,626

-

(1,037,391)     

(1,037,391)     

(205,267)   

1,254,466

(1,037,391)     (205,267)   

207,383

2,116

(205,267)   

-

-

261,806

217,075

164,160

-

10,589 2,116

3d

-
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Statement of Financial Position
 for the year ended 30 June 2019

$

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Trade & Other Receivables
Subtotal
Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets
Other Non-Current Assets
Total Non-Current Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Trade & Other Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Subtotal
Total Current Liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES
Net Assets

EQUITY
Accumulated Surplus

Total Council Equity

13,000,000
6
6

20,919,166

4a

20,919,166

21,156,303

237,137

8,960,639

170,795

11,842,300

20,783,106

20,802,939  

20,783,106

13,233,055
13,233,055

6 (4,102)
11,668,166

11,842,300
3,339

11,842,300  

8,960,639

8,960,639

2019

19,833

2018

10,316
9,517

19,833
206,522
237,137

4b

30,615

Notes

237,157

7,923,248      

13,233,055

7,923,248

7,923,248      

5
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ERA Water Regional Subsidiary

Statement of Changes in Equity
 for the year ended 30 June 2019

Asset
Accumulated Revaluation Other Total

$ Notes Surplus Reserve Reserves Equity

Balance at the end of previous reporting period 8,960,638            -                  -                  8,960,638      
Restated Opening Balance 8,960,638            -                  -                  8,960,638      

a. Net Surplus / (Deficit) for Year (1,037,391)           -                  -                  (1,037,391)     

b. Other Comprehensive Income -                           -                  -                  -                     
Other Comprehensive Income -                           -                  -                  -                     

Total Comprehensive Income (1,037,391)           -                  -                  (1,037,391)     

c. Transfers between Reserves -                           -                  -                  -                     
Balance at the end of period 7,923,248            -                  -                  7,923,248      
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Statement of Cash Flows
 for the year ended 30 June 2019

$

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts
User Charges
Investment Receipts
Reibursements
Other Receipts

Payments
Payments to Employees
Payments for Materials, Contracts & Other Expenses
Finance Payments

Net Cash provided by (or used in) Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Receipts
Amounts Received Specifically for New/Upgraded Assets
Payments
Expenditure on New/Upgraded Assets

Net Cash provided by (or used in) Investing Activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Receipts
Proceeds from Borrowings
Net Cash provided by (or used in) Financing Activities

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash Held

plus: Cash & Cash Equivalents at beginning of period

Cash & Cash Equivalents at end of period

Total Cash, Cash Equivalents & Investments

- -
10,589

Notes 2019 2018

10,280
2,116

-

(117,848) (39,884)
(558,864)

- 977,503

(684,085)
(253,132) -

(908,975) 255,650

(401,760) (2,910,586)

7 (401,760) (2,910,586)

1,331,834 2,650,000
1,331,834 2,650,000

21,099 (4,936)

7 9,516 14,451

30,615 9,516

7 30,615 9,516
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ERA Water Regional Subsidiary

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2019

Contents of the Notes accompanying the Financial Statements

Details

Significant Accounting Policies
Income
Expenses
Current Assets
Cash & Cash Equivalents
Trade & Other Receivables
Non-Current Assets
Other Non-Current Assets
Liabilities
Trade & Other Payables
Borrowings

Reconciliation to Statement of Cashflows
Financial Instruments
Uniform Presentation of Finances
Contingencies & Assets/Liabilities Not Recognised in the Balance Sheet
Events After the Balance Sheet Date
Expenditure Commitments
Related Party Transactions 1813

17

17
17

10

12
11

Page

13

1

Note

3

124a

8

12

2 11
11

9
158
16

6a

7 14

6b 13

4b 12

5
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
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ERA Water Regional Subsidiary

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
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ERA Water Regional Subsidiary

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
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ERA Water Regional Subsidiary

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 2. Income

$

(a). User Charges

Sale of water
Total User Charges

(b). Investment Income

Interest on Investments
 - Local Government Finance Authority
LGFA distribution
LGAAMF distribution
Total Investment Income

(c). Reimbursements

Reserve connections to be reimbursed by Constituent Councils
Total Reimbursements

Note 3. Expenses

(a). Employee Costs

Salaries and Wages
Movement in Leave Provision
Superannuation
Total Operating Employee Costs

(b). Materials, Contracts and Other Expenses

Auditor's Remuneration
 - Auditing the Financial Reports
Electricity
Insurance
Maintenance
Professional Services
Connection costs (to be reimbursed)
Other
Total Materials, Contracts and Other Expenses

(c). Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairment

Water Assets
Total Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairment

(d). Finance Costs

Interest on Overdraft and Short-Term Drawdown
Total Finance Costs

5,300

-

261,806 -
261,806 -

-

180,626
54,913 67,056

265,701
265,701

180,626

616,551

34,013

44,020 40,050

9,909 3,504
43,223

3,800

110,407

74,115 53,254
223,565 -

41

25,860 -

2018Notes 2019

-

-
2,116

25,860

-
8,604
1,944

104,805

10,589 2,116

-

180,626 -

(4,307) 2,839
36,881

164,160

-
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ERA Water Regional Subsidiary

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2019

$

Note 4. Current Assets

(a). Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash on Hand at Bank
Total Cash & Cash Equivalents

(b). Trade & Other Receivables

Trade debtors
Reimbursement of capital connection costs
GST Recoupment
Subtotal

Total Trade & Other Receivables

Notes 2019 2018

30,615 9,517
30,615 9,517

7,834 -

10,316
198,688 -

206,522 10,316

206,522 10,316
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ERA Water Regional Subsidiary

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 6. Liabilities

$

(a). Trade and Other Payables

Trade and Other Payables
Accrued Expenses - Finance Costs
Accrued Expenses - Salaries
Accrued Expenses - Other
Total Trade and Other Payables

(b). Borrowings

Loans
Total Borrowings

(c). Provisions

Employee Entitlements (including oncosts)
Total Provisions

Note 7. Reconciliation to Statement of Cash Flows

$

(a). Reconciliation of Cash

Cash Assets comprise highly liquid investments with short periods to
maturity subject to insignificant risk of changes of value. Cash at the
end of the reporting period as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows
is reconciled to the related items in the Balance Sheet as follows:

Total Cash & Equivalent Assets
Balances per Statement of Cash Flows

(b). Reconciliation of Change in Net Assets to Cash
       from Investing Activities

Net Surplus/(Deficit)
Non-Cash Items in Income Statements
  Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairment
 Net increase (decrease) in unpaid employee benefits

Add (Less): Changes in Net Current Assets
  Net (Increase)/Decrease in Receivables
  Net Increase/(Decrease) in Trade & Other Payables
Net Cash provided by (or used in) operations

(c). Financing Arrangements

Unrestricted access was available at balance date to the 
following lines of credit:

LGFA Cash Advance Debenture Facility
Undrawn balance 2,300,000 1,331,834

15,300,000 13,000,000

Current
2019 20182018

Non Current Current

42,840-

- 170,795

-

-

Notes
2019

-

13,000,000  

(4,102) 3,339

237,157

13,000,000 11,668,166-

57,713

- 5,269
113,652 -

17,709

- 3,339

-65,792

-

(4,102)

-

-

11,668,166

Non Current

-

-

-

-
104,978 -

-

(908,975) 255,651
66,362

977,503

2019 2018

9,517

(516,585)

(7,442) -
(779,131) (205,267)

(196,207)

9,517

265,701 -

30,615

(1,037,391) (205,267)

30,615
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ERA Water Regional Subsidiary

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 8. Financial Instruments

$

2019
Financial Assets
Cash & Equivalents
Receivables
Total Financial Assets

Financial Liabilities
Payables
Current Borrowings
Total Financial Liabilities

$

2018
Financial Assets
Cash & Equivalents
Receivables
Total Financial Assets

Financial Liabilities
Payables
Current Borrowings
Total Financial Liabilities

The following interest rates were applicable
to Council's Borrowings at balance date:

Other Variable Rates

Financial Liabilities

Net Fair Value

Risk Exposures

11,833,229

Carrying
Value

13,000,000

< 1 year & ≤ 5 years

-

Weighted Avg Weighted Avg

11,833,229

11,668,1663.60%

30 June 2019

30,615 30,615

237,137 237,137

11,668,166
165,063

-

Due > 1 year

11,668,166 -

19,833

30 June 2018

--

ValueInterest Rate
Carrying

Interest Rate

11,833,229

- 19,833 19,833

11,668,166

-

165,063

237,137
206,522

- 165,063

- -

- 9,517 9,517

Cash Flows

- 206,522

Due

-

-

10,316

13,000,000
229,442

-

206,522 -

13,229,442 13,229,442

11,668,16613,000,000
3.35% 13,000,000

< 1 year
Due

> 5 years

-

-

CarryingDue > 1 year

-
9,517

Total Contractual

229,442

10,316

229,442
13,000,000 -

10,316

Due
& ≤ 5 years

13,229,442

ValuesCash Flows

-

> 5 years Values
Due Total Contractual

30,615 -

Carrying

Financial liabilities do not include employee benefits such as wages payable, superanuation payable, or income tax withheld.

All carrying values approximate fair value for all recognised financial instruments. There is no recognised market for the financial assets 
of the ERA Water.

Credit Risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counterparties fail to perform as contracted. The maximum credit risk on 
financial assets of ERA Water is the carrying amount, net of any allowance for doubtful debts. All ERA Water investments are made 
with the SA Local Government Finance Authority and are guaranteed by the SA Government.

Market Risk is the risk that fair values of financial assets will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices. All of ERA Water's
 financial assets are denominated in Australian dollars and are not traded on any market, and hence neither market risk nor currency 
risk apply.

Liquidity Risk is the risk that ERA Water will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations with financial liabilities. In accordance with
 the model Treasury Mangement Policy (LGA Information Paper 15), liabilities have a range of maturity dates. ERA Water also has 
available a borrowing facility that it can access.

Interest Rate Risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. At the balance date,
 ERA Water has only variable interest rate borrowings and investments. Subsequent to balance date, the ERA Water board resolved to fix a 
portionof its existin det balance on fixed term rates to reduce its exposure to interest rate risk.
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ERA Water Regional Subsidiary

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 9. Uniform Presentation of Finances

$

Income 2,116
less  Expenses (207,383)
Operating Surplus / (Deficit) (205,267)

less Net Outlays on Existing Assets
 Capital Expenditure on Renewal and Replacement of Existing Assets
less  Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairment
less  Proceeds from Sale of Replaced Assets
Subtotal

less  Net Outlays on New and Upgraded Assets

 less Amounts Received Specifically for New and Upgraded Assets

Subtotal (2,910,586)
Net Lending / (Borrowing) for Financial Year (2,910,586)

Note 10. Contingencies & Assets/Liabilities Not Recognised in the Balance Sheet

POTENTIAL INSURANCE LOSSES

Note 11. Events after the Balance Sheet Date

Accordingly, the authorised for issue date is 31 August 2019.

ERA Water is unaware of any material or significant "non adjusting events" that should be disclosed.

Events that occur after the reporting date of 30 June 2019, up to and including the date when the financial statements are "authorised 
for issue" have been taken into account in preparing these statements.

ERA Water has adopted the date of receipt of the Auditors' Report as the appropriate "authorised for issue" date relating to these
 General Purpose Financial Statements.

The following assets and liabilities do not qualify for recognition in the Balance Sheet, but knowledge is considered relevant to the
 users of the financial report in making and evaluating decisions about the allocation of scarce resources.

ERA Water insures against known insurable risks using a range of insurance policies, each of which is subject to deductable
 "insurance excesses", the amount of which varies according to the class of insurance. ERA Water is not aware of any such insurance 
claims at the reporting date. Other potential claims not reported to ERA Water may have existed at reporting date.

The following is a high level summary of both operating and capital investment activities of ERA Water prepared on a simplified Uniform 
Presentation Framework basis. All Councils and subsidiaries in South Australia have agreed to summarise annual budgets and long-
term financial plans on the same basis.

217,075
(988,765)

(265,701)

(771,690)

-

2018

(1,173,450)
(136,059)

2019

-
(265,701)

-

 Capital Expenditure on New and Upgraded Assets 
(including Investment Property & Real Estate Developments)

less  Proceeds from Sale of Surplus Assets 
(including Investment Property & and Real Estate Developments)

(136,059)

-

-

(2,910,586)

-
-
-

-

-
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ERA Water Regional Subsidiary

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 12. Expenditure Commitments

Capital Commitments

Other Expenditure Commitments
Completion Date

June 2020
June 2020
June 2020

Note 13. Related Party Transactions

Key Management Personnel

Transactions with Key Management Personel

Compensation paid to Key Management Personnel during the financial year:

Kiki Magro, Geoff Vogt and John Minney received $nil compensation from ERA Water.

Transactions with related parties:

Amounts received from related parties:

During June 2018, ERA Water awarded a tender for the provision of reserve connections with an estimated capital value of $395,418 
(including contracted Project Management costs of $33,585).  These connections are expected to be installed between July 2019 and 
December 2019.  

Town of Walkerville provided ERA Water with Board and Audit Committee secretarial support and Bookkeeping / Accounting services 
for part of the financial year. 
City of Norwood Payneham & St Peters provided furnished office accommodation for ERA Water General Manager for the whole of the finacial 
year. 
City of Burnside funded part of the cost of bookkeeping and finacial management support provided to ERA Water by a 3rd party.

Brian Maguire received employment entitlements to the value of $37,385 in relation to his role as General Manager
of ERA Water.

117,175
15,000

195,184

The Key Management Personnel of the Authority include Robin English (General Manager) and the members of the ERA Water Board 
including:
- Bryan Jenkins (Chairperson)
- Kiki Magro (Chief Executive - Corporation of the Town of Walkerville)
- John Minney (Councillor - City of Norwood, Payneham and St Peters)
- Geoff Vogt (Independent Member representing the City of Burnside)

Robin English received employment entitlements to the value of $72,692 in relation to his role as General Manager of ERA Water.

Bryan Jenkins earned $12,000 in relation to his role as Chairperson of ERA Water during FY2019.

The Related Parties disclosed below are equity owners of the Authority and are referred to as Member Councils. Member Councils 
have representation on the Board of the Authority and accordingly have significant influence on the financial and operating decisions of 
the Authority. No one Member Council individually has control of those policies.

The following amounts were outstanding from member coucils relating to reserve connections as at 30 June 2019:
City of Burnside  - $91,289
Town of Walkerville - $46,166
City of Norwood Payneham & St Peters - $69,068
Total - $206,522.41

Remaining contract

Scheme operations and commissioning
Wetland maintenance
Project Management and scheme optimisation
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ERA Water Regional Subsidiary

General Purpose Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2019

Certification of Auditor Independence

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we confirm that, for the purpose of the audit of ERA Water Regional Subsidiary
for the year ended 30 June 2019, the Council’s Auditor, Dean Newbery and Partners has maintained its independence in
accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 1999  and the Local Government (Financial
Management) Regulations 2011  made under that Act

This statement is prepared in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 22(3) Local Government
(Financial Management) Regulations 2011.

Robin English Corinne Garrett
General Manager Presiding Member, Audit Committee
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ERA Water Regional Subsidiary

General Purpose Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2019

Statement by Auditor

I confirm that, for the audit of the financial statements of ERA Water Regional Subsidiary for the year ended 30 June
2019, I have maintained my independence in accordance with the requirements of APES 110 – Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants, Section 290, published by the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards
Board, in accordance with the Local Government Act 1999  and the Local Government (Financial Management)
Regulations 2011  made under that Act

This statement is prepared in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 22 (5) Local Government
(Financial Management) Regulations 2011 .

Samantha Creten
Dean Newbery and Partners

Dated this            day of                                      2019.
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The residents and 
ratepayers of its five 
Constituent Councils 
have continued to 
benefit directly and 
indirectly from the 
impressive operations 
of EHA.
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The Eastern Health Authority (EHA) has upheld its high standards  
within the Public Health sector over the past year.

The residents and ratepayers of its five Constituent Councils  
(the Cities of Burnside, Campbelltown, Norwood, Payneham 
and St Peters, Prospect and the Town of Walkerville) have 
continued to benefit directly and indirectly from the impressive 
operations of EHA.

It has been a dynamic year for the immunisation branch with 
improvements to the online booking system and promotional 
campaigns. These progressive changes combined with a 
dangerous influenza season, generated an unprecedented 
demand in our many public clinics. An additional 1,692 influenza 
vaccines were provided from February to June compared to the 
same period the previous year. The highest proportion of this 
increase in demand was from children up to the age of five.

The unique structure of EHA affords its residents and  
ratepayers involvement in important public health initiatives. 
During the reporting period EHA completed a two-year 
Meningococcal B Vaccine Herd Immunity study in partnership 
with The University of Adelaide and Department of Health and 
Wellbeing, the results of which contributed to the vaccine being 
placed on the SA Immunisation Schedule.

An expansion in the School Immunisation Program in 2019 with 
the addition of State and Federally funded Meningococcal B 
and ACWY doubled the number of school visits in the last six 
months of the financial year to 82 visits. In addition, changes to 
the National Immunisation Program schedule in July 2018 and 
October 2018 included improved access to protection against 
meningococcal, pneumococcal and Haemophilus influenzae 
type b diseases.

It has been a prolific year for the public and environmental health 
branch of EHA. Salmonella and eggs continues to be a national 
and state focus for the food safety agenda. EHA was an active 
participant with the state Food Safety and Culture Eggs project 
working group. This project is one that continues to ensure 
EHA excels on the health protection stage, whilst addressing 
Australia’s Foodborne Illness Reduction Strategy 2018-2021. 
EHA continues its present education and promotion strategy for 
safe food processing and raw egg handling practices during all 
routine food safety inspections at local food businesses.

Food safety auditing and food safety plans for organisations that 
serve food to vulnerable people remains an exceptional service 
that EHA provides to food businesses within its constituent 
council areas as well as other council areas.

Hoarding and squalor continues to be a delicate matter to 
manage for EHA. These issues often involve vulnerable people 
that are socially isolated. EHA has a leading role with a cross 
government and non-government eastern hoarding and squalor 
working group to address the symptoms not only the resulting 
effects of hoarding and squalor. Through this collaborative 
approach EHA has witnessed a greater success rate and 
improved health outcomes for these vulnerable people, as  
well as improvement in public health.

I am thankful for the ongoing support EHA receives from  
its community, much of the feedback received is for its 
vaccination services which it engages directly. Its other  
services are generally overlooked but so essential so that  
the community maintains its trust in local food businesses, 
public pools, beauty and hairdressing salons.

Cr Peter Cornish 
Chairperson
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With a single focus and a 
team of highly specialised 
and experienced staff, EHA 
is well-equipped to deal 
with the increasing diversity 
and complexity of public 
and environmental health.

5,712 clients attended public 
vaccine clinics

2018-19

4,442 vaccines administered 
in the workplace

1,950 food safety 
inspections completed
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Eastern Health Authority (EHA) has a proud history of promoting  
and enforcing public health standards in Adelaide’s eastern and  
inner northern suburbs.

Continuing in the tradition of the East Torrens County Board, 
which operated from 1899, the present day regional subsidiary 
protects the health and wellbeing of about 160,000 residents 
plus visitors. EHA is an excellent example of council shared 
service delivery.

Established under the Local Government Act (1999),  
EHA works across our Constituent Council areas to  
improve public and environmental health standards.

• City of Burnside

• Campbelltown City Council

• City of Norwood, Payneham and St Peters (NPSP)

• City of Prospect 

• Corporation of the Town of Walkerville 

With a single focus and a team of highly specialised  
and experienced staff, EHA is well-equipped to deal  
with the increasing diversity and complexity of public  
and environmental health.

During 2018-19 EHA discharged the environmental health 
responsibilities of its five Constituent Councils under the  
South Australian (SA) Public Health Act 2011, Food Act  
2001, and Supported Residential Facilities Act 1992.

Services include the provision of immunisation services, hygiene 
and sanitation control, licensing and monitoring of supported 
residential facilities and monitoring of food safety standards, 
including inspection of food premises. Immunisation services 
are provided to the City of Unley on a user-pays basis. 

About Eastern  
Health Authority
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Environmental health 
protection is fundamental 
to public health. 
Improvements in sanitation, 
drinking water quality, 
disease control, housing 
conditions and food safety 
have been central to the 
significant improvement 
in quality of life and life 
expectancy experienced 
over the last hundred years.
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Our community is generally not aware that their local 
council provides them with a vast range of services let alone 
environmental health protection services. Environmental health 
protection is fundamental to public health. Improvements in 
sanitation, drinking water quality, disease control, housing 
conditions and food safety have been central to the significant 
improvement in quality of life and life expectancy experienced 
over the last hundred years.

These improvements have come through the provision of 
vaccination programs, monitoring of food and drinking  
water to ensure their safety, appropriate sewage disposal  
and a range of other environmental health measures.

Many people would not be aware that their local council 
monitors and inspects food premises, investigates food 
poisoning and legionella outbreaks, monitors the water  
quality of public pools and vaccinate their babies and their 
children at school.

As an organisation whose purpose is to provide these health 
protection services to more than 160,000 members of the 
community who live within the footprint of our Constituent 
Councils, one of our greatest challenges is that we remain 
largely invisible to the communities we serve. While this 
invisibility may pose a challenge, the best environmental  
health protection is in fact invisible. It is the vaccine preventable 
disease you didn’t contract, the food poisoning you did not  
get or the legionella outbreak that didn’t occur.

The most effective way to protect children and adults from 
harmful infectious diseases is through immunisation with an 
estimated three million lives worldwide being saved each year 
by this public health intervention. While vaccine preventable 
diseases are uncommon today in Australia due to the 
success of immunisation programs, there are constant media 
reminders of outbreaks, illness and death that still occur in our 
communities. This important local government service keeps 
our community healthy and saves lives by contributing to herd 
immunity and disease reduction.

EHA’s accessible public immunisation clinics remain extremely 
popular with 5,712 clients being provided 9,764 vaccines, an 
increase of 38% over the last two years. The peak of flu season 
was particularly challenging this year, with demand incredibly 
high and vaccines in limited supply.

In addition, 8,500 vaccines were provided to students attending 
high schools located in our area. The vaccine coverage rate at 
our schools continues to be above the state average which is 
a reflection of the quality and professional service delivered to 
high schools.

Our worksite immunisation program saw almost 4,500 people 
vaccinated against influenza, which not only improves the  
health of the community but assist business with an increase  
in productivity through reduced illness.

As consumers, we all have the right to expect that the food we 
eat is protected from microbiological contamination, foreign 
matter and poor hygiene and handling practices. One of 
EHA’s most important roles is to monitor food safety in food 
premises to ensure that food safety hazards are under control, 
procedures are being correctly implemented and food safety 
compliance is followed.

Almost 2,000 food safety inspections were conducted in the 
reporting period which resulted in a range of enforcement 
actions as detailed in the body of the report. While EHA has a 
balanced approach to food safety enforcement preferring to 
work with business where we can, there were still occasions 
when it was necessary to issue prohibition orders to close 
business for periods of time to protect the public.

Responding to incidences of severe domestic squalor that  
pose substantial health and safety risks to people residing in  
the affected premises, as well as others in the community 
continues to be a challenge.

EHA regularly is the lead organisation in a ‘person focused’ 
collaborative approach to resolving hoarding and squalor and 
other related public health complaints. Where possible we lead 
a multi-agency approach to complex, challenging and sensitive 
issues that requires further investigation into the causes. EHA 
prides itself on going beyond the legislative requirements to 
achieve an outcome which minimises the reoccurrence of  
the issue.

It has been yet another extremely busy year for EHA. I am 
extremely proud of the high-quality public health protection 
work outlined in this report which significantly contributes to 
the invisible public outcomes I talked about earlier. This work is 
undertaken by talented and dedicated staff who all contribute 
to a high-quality service and delivering positive public health 
outcomes. I sincerely thank all staff for their efforts over the year. 
Thanks also to the Board of Management for their interest in 
public health and for continuing to be incredibly supportive  
and enthusiastic about the work we do on behalf of their 
respective councils.

Michael Livori 
Chief Executive Officer
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Board of Management 2019

EHA is a body corporate, 
governed by a Board of 
Management comprised 
of two members from each 
Constituent Council. The 
Board met six times during 
the year to consider EHA’s 
business.
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Board of Management 2019

City of Burnside
 

 
 
 
 

Cr Peter Cornish (Chair)

Attendance 

Magnus Heinrich

Attendance 

Nov 2018 – July 2019

Campbelltown City Council
 

 
 
 
 

Cr John Kennedy 

Attendance 

Michelle Hammond

Attendance 

Dec 2018 – June 2019

Corporation of the Town of Walkerville

 
 
 
 
 

Andreea Caddy

July 2019 – Present

Cr Jennifer Joshi

Attendance 

Nov 2018 – June 2019

City of Norwood Payneham & St Peters
 

 
 
 
 

Cr Sue Whitington (Deputy Chair)

Attendance 

Chair from July 2018 to Nov 2018

Cr Garry Knoblauch

Attendance 

City of Prospect

 
 
 
 
 

Cr Kristina Barnett

Attendance 

Nathan Cunningham

Attendance 

Nov 2018 – June 2019

Previous Board members

City of Burnside Attendance

Cr Anne Monceaux July 2018 – Nov 2018

Campbelltown City Council

Cr Marika Ryan July 2018 – Nov 2018

City of Prospect

Cr Talis Evans July 2018 – Nov 2018

Corporation of the Town of Walkerville

Cr David Shetliffe July 2018 – Nov 2018

Cr MaryLou Bishop July 2018 – Nov 2018

Mark Kwiatkowski Nov 2018 – Dec 2018
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Finance Audit Committee
In accordance with the requirements of the Local Government 
Act 1999, EHA has established an Audit Committee.

Functions of the Audit Committee include: liaising with external 
auditors; reviewing annual financial statements; reviewing 
the adequacy of accounting; reporting and other financial 
management systems including numerous financial and 
governance policies.

Members of EHA’s Audit Committee are Lisa Scinto (Presiding 
Member), Claudia Goldsmith (Independent Member), from July 
to November 2018 Cr Talis Evans (Board Appointed Member) 
and from February to June 2019 Cr Peter Cornish (Board 
Appointed Member). The Committee held three meetings  
during the reporting period. 

Annual Business Plan
EHA develops an Annual Business Plan to establish strategic 
directions and measures to assess its performance. The core 
activities are undertaken to deliver the objectives of the plan  
as detailed in this report. 

Structure and Staffing
EHA comprises three functional areas – environmental health, 
immunisation and administration. The administration team, 
led by the Chief Executive Officer, supports the activities 
of the environmental health and immunisation teams. The 
Team Leader of Environmental Health and Team Leader of 
Administration and Immunisation have responsibilities for 
achieving the Annual Business Plan objectives relevant to  
their functional area. 

Staffing as at 30 June 2019 comprised a total of 28 employees 
(18 FTE).

Financial Statements
The Audited Financial Statements for the year ending  
30 June 2019 are provided on page 29. They show an 
Operating Surplus of $24,109.

Constituent Councils

Board of Management

Chief Executive Officer

Environmental Health
FTE 9

Immunisation FTE 4.1
Administration FTE 4.9

Audit Committee

CEO Performance Review Committee

1111GovernanceEHA Annual Report 18/19
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Immunisation is a safe 
and effective way of 
preventing the spread 
of infectious disease 
in the community.
The immunisation team 
provides a comprehensive, 
specialised and convenient 
immunisation service to the 
residents of its Constituent 
Councils.
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Immunisation Services provided  
by EHA are delivered at:

Public Immunisation Clinics,  
School Immunisation Programs and 
Workplace Influenza programs. 

As demonstrated in Figure 1, peak demand for immunisation 
services is between March and June due to the timing of the 
School Immunisation Program and demand for the Influenza 
vaccine in Public Clinics and Workplace Influenza Programs. 

Jul 18 Aug 18 Sep 18 Oct 18 Nov 18 Dec 18 Jan 19 Feb 19 Mar 19 Apr 19 May 19 Jun 19

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

Men B Study Vaccines Workplace VaccinesSIP VaccinesClinic Vaccines

Figure 1: The combined demand for all immunisation services over the last year
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Public Immunisation Clinics

A total of 5,712 clients were provided with 9,764 vaccinations. This 
represents an increase of 847 clients (17%) in comparison to 2017-18 
(Figure 2) and a 38% increase in comparison to 2016-17. 

Changes to the National Immunisation Program from the 1 July 
2018 saw a change in timing of vaccines and the addition of the 
Meningococcal ACWY vaccine to the schedule for infants. 

In April 2019 the Meningococcal ACWY vaccine was also 
added to the schedule for adolescents (15-19) who have not 
been offered the vaccine at school.

A South Australian specific change in October 2018 saw 
Meningococcal B vaccine now being offered to children aged  
6 weeks to 12 months. In addition a short term catch up 
program for children aged 12 months to less than 4 years of 
age is being offered for the period 1 October 2018 through  
to the end of 2019. 

These changes combined with the high demand for influenza 
vaccines contributed to the increased number of clients and 
vaccines administered.

From April to June 2019, EHA experienced an extremely high 
demand for the influenza vaccine and public clinic client  
and vaccine numbers increased dramatically as indicated  
in Figure 2 and 3. 

EHA’s website continues to be a popular accessible resource 
for up-to-date information on immunisation, particularly during 
flu season. We have focused on improving the customer 
experience with our online appointment system which has 
translated into a 113% increase in use.

EHA offers residents of our Constituent Councils the unique 
benefit of being able to attend any of our five venues,  
providing flexibility on timetable and location options.  
Table 2 demonstrates an appreciation of this service option.

Figure 2 – Client attendance at public immunisation clinics for the last three years
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Table 2 – The number of clients per council area and their choice of clinic venue during 2018-19

Where clients reside 
(council area)

Where clients attended clinic (venue by %)

Total %
Number of clients  

(from council area)Burnside Campbelltown NPSP Prospect* Walkerville Unley

Burnside 21% 4% 65% 0% 2% 8% 100% 1,114
Campbelltown 4% 28% 63% 0% 2% 4% 100% 1,422
NPSP 3% 5% 83% 0% 4% 5% 100% 1,429
Prospect 5% 2% 79% 0% 12% 1% 100% 329
Walkerville 0% 4% 69% 0% 24% 3% 100% 275
Unley 6% 1% 30% 0% 1% 63% 100% 721
Other 3% 9% 42% 0% 6% 40% 100% 422
Total Number of Clients  5,712
* The City of Prospect clinic was temporarily relocated to our St Peters venue from January 2018 due to the redevelopment of the Prospect Civic Centre.  

We look forward to relocating this clinic back to the redeveloped space in the next reporting period.

5,712

9,764

2,815

clients attended 
vaccine clinics

17% increase from 2017-18

19% increase from 2017-18

60% increase from 2017-18

vaccines  
administered

flu vaccines 
administered

2018-19Figure 3 – The number of seasonal Flu vaccines 
administered over the last 3 years

2016-17

777

1,123

2,815

2017-18 2018-19
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School Immunisation 

EHA visited high schools in the area to deliver the annual School 
Immunisation Program (SIP) and the second and final year of the 
Meningococcal B Vaccine Herd Immunity Study (the study).

During 2018, 74 visits were made to 19 high schools where a 
total of 8,500 vaccines were administered to Year 8, 11 and 12 
students and swabs were taken as part of the study.

EHA staff are proud to have worked in partnership with SA 
Health and the University of Adelaide to complete the study, 
the largest of its kind globally, which was to assess the herd 
immunity impact of the Meningococcal B vaccine. 

The results of the study will assist Australian and International 
Authorities in making policy decisions in relation to the future 
implementation of Meningococcal B vaccine programs.

FIgure 4 demonstrates how the SIP vaccine coverage rates 
compared to the State average in 2018. 

Table 3 – The number of vaccines administered and throat swabs taken in 2018

Council Human  
Papillomavirus

Diphtheria  
Tetanus Pertussis

Meningococcal B 2018  
Total Vaccines

2018  
Total Swabs

Burnside 1,202 620 247 2,069 889
Campbelltown 934 486 1,213 2,633 607
NPSP 1,024 528 859 2,411 930
Prospect 217 117 102 435 205
Unley 340 187 215 742 320
Walkerville 137 72 -* 210 132
Total 3,854 2,010 2,636 8,500 3,083
* All Meningicocccal B study completed in 2017

Figure 4 – Year 8 EHA vaccine coverage rates compared with the SA State coverage rates

Dose 1 dTpa Dose 1 HPV Dose 2 HPV

EHA coverage 2018-19 State coverage
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107

98

4,442

4,218

visits were made  
to workplaces

visits were made  
to workplaces

2018-19

2017-18

vaccines  
administered

vaccines  
administered

Workplace Immunisation Program

Our Workplace Immunisation 
Program assists businesses in 
protecting their staff from highly 
contagious respiratory illnesses 
caused by Influenza A and B. 

A total of 107 workplace visits were conducted, with  
4,442 vaccines administered. This was an increase of nine 
visits and 224 (5%) vaccines when compared to the same 
period last year. Due to the increased demand for bookings 
and the limited availability of the Influenza vaccines, 
bookings were closed in mid May 2019. 

Upgrades continue to be made to our unique online 
workplace booking system which is now used by 96%  
of workplaces booking our services.

1717ImmunisationEHA Annual Report 18/19
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Environmental Health 
is the branch of public 
health that focuses on 
the interrelationships 
between people and 
their environment, 
promotes human 
health and well-being, 
and fosters healthy 
and safe communities.
neha.org 2019

Pu
bl

ic
 &

 E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l H
ea

lth
1818

222 annual report | 2018/19



Complaints and Referrals
EHA received 150 public health related complaints/referrals  
from the public or State Government agencies during 2018-19. 

Figure 5 shows the proportion of Environmental Health Officer 
(EHO) activities to administer the SA Public Health Act 2011 
during 2018-19. As shown in Figure 5, vector control relating  
to vermin and mosquitoes (73) and sanitation (41) accounted  
for a large proportion of public health complaints. 

Figure 5 – Proportion of EHO activities to administer  
the SA Public Health Act 2011 during 2018-19

 
Vector control 73

Air quality 9

Water quality 5

Hazardous substance 5

Animal keeping 4

Notifiable diseases 13

Sanitation 41

150
complaints

Squalor and hoarding complaints made up 52% of  
sanitation complaints during 2018-19. The number of squalor 
investigations doubled when compared to the previous year. 
(Table 4). These matters are often complex and sensitive and 
require a holistic approach to achieve the best outcomes.  
EHA is committed to facilitating, where possible, a multi-
disciplinary coordinated approach with other Government and 
non-Government agencies. This is to ensure public health risks 
area addressed and individuals receive appropriate support. 

Table 4 – A two year comparison of the total number  
of sanitation, hoarding and severe domestic squalor

2017-18 2018-19
Total number of Sanitation Complaints 38 44
Severe Domestic Squalor 6 15
Hoarding 6 8

EHA generally adopts, where possible, an informal (non-
legislative) approach when addressing matters relating to 
hoarding and squalor. Where there is no serious and/or 
imminent risk to public health, individual(s) are encouraged 
to address conditions pertaining to hoarding and squalor 
within their living environment. If these options do not achieve 
compliance or there is a serious risk to public health, further 
enforcement action is taken under the SA Public Health Act 
2011. During 2018-19 two separate properties were determined 
to be a breach of the General Duty under the SA Public Health 
Act 2011. Compliance Notices were also issued under Section 
92 of the SA Public Health Act 2011, involving a serious state of 
domestic squalor at two separate residential properties. 

EHA continues to lead the Eastern Hoarding and Squalor Group 
(the Group). The Group continued into its seventh successful 
year and met four times. This collaborative forum for EHOs 
and representatives from Government and non-Government 
agencies allows for proactive discussion and information sharing 
on squalor and hoarding, as well as services and resources 
available to help resolve these issues. 

A total of five hazardous waste complaints required investigation 
during the year. These complaints involved the investigation of 
asbestos and clandestine drug laboratories. 

1919Public & Environmental HealthEHA Annual Report 18/19
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The SA Public Health Act 2011 prescribes a list of diseases 
that are notifiable. Notification of these diseases allows for 
surveillance and investigation to be undertaken to protect 
the community from the risk of infectious disease. 

‘Campylobacter is the most commonly notified cause of 
gastroenteritis in Australia. Foodborne illness caused by 
Salmonella has been significantly increasing over the past 
20 years and has one of the highest rates when compared 
to similar countries’1. 

1 Australia’s Foodborne Illness Reduction Strategy 2018-2021+,  
Food Regulation Secretariat, 2018

Monitoring and Surveillance

Cooling Towers and Warm Water Systems
A total of 28 high-risk manufactured water systems 
(HRMWS) were registered at 17 sites within EHA’s 
Constituent Councils under the SA Public Health (Legionella) 
Regulations 2013. All cooling HRMWS systems were 
inspected at least once throughout the year. 

Cooling Tower Systems 
19 systems inspections 
1 system follow-up 

Warm Water Systems 
12 system inspections  
5 warm water follow ups

Water samples were taken from all warm water systems  
and cooling towers sites during routine inspections. Testing 
of the samples resulted in two detections of Legionella at 
two separate sites. 

Authorised Officers worked closely with the facilities that 
reported detections of Legionella to ensure the systems 
were shut down and decontaminations were promptly 
undertaken as required by the Regulations. 

Three Legionella disease notifications were received from 
SA Health during the year. Two required investigation. 

Salmonella and Campylobacter 
continue to be the most frequently 
reported food borne disease within 
EHA’s five Constituent Councils. 

1.5%
46%
76%
66%

Campylobacter

Reductions in reported confirmed cases 
compared to previous year:

Salmonella

Rotavirus

Cryptosporidiosis
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Public Swimming Pools and Spas 
All public swimming, spa and hydrotherapy pools within EHA’s 
Constituent Councils were assessed against the standards 
prescribed in the SA Public Health (General) Regulations 2013. 

During 2018-19 inspections were undertaken at least once for 
all outdoor pools and twice for indoor pools during the year. 

• 69 routine inspections at 28 swimming pool and spa sites

 » 19% increase compared to 2017-18

• 36 follow-up inspections at 11 swimming pool and  
spa sites

 » 50% increase compared 2017-18

• three pool sites required multiple follow up inspections

• one complaint investigation 

• five swimming pool and spa sites required temporary 
closures

Four sites closed voluntarily; two to rectify the failing auto 
dosing equipment and the other due to excessive chlorination 
levels. One site was issued with a Compliance Notice under 
Section 92 of the SA Public Health Act 2011 as a result of 
inadequate cyanuric acid and chlorine levels in the pool. The 
pool operators were instructed to close the pools to the public 
and undertake the necessary corrective actions. The owner of 
the pool resolved to close the pool permanently. 

Personal Care and Body Art (PCBA)
Assessment of high-risk personal care and body art practices 
were assessed against the standards prescribed in the SA 
Public Health (General) Regulations, 2013. 

During 2018-19:

• eight tattoo premises involving high risk skin penetration 
practice

 » one tattoo premises required a follow-up inspection

• 26 beauty premises undertaking high risk treatment 
processes 

 » six beauty premises requiring a follow-up inspection 

• three complaints were received and investigated 

 » two beauty premises 

 » one hairdresser

Waste Control Systems
A small area within EHA’s catchment is not connected to 
SA Water Sewer or a Community Wastewater Management 
Scheme, requiring the installation of an approved onsite  
wastewater system.

Waste control system applications are assessed in accordance 
with the requirements of the SA Public Health (Wastewater) 
Regulations 2013. 

During the year EHA received four applications:

• all aerobic waste water systems

• three pending decision 

• one approval refused

• six inspections conducted to determine progress  
of approved wastewater works

• no complaint investigations.

Figure 6 – Non-compliances identified within personal care and body art practices

Appropriate cleaning practices 5

Suitably packed sterile items 2

Refuse storage 1

Clean towels and linen 6

Hygienic preparation of skin 5

Cleanliness 2

Hygenic use of equipment 14

Personal hygiene practices 5

Hand washing facilities 14
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EHA administers the Food 
Act 2001 in conjunction 
with the Food Safety 
Standards to protect the 
public from food-borne 
illness and associated 
risks. Illnesses caused by 
the sale or consumption of 
unsafe food are preventable 
through education and 
intervention from EHO’s 
during regular inspections, 
audits, investigations of 
complaints and where 
required, enforcement.
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Food Safety Inspections and Enforcement 

As at 30 June 2019, a total of 1,270 
known food premises were operating 
within EHA’s jurisdiction, comparable 
to the previous year. Takeaways, cafes 
and restaurants continue to be the 
predominant types of food business. 

Food businesses are classified on the basis of food safety risk, 
using the South Australian Food Business Risk Classification 
(FBRC) profiling framework (the Framework). The FBRC allows 
for the monitoring and enforcement to be aligned with the 
inherent food safety risk of the business, taking into account  
the business’ performance during inspections. 

The majority of food businesses are risk classified as P1 (Figure 
7). P4 food businesses selling shelf stable and pre-packaged 
food are considered ‘low risk’ and are only inspected if there 
has been a change in activity or a complaint has been received. 

EHA’s food safety enforcement practice is to conduct  
thorough routine inspections and follow-up inspections to 
ensure non-compliances are rectified and appropriate food 
safety standards are maintained. Routine and follow-up 
inspections are opportunities for an EHO to provide advice 
and information and for businesses to demonstrate improved 
systems or processes. 

During the year EHOs undertook a total of 1,950 food safety 
inspections (Figure 8).

The SA Health Food Safety Rating Scheme Checklist is used 
to assess business compliance with food safety standards at 
routine inspections. Non-compliances against the Standards 
can range from Minor, Major to Serious. This is dependent  
on the risk and seriousness of the breach. EHO’s identified  
a total of 6,882 non-compliances (Figure 9).

• Average of seven non-compliances per routine inspection

• 1,098 (55%) of major and serious non-compliances resulted 
from inspections at P1 restaurant and takeaway businesses

• 148 routine inspections resulted in multiple serious  
non-compliances

• six routine inspections resulted in 10 or more serious  
non-compliances (all resulted in further legal action)

Most common serious non-compliances identified during 
routine inspections in the last 12 months included:

• inadequate sanitising of food contact equipment

• poor food handler hygiene

• unsafe cooling of potentially hazardous food

• unsafe storage of potentially hazardous food on display

Figure 7 – Number of food businesses per risk classification 

P1 P2 P3 P4
0

200

400

600

800

Figure 8 – Type of food safety inspections undertook  
during 2018-19

Routine 955

Complaint-driven 89

Pre-opening/fit-out in 25

Event food stalls 102

Follow-up 779

1,950
food safety
inspections

Figure 9 – Non-compliances throughout 2018-19

Major 1,321

Serious 683

Minor 4,878

6,882
non-compliances
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If repeated non-compliance continues, EHA’s enforcement 
policy contemplates a graduated and proportionate response 
to be applied to either recurring or very serious food safety 
breaches. 

Figure 10 demonstrates the graduated responses to 
enforcement. Legal action may be taken on repeat offenders  
in the form of written warnings, Improvement Notices, 
Prohibition Orders, Expiations or Prosecutions. 

The majority of food businesses requiring legal action are  
P1 high risk businesses. Enforcement action is however 
not limited to high risk businesses with warning letters and 
Improvement Notices also issued to medium risk food 
businesses. 

• Improvement Notices continue to account for the majority  
of enforcement action taken

• 125 Improvement Notices issued to 80 food businesses

• 30 businesses received more than one Improvement  
Notice during the year

• 14 businesses expiated for 24 offences committed  
under the Food Act 2001 

• only 1.3% of inspections resulted in the issuing  
of an Expiation Notice 

• eight Prohibition Orders were issued – comparable  
to the previous year

 » significant vermin and cockroach activity

 » extremely poor standards of cleanliness

 » unsafe food processing and storage practices

 » unsuitable premises

Audits 
Food businesses serving food to vulnerable populations, 
including hospitals, aged care facilities, child care centres  
and delivered meal organisations are captured under  
Food Safety Standard 3.3.1. This Standard requires food 
businesses to comply with Food Safety Standard 3.2.1,  
and the implementation of a documented and audited  
Food Safety Program.

A total of 110 food safety audits were completed  
during 2018-19.

Within EHA 
64 scheduled audits 
6 Follow-up audits 

Other Councils 
46 audits  
3 Follow-up audits

Complaints
EHA received a total of 83 food related complaints.  
These figures are comparable with the previous year. 

• A significant proportion of complaints (62%) received  
related to:

 » alleged food poisoning

 » unclean premises

 » poor personal hygiene or poor food handling

 » refuse storage accounted

As depicted in the Table 5 there was a significant increase  
in the number of complaints relating to unclean premises.  
This may be attributed to the public’s increased awareness  
of safe food practices and required standards, as more 
information is made readily available through websites and 
promoted via activities such as Food Safety Week. 

Table 5 – Total number of complaints received 2018-19. 

Type of complaints received
Total number of complaints received

2017-18 2018-19
Food unsuitable/unsafe due to foreign matter 0 5
Food unsuitable/unsafe due to microbial contamination/growth 9 9
Food unsuitable/unsafe due to presence of unapproved or excessive chemical residues 6 3
Alleged food poisoning 10 13
Unclean premises 29 17
Poor personal hygiene or poor food handling practices 5 13
Vermin/insects/pests observed in premises 5 4
Refuse storage 11 10
Labelling issues 3 2
Other 6 7
Total 84 83

24
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1,950

6,882 
110
83

food safety 
inspections in total

32% increase from 2017-18

non-compliances 
identified

food safety audits 
completed

food-related 
complaints received

2018-19Figure 10 – The graduated response to enforcement 
under the Food Act 2001

Prohibition orders 8

Offences expiated 24

Improvement notices 125

Letter of warning 17
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8
10
2

unannounced  
routine audits

During 2018-19 EHOs conducted:

follow-up visits

additional inspections

complaint 
investigations

Supported Residential 
Facilities are privately 
owned facilities 
providing personal 
care services and 
support a home-
like environment for 
vulnerable people in 
the community.
neha.org 2019
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Supported Residential Facilities 
EHA is the licensing authority for all Supported Residential 
Facilities (SRF) for its Constituent Councils. A total of six facilities 
are licensed, with three Pension Only and three retirement 
Village /Dual License Facilities.

Licensing, Monitoring and Complaints 
EHO’s conduct unannounced routine audits and where 
required, follow-up, additional inspections and complaint 
investigations. 

The criteria assessed to determine compliance with the 
Supported Residential Facilities Act 1992 and the Supported 
Residential Facilities Regulations 2009, included the following:

• adequacy of documentation and suitability of service plans

• level of staffing and appropriate qualifications

• nutritional quality and variety of the food provided  
to the residents 

• solvency of the business

• public liability insurance

• structural condition of the premises

• financial management

• general amenity and cleanliness of the facility

• medication management

• privacy, dignity and respect of residents

• evidence of an up to date Visitors’ Book

Each facility within the Constituent Council area was inspected 

for compliance with the essential fire safety requirements by the 
respective Building Fire Safety Committee. Fire safety reports 
were provided to EHA as part of the licensing renewal process. 

Non-conformances identified at the unannounced audits 
throughout the year were collated and reviewed prior to the  
re-licensing of the facilities. Where long term action was 
required or there were significant or persistent issues,  
conditions were imposed on the facility’s licence for 2019-20. 

Three facilities were issued licences for one year with no 
conditions. Two facilities were issued licences for one year  
with conditions. One facility was granted a short term  
extension to the existing SRF licence. 

SRF Manager and Acting Manager 
approvals 
One Manager and one acting manager application was 
approved by EHA’s Chief Executive Officer under delegated 
authority.
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2018 ($) 2019 ($)

Income
Council contributions 1,680,870 1,723,013

Statutory charges 150,594 150,360

User charges 392,185 394,577

Grants, subsidies and contributions 270,980 257,814

Investment income 12,923 16,316

Other income 20,553 15,841

Total income 2,528,105 2,557,921

Expenses
Employee costs 1,581,162 1,767,577

Materials, contracts and other expenses 746,550 716,069

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 46,014 37,355

Finance costs 15,827 12,811

Total expenses 2,389,553 2,533,812

Operating surplus (deficit) 
Asset disposal and fair value adjustments - -

Net surplus (deficit) 138,552 24,109

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income 138,552 24,109

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 876,554 743,272

Trade and other receivables 122,329 168,200

Total current assets 998,883 911,472

Non-current assets
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 341,914 324,192

Total non-current assets 341,914 324,192

Total assets 1,340,797 1,235,664

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 197,380 149,195

Borrowings 64,393 64,393

Provisions 325,421 322,578

Liabilities relating to non-current assets held for sale - -

Total current liabilities 587,194 536,166

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 250,742 186,350

Provisions 38,690 24,868

Total non-current liabilities 289,432 211,218

Total liabilities 876,626 747,384

Net assets 464,171 488,280

Equity
Accumulated Surplus 464,171 488,280

Total equity 464,171 488,280
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2019 2018
Notes $ $

INCOME
Council Contributions 2      1,723,013      1,680,870 
Statutory charges 2         150,360         150,594 
User charges 2         394,577         392,185 
Grants, subsidies and contributions 2         257,814         270,980 
Investment income 2           16,316           12,923 
Other income 2           15,841           20,553 
Total Income      2,557,921      2,528,105 

EXPENSES
Employee costs 3      1,767,577      1,581,162 
Materials, contracts & other expenses 3         716,069         746,550 
Depreciation, amortisation & impairment 3           37,355           46,014 
Finance costs 3           12,811           15,827 
Total Expenses      2,533,812      2,389,553 

NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) (transferred to Equity 
Statement)           24,109         138,552 

Other Comprehensive Income                     -                     - 

Total Other Comprehensive Income                     -                     - 
TOTAL  COMPREHENSIVE  INCOME           24,109         138,552 

This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.

Eastern Health Authority
Statement of Comprehensive Income

for the year ended 30 June 2019

2
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2019 2018
ASSETS Notes $ $
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4         743,272         876,554 
Trade & other receivables 4         168,200         122,329 

Total Current Assets         911,472         998,883 

Non-current Assets
Property, plant & equipment 5         324,192         341,914 

Total Non-current Assets         324,192         341,914 
Total Assets      1,235,664      1,340,797 

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Trade & other payables 6         149,195         197,380 
Borrowings 6           64,393           64,393 
Provisions 6         322,578         325,421 

Total Current Liabilities         536,166         587,194 

Non-current Liabilities
Borrowings 6         186,350         250,742 
Provisions 6           24,868           38,690 

Total Non-current Liabilities         211,218         289,432 
Total Liabilities         747,384         876,626 
NET ASSETS         488,280         464,171 

EQUITY
Accumulated Surplus         488,280         464,171 
TOTAL EQUITY         488,280         464,171 

This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.

Eastern Health Authority
Statement of Financial Position

as at 30 June 2019

3
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Acc'd
Surplus

TOTAL 
EQUITY

2019 Notes $ $

Balance at end of previous reporting period         464,171         464,171 
Net Surplus / (Deficit) for Year           24,109           24,109 
Balance at end of period         488,280         488,280 

2018 Notes $ $
Balance at end of previous reporting period         325,619         325,619 
Net Surplus / (Deficit) for Year         138,552         138,552 
Balance at end of period         464,171         464,171 

This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes

Eastern Health Authority
Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2019

4
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2019 2018
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES Notes $ $
Receipts:
  Council contributions 1,895,314     1,848,957     
  Fees & other charges 157,878        150,594        
  User charges 372,381        446,747        
  Investment receipts 16,316          12,923          
  Grants utilised for operating purposes 257,814        346,809        
  Other revenues 18,497          12,506          
Payments:
  Employee costs (1,779,142)   (1,561,774)   
  Materials, contracts & other expenses (974,102)      (965,710)      
  Finance payments (14,213)        (17,165)        

Net Cash provided by (or used in) Operating Activities 7 (49,257)        273,887        

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments:
Expenditure on renewal/replacement of assets (19,633)        

Net Cash provided by (or used in) Investing Activities (19,633)        -                    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments:
   Repayments of borrowings (64,392)        (61,440)        

Net Cash provided by (or used in) Financing Activities (64,392)        (61,440)        

Net Increase (Decrease) in cash held (133,282)      212,447        

Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of period 7 876,554        664,107        
Cash & cash equivalents at end of period 7 743,272        876,554        

This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes

Eastern Health Authority
Statement of Cash Flows

for the year ended 30 June 2019

5

3535Summary Financial Statement 2018/19EHA Annual Report 18/19

239 www.burnside.sa.gov.au



6 
 

Eastern Health Authority 
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2019 
Note 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

1 Basis of Preparation 

1.1 Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards 

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards as they apply to not-for-profit entities, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board, Interpretations and relevant South Australian legislation. 

The financial report was authorised for issue by certificate under regulation 14 of the Local Government 
(Financial Management) Regulations 2011. 

1.2 Historical Cost Convention 

Except as stated below, these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical 
cost convention. 

1.3 Critical Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates and requires management to exercise its judgement in 
applying Eastern Health Authority’s (EHA’s) accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of 
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements are specifically referred to in the relevant sections of this Note. 

1.4 Rounding 

All amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar ($). 

2 The Local Government Reporting Entity 

Eastern Health Authority is incorporated under the SA Local Government Act 1999 and has its principal 
place of business at 101 Payneham Road, St Peters, SA 5069. These financial statements include EHA’s 
direct operations and all entities through which EHA controls resources to carry on its functions. In the 
process of reporting on EHA as a single unit, all transactions and balances between activity areas and 
controlled entities have been eliminated. 

3 Income recognition 

Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Income is recognised 
when EHA obtains control over the assets comprising the income, or when the amount due constitutes an 
enforceable debt, whichever first occurs.  

Where grants, contributions and donations recognised as incomes during the reporting period were 
obtained on the condition that they be expended in a particular manner or used over a particular period, 
and those conditions were undischarged as at the reporting date, the amounts subject to those 
undischarged conditions are disclosed in these notes. Also disclosed is the amount of grants, 
contributions and receivables recognised as incomes in a previous reporting period which were obtained 
in respect of EHA's operations for the current reporting period. 

The actual amounts of untied grants received during the reporting periods (including the advance 
allocations) are disclosed in Note 2. 

4 Cash, Cash Equivalents and other Financial Instruments 

Cash Assets include all amounts readily convertible to cash on hand at EHA’s option with an insignificant 
risk of changes in value with a maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition. 

All receivables are reviewed as at the reporting date and adequate allowance made for amounts the 
receipt of which is considered doubtful. 
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2019 

Note 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.) 
 

7 
 

All financial instruments are recognised at fair value at the date of recognition. A detailed statement of the 
accounting policies applied to financial instruments also form part of Note 8. 

5 Property, Plant & Equipment 

5.1 Initial Recognition 

All assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, cost 
is determined as fair value at the date of acquisition. 

5.2 Materiality 

Assets with an economic life in excess of one year are only capitalised where the cost of acquisition 
exceeds materiality thresholds established by EHA for each type of asset. In determining (and in annually 
reviewing) such thresholds, regard is had to the nature of the asset and its estimated service life. 
Examples of capitalisation thresholds applied during the year are given in Note 5. No capitalisation 
threshold is applied to the acquisition of land or interests in land. 

5.3 Depreciation of Non-Current Assets  

All property, plant and equipment assets are systematically depreciated over their useful lives on a 
straight-line basis which, in the opinion of EHA, best reflects the consumption of the service potential 
embodied in those assets. 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values of classes of assets are reviewed annually. 

Major depreciation periods for each class of asset are shown in Note 5. Depreciation periods for 
infrastructure assets have been estimated based on the best information available to EHA, but 
appropriate records covering the entire life cycle of these assets are not available, and extreme care 
should be used in interpreting financial information based on these estimates. 

5.4 Impairment 

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to depreciation and are reviewed annually for 
impairment. Assets carried at fair value whose future economic benefits are not dependent on the ability 
to generate cash flows, and where the future economic benefits would be replaced if EHA were deprived 
thereof, are not assessed for impairment.  

Other assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount (which 
is the higher of the present value of future cash outflows or value in use). 

Where an asset that has been revalued is subsequently impaired, the impairment is first offset against 
such amount as stands to the credit of that class of assets in Asset Revaluation Reserve, any excess 
being recognised as an expense. 

5.5 Borrowing Costs  

Borrowing costs in relation to qualifying assets (net of offsetting investment revenue) have been 
capitalised in accordance with AASB 123 “Borrowing Costs”. The amounts of borrowing costs recognised 
as an expense or as part of the carrying amount of qualifying assets are disclosed in Note 3, and the 
amount (if any) of interest revenue offset against borrowing costs in Note 2. 

6 Payables 

6.1 Goods & Services 

Creditors are amounts due to external parties for the supply of goods and services and are recognised as 
liabilities when the goods and services are received. Creditors are normally paid 30 days after the month 
of invoice. No interest is payable on these amounts. 
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Eastern Health Authority 
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2019 
Note 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.) 

6.2 Payments Received in Advance & Deposits 

Amounts received from external parties in advance of service delivery, and security deposits held against 
possible damage to EHA assets, are recognised as liabilities until the service is delivered or damage 
reinstated, or the amount is refunded as the case may be. 

7 Borrowings 

Loans are carried at their principal amounts which represent the present value of future cash flows 
associated with servicing the debt. Interest is accrued over the period to which it relates and is recorded 
as part of “Payables”. 

7.1 Salaries, Wages & Compensated Absences 

Liabilities for employees’ entitlements to salaries, wages and compensated absences expected to be paid 
or settled within 12 months of reporting date are accrued at nominal amounts (including payroll based on 
costs) measured in accordance with AASB 119.  

Liabilities for employee benefits not expected to be paid or settled within 12 months are measured as the 
present value of the estimated future cash outflows (including payroll based on costs) to be made in 
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Present values are calculated using 
government guaranteed securities rates with similar maturity terms. 

No accrual is made for sick leave as EHA experience indicates that, on average, sick leave taken in each 
reporting period is less than the entitlement accruing in that period, and this experience is expected to 
recur in future reporting periods. EHA does not make payment for untaken sick leave. 

Superannuation 

EHA makes employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to Statewide Super (the 
Local Government default scheme) or an employee’s choice of super fund. The Statewide Super 
scheme has two types of membership, each of which is funded differently. No changes in accounting 
policy have occurred during either the current or previous reporting periods. Details of the accounting 
policies applied and EHA’s involvement with the schemes are reported in Note 11. 

8 Leases 

Lease arrangements have been accounted for in accordance with AASB 117. 

In respect of finance leases, where EHA substantially carries the entire risks incident to ownership, the 
leased items are initially recognised as assets and liabilities equal in amount to the present value of the 
minimum lease payments. The assets are disclosed within the appropriate asset class and are amortised 
to expense over the period during which EHA is expected to benefit from the use of the leased assets. 
Lease payments are allocated between interest expense and reduction of the lease liability, according to 
the interest rate implicit in the lease. 

In respect of operating leases, where the lessor substantially retains all of the risks and benefits incident 
to ownership of the leased items, lease payments are charged to expense over the lease term. 

9 GST Implications 

In accordance with UIG Abstract 1031 “Accounting for the Goods & Services Tax” 

 Receivables and Creditors include GST receivable and payable.

 Except in relation to input taxed activities, revenues and operating expenditures exclude
GST receivable and payable.

 Non-current assets and capital expenditures include GST net of any recoupment.

 Amounts included in the Statement of Cash Flows are disclosed on a gross basis.

10 Pending Accounting Standards 

Certain new accounting standards and UIG interpretations have been published that are not mandatory 
for the 30 June 2019 reporting period and have not been used in preparing these reports. 
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2019 

Note 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.) 
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  AASB 7  Financial Instruments – Disclosures 

  AASB 9   Financial Instruments 

  AASB 15  Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

  AASB 16 Leases 

  AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities 

Standards containing consequential amendments to other Standards and Interpretations arising from the above - 
AASB 2010-7, AASB 2014-1, AASB 2014-3, AASB 2014-4, AASB 2014-5, AASB 2014-6, AASB 2014-7, AASB 2014-
8, AASB 2014-9, AASB 2014-10, AASB 2015-1, AASB 2015-2, AASB 2015-3, AASB 2015-4, AASB 2015-5, AASB 
2015-6 and AASB 2015-7. 

(Standards not affecting local government have been excluded from the above list.) 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 1058 Income of Not‐for‐Profit Entities, 
which will commence from 1 July 2019, affect the timing with which revenues, particularly special purpose 
grants, are recognised. Amounts received in relation to contracts with sufficiently specific performance 
obligations will in future only be recognised as these obligations are fulfilled. In these Statements, the 
sum of $Nil has been recognised as revenue, in accordance with the current Standards, but would in 
future be recorded as a liability "Amounts in Advance" until the performance obligations have been 
fulfilled. 

AASB 16 Leases, which will commence from 1 July 2019, requires that the right of use conveyed by 
leasing contracts ‐ except leases with a maximum term of 12 months and leases for non‐material 
amounts ‐ be recognised as a form of Infrastructure, Property, Plant and Equipment, and that the lease 
liability be disclosed as a liability.  

As a result of the new accounting procedure, the following changes will be made to balance sheet 
amounts as at 1 July 2019: 

IPP&E Right‐of‐use asset increase  $1,210,000 
Lease liability increase            $1,210,000 

The effect on the profit and loss for buildings in future years will be as below; 

 

The effect for motor vehicles is not material. 

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
Income Statement
Interest expense 51,680             49,115             46,327             43,305           40,034             
Depreciation 87,040             87,040             87,040             87,040           87,040             
Profit or loss impact 138,720           136,155           133,367           130,345          127,074           

Balance Sheet
Right of use asset 1,000,960        913,920           826,880           739,840          652,800           
Lease liability (1,033,993)       (975,307)          (911,677)          (842,826)        (768,461)          
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2019 2018
Notes  $  $ 

COUNCIL CONTRIBUTIONS
City of Burnside 444,498        424,220        
Campbelltown City Council 403,854        406,328        
City of Norwood, Payneham & St Peters 523,301        512,052        
City of Prospect 237,123        225,470        
Town of Walkerville 114,237        112,800        

1,723,013     1,680,870     
STATUTORY  CHARGES

Inspection Fees: Food 108,095        82,389          
Inspection Fees: Legionella 9,795            19,952          
SRF Licences 2,200            2,408            
Fines & Expiation Fees 30,270          45,845          

150,360        150,594        
USER  CHARGES

Immunisation: Clinic Vaccines 116,097        134,375        
Immunisation:Worksite Vaccines 98,419          94,527          
Food Auditing 79,538          72,481          
City of Unley 100,523        90,802          

394,577        392,185        

INVESTMENT  INCOME
Interest on investments:

Local Government Finance Authority 16,316          12,923          
16,316          12,923          

OTHER INCOME
Motor Vehicle Reimbursements 10,597          10,157          
Sundry Income 5,244            10,396          

15,841          20,553          
GRANTS, SUBSIDIES, CONTRIBUTIONS

Immunisation: School Programme 169,874        78,940          
Meningococcal B Study 59,644          160,306        
Immunisation: AIR 28,296          31,734          

257,814        270,980        

Eastern Health Authority

for the year ended 30 June 2019
Note 2 - INCOME

Notes to and forming part of the  Financial Statements

10
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2019 2018
Notes $ $

EMPLOYEE COSTS
Salaries and wages 1,521,123     1,395,211     
Employee leave expense 38,321          36,417          
Superannuation - defined contribution plan contributions 11 117,126        103,545        
Superannuation - defined benefit plan contributions 11 24,653          26,511          
Workers' Compensation Insurance 16,470          15,960          
Other - Agency staff and Consultant Medical Officer 49,884          3,518            
Total Operating Employee Costs 1,767,577     1,581,162     
Total Number of Employees 18                18                
          (Full time equivalent at end of reporting period)

MATERIALS, CONTRACTS & OTHER EXPENSES
Prescribed Expenses
Auditor's Remuneration
     -  Auditing the financial reports 7,210            7,000            
Bad and Doubtful Debts 1,532            16,014          
Goverance expenses 15,946          15,884          
Operating Lease Rentals - non-cancellable leases 9
     - minimum lease payments 60,708          56,832          
Subtotal - Prescribed Expenses 85,396          95,730          

Other Materials, Contracts & Expenses
Accounting 5,971            10,335          
Contractors 26,506          25,093          
Energy 10,967          9,241            
Fringe benefit tax 17,165          19,090          
Human resources 11,742          13,570          
Income protection 22,430          17,822          
Insurance 27,248          24,104          
IT licencing & support 136,462        115,996        
Legal expenses 17,484          25,301          
Motor vehicle expenses 26,293          19,110          
Office rent 104,829        102,773        
Parts, accessories & consumables 130,593        172,753        
Printing & stationery 17,557          26,496          
Staff training 13,254          19,111          
Sundry 33,703          28,145          
Telephone 17,638          16,999          
Work health & safety consultancy 10,831          4,881            
Subtotal - Other Materials, Contracts & Expenses 630,673        650,820        

716,069        746,550        

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the  Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2019
Note 3 - EXPENSE

11
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2019 2018

Notes $ $

DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION & IMPAIRMENT
Depreciation
Buildings & Other Structures 23,642          23,642          
Office Equipment, Furniture & Fittings 13,713          22,372          

37,355          46,014          

FINANCE  COSTS
Interest on Loans 12,811          15,827          

12,811          15,827          

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the  Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2019
Note 3 - EXPENSE con't

12
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2019 2018
CASH  &  EQUIVALENT  ASSETS Notes $ $
Cash on Hand and at Bank 158,728        88,297          
Deposits at Call 584,544        788,257        

743,272        876,554        
TRADE  &  OTHER  RECEIVABLES
Debtors - general 168,200        122,329        

168,200        122,329        

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the  Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2019
Note 4 - CURRENT ASSETS

13
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Cost Acc' Dep'n Carrying 
Amount Cost Acc' Dep'n Carrying 

Amount

Buildings & 
Other Structures 472,846       (164,686)      308,160       472,846       (188,328)      284,518       

Office 
Equipment, 
Furniture & 
Fittings

336,992       (303,238)      33,754         239,509       (199,835)      39,674         

        809,838       (467,924)         341,914         712,355       (388,163)         324,192 
       809,838       (421,910)        387,928        809,838       (467,924)        341,914 

2018 2019
$ $

Renewals In Out

Buildings & 
Other Structures 308,160  -                   -                   (23,642)        -                   -                   284,518       

Office 
Equipment, 
Furniture & 
Fittings

33,754    19,633         -                   (13,713)        -                   -                   39,674         

Total IPP&E    341,914           19,633                     -         (37,355)                     -                     -         324,192 
Comparatives   387,928                    -                    -         (46,014)                    -                    -        341,914 

Carrying 
Amount

TransfersCarrying 
Amount

Additions
Disposals Depreciation

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the  Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2019
Note 5 - PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

Comparatives

CARRYING AMOUNT MOVEMENTS DURING YEAR
$

2018 2019
$'000 $'000

Total IPP&E

14
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2019 2018
$ $

TRADE  &  OTHER  PAYABLES Notes Current Non-
current Current Non-current

Goods & Services 111,829      - 104,142 - 
Accrued expenses - employee entitlements 31,904        - 26,804 - 
Accrued expenses - other 5,462          - 6,864 - 

149,195      - 197,380 - 

BORROWINGS
Loans 64,393        186,350      64,393        250,742      
Finance Leases 9 - - - - 

64,393        186,350      64,393        250,742      

PROVISIONS
Annual Leave (including oncosts) 139,446      - 144,139 - 
Long Service Leave (including oncosts) 183,132      24,868        181,282 38,690        

322,578      24,868        325,421      38,690        

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the  Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2019
Note 6   -   LIABILITIES

15
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(a) Reconciliation of Cash

2019 2018
Notes $ $

Total cash & equivalent assets 4 743,272        876,554        
Balances per Cash Flow Statement 743,272        876,554        

(b) Reconciliation of Change in Net Assets to Cash from Operating Activities
Net Surplus (Deficit) 24,109          138,552        
Non-cash items in Income Statement

Depreciation, amortisation & impairment 37,355          46,014          
Net increase (decrease) in unpaid employee benefits (11,565)        19,388          

49,899          203,954        
Add (Less): Changes in Net Current Assets

Net (increase) decrease in receivables (45,871)        7,296            
Net increase (decrease) in trade & other payables (53,285)        62,637          

Net Cash provided by (or used in) operations (49,257)        273,887        

(c) Financing Arrangements
Unrestricted access was available at balance date to the following lines of credit:

Corporate Credit Cards 5,000            5,000            

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the  Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2019
Note 7 - RECONCILIATION TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Cash Assets comprise highly liquid investments with short periods to maturity subject to insignificant risk of 
changes of value.   Cash at the end of the reporting period as shown in the Cash Flow Statement is 
reconciled to the related items in the Balance Sheet as follows:

16
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Accounting Policies - Recognised Financial Instruments

for the year ended 30 June 2019

Terms & conditions: Deposits are returning fixed interest rates1.25%
(2018: 2% and 3%). 

Accounting Policy: Carried at lower of cost and net realisable value;
Interest is recognised when earned.

Bank, Deposits at Call, Short 
Term Deposits

Carrying amount: approximates fair value due to the short term to
maturity.

All financial instruments are categorised as loans and receivables.

Receivables - Fees & other 
charges

Receivables - other levels of 
government

Carrying amount: approximates fair value.

Accounting Policy: Carried at nominal values less any allowance for
doubtful debts. An allowance for doubtful debts is recognised (and re-
assessed annually) when collection in full is no longer probable.

Terms & conditions:  Unsecured, and do not bear interest.  Although 
Authority is not materially exposed to any individual debtor, credit
risk exposure is concentrated within the Authority's boundaries.

Carrying amount: approximates fair value (after deduction of any
allowance).
Accounting Policy: Carried at nominal value.
Terms & conditions: Amounts due have been calculated in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the respective programs following advice
of approvals, and do not bear interest. All amounts are due by
Departments and Agencies of State and Federal Governments.

Liabilities - Creditors and Accruals

Liabilities - Finance Leases

Accounting Policy: Carried at the principal amounts. Interest is
charged as an expense as it accrues.

Terms & conditions: secured over future revenues, borrowings are
repayable (describe basis); interest is charged at fixed (or variable -
describe) rates  between 4% and 5% (2018: 4% and 5%)

Carrying amount: approximates fair value.

Liabilities - Interest Bearing 
Borrowings

Eastern Health Authority

Note 8 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Notes to and forming part of the  Financial Statements

Accounting Policy: accounted for in accordance with AASB 117.

Carrying amount: approximates fair value.

Terms & conditions: Liabilities are normally settled on 30 day terms.

Accounting Policy: Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid
in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed
to the Authority.

17
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Liquidity Analysis

Due < 1 year Due > 1 year
< 5 years

Due > 5 
years

Total 
Contractual 
Cash Flows

Carrying 
Values

Financial Assets $ $ $ $ $
Cash & Equivalents 743,907        -  - 743,907        743,272        
Receivables 168,200        - - 168,200        168,200        
Other Financial Assets - - - - - 

Total 912,107        - - 912,107        743,272        
Financial Liabilities

Payables 111,829        - - 111,829        111,829        
Current Borrowings 64,393          - - 64,393          64,393          
Non-Current Borrowings - 242,368 - 242,368 186,350        

Total 176,222        242,368        - 418,590 250,743        

Due < 1 year Due > 1 year;
< 5 years

Due > 5 
years

Total 
Contractual 
Cash Flows

Carrying 
Values

Financial Assets $ $ $ $ $
Cash & Equivalents 876,554        - - 876,554        876,554        
Receivables 122,329        - - 122,329        122,329        

Total 998,883        - - 998,883        998,883        
Financial Liabilities

Payables 163,712        - - 163,712        163,712        
Current Borrowings 64,393          - - 64,393          64,393          
Non-Current Borrowings - 275,121 - 275,121 250,742        

Total 228,105        275,121        - 503,226 478,847        

The following interest rates were applicable to EHA at balance date:

 Weighted 
Average 

Interest Rate 

 Carrying 
Value 

 Weighted 
Average 

Interest Rate 

 Carrying 
Value 

% $ % $
Fixed Interest Rates 4.75 690,438        4.75 376,575        

690,438        376,575        

for the year ended 30 June 2019

30 June 2018

2018

2019

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the  Financial Statements

Note 8 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont)

30 June 2019
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for the year ended 30 June 2019

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the  Financial Statements

Note 8 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont)

Net Fair Value
All carrying values approximate fair value for all recognised financial instruments.  There is no 
recognised market for the financial assets of EHA. 
Risk Exposures:

Credit Risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counterparties fail to perform as contracted.   
EHA maximum credit risk on financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any allowance for EHA's doubtful 
debts.  All investments are made with the SA Local Government Finance Authority and are guaranteed by 
the SA Government.  Except as detailed in Notes 4 in relation to individual classes of receivables, exposure 
is concentrated within EHA's boundaries, and there is no material exposure to any individual debtor.

Market Risk is the risk that fair values of financial assets will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices.  All of EHA's financial assets are denominated in Australian dollars and are not traded on any 
market, and hence neither market risk nor currency risk apply.

Liquidity Risk is the risk that EHA will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations with financial liabilities.  In 
accordance with the model Treasury Management Policy (LGA Information Paper 15), liabilities have a 
range of maturity dates.  

Interest Rate Risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 
rates. EHA has a balance of both fixed and variable interest rate borrowings and investments.  Cash flow 
fluctuations are managed holistically in seeking to minimise interest costs over the longer term in a risk 
averse manner.

19
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2019 2018
Notes $ $

Operating Lease Commitments

Not later than one year 64,188          46,717          
Later than one year and not later than 5 years 73,861          47,393          

Minimum lease payments 138,049        94,110          
Less: future finance charges (45,644)        -                    
Net Lease Liability 92,405          94,110          

EHA leases various plant and equipment  under finance leases expiring within 1 to 4 years.  At expiry, EHA 
may re-lease, or return or acquire the leased assets.  

Some leases provide for the payment of contingent rentals depending on actual use of the equipment.  
Contingent rental payments made are disclosed in Note 3.

Commitments under operating leases at the reporting date are as follows:

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the  Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2019
Note 9 - COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
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Income 2,557,921     2,528,105     
Expenses (2,533,812)   (2,389,553)   
Operating Surplus / (Deficit) 24,109          138,552        

Net Outlays on Existing Assets
Capital Expenditure on renewal and 
replacement of Existing Assets (19,633)        -                    

Add back Depreciation, Amortisation and 
Impairment 37,355          46,014          

17,722          46,014          

Net Lending / (Borrowing) for Financial 
Year 41,831          184,566        

2019
$

2018
$

All Councils in South Australia have agreed to summarise annual budgets and long-term financial plans on 
the same basis. 

The arrangements ensure that all Councils provide a common 'core' of financial information, which enables 
meaningful comparisons of each Council's finances  

Note 10  - UNIFORM  PRESENTATION  OF  FINANCES

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the  Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2019

The following is a high level summary of both operating and capital investment activities of EHA prepared 
on a simplified Uniform Presentation Framework basis.      
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Eastern Health Authority 
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2019 
Note 11 – SUPERANNUATION 

 
EHA makes employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to Statewide Super 
(formerly Local Government Superannuation Scheme). There are two types of membership, each of 
which is funded differently. Permanent and contract employees of the South Australian Local Government 
sector with Salarylink benefits prior to 24 November 2009 have the option to contribute to the 
Accumulation section and/or Salarylink. All other employees (including casuals) have all contributions 
allocated to the Accumulation section. 
 
Accumulation only Members  
Accumulation only members receive both employer and employee contributions on a progressive basis. 
Employer contributions are based on a fixed percentage of ordinary time earnings in accordance with 
superannuation guarantee legislation (9.50% in 2018-19; 9.50% in 2019-20).  No further liability accrues 
to EHA as the superannuation benefits accruing to employees are represented by their share of the net 
assets of the Fund. 
 
Salarylink (Defined Benefit Fund) Members 
Salarylink is a defined benefit scheme where the benefit payable is based on a formula determined by the 
member’s contribution rate, number of years and level of contribution and final average salary. EHA 
makes employer contributions to Salarylink as determined by the Fund’s Trustee based on advice from 
the appointed Actuary. The rate is currently 6.3% (6.3% in 2017-18) of “superannuation” salary. 
 
In addition, EHA makes a separate contribution of 3% of ordinary time earnings for Salarylink members to 
their Accumulation account.  Employees also make member contributions to the Salarylink section of the 
Fund. As such, assets accumulate in the Salarylink section of the Fund to meet the member's benefits, as 
defined in the Trust Deed, as they accrue. 
 
The Salarylink section is a multi-employer sponsored plan. As the Salarylink section's assets and 
liabilities are pooled and are not allocated by each employer, and employees may transfer to another 
employer within the local government sector and retain membership of the Fund, the Actuary is unable to 
allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between employers. As provided by AASB 119.32(b), EHA 
does not use defined benefit accounting for these contributions. 
 
The most recent actuarial investigation was conducted by the Fund's actuary, Louise Campbell, FIAA, of 
Willie Towers Watson as at 30 June 2017.  The Trustee has determined that the current funding 
arrangements are adequate for the expected Salarylink liabilities.  However, future financial and 
economic circumstances may require changes to EHA’s contribution rates at some future time.  
 
 
Contributions to Other Superannuation Schemes 
EHA also makes contributions to other superannuation schemes selected by employees under the 
“choice of fund” legislation.  All such schemes are of the accumulation type, where the superannuation 
benefits accruing to the employee are represented by their share of the net assets of the scheme, and no 
further liability attaches to EHA. 
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Eastern Health Authority 
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2019 
 

Note 12 - CONTINGENCIES  &  ASSETS  &  LIABILITIES  NOT  RECOGNISED  IN  THE  
BALANCE  SHEET 

There are no contingencies, asset or liabilities not recognised in the financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2019. 

 

 

Note 13 - EVENTS OCURRING AFTER REPORTING DATE 

There were no events subsequent to 30 June 2019 that need to be disclosed in the financial 
statements. 
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KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

2019 2018
$ $

Salaries, allowances & other short term benefits 182,054        171,153        
TOTAL 182,054        171,153        

Amounts 
received from 
Related Party 
during the 
financial year

Amounts 
outstanding 
from Related 
Party at the 
end of the 
financial year 

2019 2019
$ $

City of Burnside 444,498 -                    
Campbelltown City Council 403,854 -                    
City of Norwood, Payneham & St Peters 523,301 -                    
City of Prospect 237,123 -                    
Town of Walkerville 114,237 -                    

TOTAL 1,723,013 -                    

Description of Services provided to all related parties above:

Related Party Entity

Assist the Constituent Councils to meet their legislative responsibilities in accordance with the SA 
Public Health Act 2011, the Food Act 2001 (SA), the Supported Residential Facilities Act 1992 (SA), 
the Expiation of Offences Act 1996 (SA),  (or any successor legislation to these Acts) and any other 
legislation regulating similar matters that the Constituent Councils determine is appropriate within the 
purposes of EHA; Take action to preserve, protect and promote public and environmental health within 
the area of the Constituent Councils.

Eastern Health Authority
Notes to and forming part of the  Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 June 2019
Note 14 - RELATED  PARTY  DISCLOSURES

The Key Management Personnel of EHA include the Chairperson, Board Memebers, CEO and certain 
prescribed officers under section 112 of the Local Government Act 1999. In all Key Management 
Personnel were paid the following total compensation:
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EASTERN HEALTH AUTHORITY 
 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 
 

CERTIFICATION OF  AUDITOR  INDEPENDENCE 
 
 

 
To the best of our knowledge and belief, we confirm that, for the purpose of the audit 
of Eastern Health Authority  for  the year ended 30  June 2019, Dean Newbery and 
Partners,  Chartered  Accountants,  has maintained  its  independence  in  accordance 
with the requirements of the Local Government Act 1999 and the Local Government 
(Financial Management) Regulations 2011 made under that Act. 
   
This statement is prepared in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 22(3) 
Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

……………………………………. 
Justin Lynch 

ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
CITY OF PROSPECT 

 
 
 
 
 

Date:  20/08/2019 
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Brown Hill and Keswick Creeks Stormwater Board 

FOR THE CITIES OF ADELAIDE, BURNSIDE, MITCHAM, UNLEY AND WEST TORRENS 
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1. Introduction 
 
The Brown Hill Keswick Creek (‘BHKC’) Stormwater Project (the ‘Project’) is a collaborative 
undertaking between the Cities of Adelaide, Burnside, Mitcham, Unley and West Torrens (the 
‘Constituent Councils’). 
 
Brown Hill, Keswick, Glen Osmond and Park Lands Creeks are important drainage watercourses in 
metropolitan Adelaide.  The creeks have a low standard of flood protection resulting in a history of 
flooding.  Their combined catchment is predominantly contained within the Local Government area of 
the five Constituent Councils, which are home to more than 200,000 residents.  The Project is 
designed to mitigate serious flood risks and help safeguard properties across the catchment through 
the implementation of a stormwater management plan (‘SMP’) that was approved and gazetted in 
February 2017. 
 
The SMP satisfies best practice outcomes for stormwater management as set out in the Stormwater 
Management Planning Guidelines of the Stormwater Management Authority (‘SMA’). 
 
The scope and complexity of the Project are such that it could only be delivered effectively and 
efficiently by the five catchment Councils working collaboratively through a single entity.  The Councils 
have therefore established the Brown Hill and Keswick Creeks Stormwater Board (the ‘Board’) as a 
regional subsidiary under the Local Government Act to co-ordinate implementation of the SMP. 
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2. Chairperson’s Report 
 
This is the second annual report of the Brown Hill and Keswick Creeks Stormwater Management 
Board, a regional subsidiary established in February 2018 pursuant to the Local Government Act (SA). 
 
The report in respect of the period from the appointment of the current directors in August 2018 until 
the appointment of the current Project Director in January 2019 reflects the focus of the Board on a 
variety of establishment-related matters, including the constitution of an Audit and Risk Committee, 
engagement of bookkeeping, accounting services and corporate secretarial services, appointment of 
an auditor, establishment of bank facilities, tax and other regulatory registrations and the recruitment 
of a permanent Project Director. 
 
The balance of the report addresses the considerable progress achieved to date in implementing the 
Stormwater Management Plan. A notable achievement was the completion of the Hawthorn Reserve 
project, delivered by the City of Mitcham in conjunction with the Mitcham Library upgrade and officially 
opened on 9 May 2019. Much of the success in this regard can be attributed to the strong support of 
stakeholders, including the Stormwater Management Authority (SMA) and the five constituent 
Councils, their staff and their CEOs in particular. The works undertaken to date form a solid foundation 
for progress in the coming year. 
 
It is my pleasure as Chair of the Board to deliver the 2019 Annual Report. 
 
 
Judith Choate 
Chairperson 
 
September 2019 
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3. Organisation Framework 

 

3.1 History – Joint Arrangement Phase 
 
From its inception in 2007 until February 2018, the project was conducted as a joint arrangement 
between the Constituent Councils in accordance with a Memorandum of Agreement dated December 
2008. 

The Memorandum of Agreement included the following principal objectives and provisions: 

• The Councils would establish a regional subsidiary in terms consistent with principles for 
stormwater management including implementation of works and services of the relevant 
SMP. 

• The Councils would work collaboratively through a steering group, comprising chief 
executives or their delegate, with the power to employ a Project Director, engage expert 
advice and establish a technical support group (along with other provisions). 

• The City of Unley (as ‘host’ Council) would provide for the administrative functions of the 
project, including entering into agreements with third parties, holding moneys, keeping 
financial and other records, and employing support staff. 

During the joint arrangement phase the SMP was developed as a collaborative effort leading to its 
subsequent approval by the SMA and gazettal of its adoption in February 2017.  Certain investigations 
and works of the SMP were also delivered during the joint arrangement phase, as detailed further in 
Section 5.2 – Capital Works. 
 

3.2 Regional Subsidiary 
 
A condition of the SMA approving the SMP was that a Regional Subsidiary be established within 12 
months to implement the SMP and manage its works and other measures on behalf of the Constituent 
Councils.  The Regional Subsidiary, known as ‘The Brown Hill and Keswick Creeks Stormwater Board’ 
(the ‘Board’) was established in February 2018 pursuant to Section 43 of and Schedule 2 to the Local 
Government Act 1999.  The Board is governed by the Charter prepared by the five Constituent 
Councils and subsequently approved by the Minister for Local Government. 
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3.3 Charter 
 
The Charter governs the affairs of the Board by setting out its purpose, function and powers, including 
governance provisions of Schedule 2 of the Local Government Act.  It also provides the Constituent 
Councils with a legally enforceable agreement specifying their rights and obligations in achieving 
common interests. 

Section 4.1 of the Charter sets out the purposes of the Regional Subsidiary, as follows: 

4.1.1 to implement or oversee the construction of stormwater infrastructure for the purposes 
of the implementation of the Plan - subject to first obtaining the approval of the relevant 
Constituent Council(s) and, if necessary, the consent of the Storm Water Management 
Authority, in respect of any material change in the design or the cost of any works of 
implementation;  

4.1.2 to oversee the maintenance and repair and/or renewal of stormwater infrastructure 
established through the implementation of the Plan;  

4.1.3 to oversee the implementation of associated, adjacent and/or related infrastructure 
works or measures on behalf of a Constituent Council at the cost of the Constituent 
Council;  

4.1.4 to hold stormwater infrastructure constructed in the implementation of the Plan on 
behalf of the Constituent Councils as agreed from time to time by resolution of the 
Constituent Councils;  

4.1.5 to implement such other non-infrastructure measures as set out in the Plan or approved 
by the Constituent Councils or as determined by the Board to be necessary or 
convenient for or incidental to the implementation of the Plan;  

4.1.6 to provide a forum for the discussion and consideration of the Constituent Councils' 
obligations and responsibilities under the Plan;  

4.1.7 to enter into agreements with Constituent Councils for the purpose of managing the 
Plan; 

4.1.8 to co-operate insofar as it is reasonably practicable with the Natural Resource 
Management Board in the performance of its functions under the Natural Resources 
Management Act 2004 and otherwise with any other agency or instrumentality of the 
State, any body corporate and/or natural person including but not limited to landholders; 
and  

4.1.9 to exercise other powers and functions as the Board considers necessary or convenient 
for or incidental to the purposes for which the Regional Subsidiary has been 
established. 
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3.4 Legislation 
 
Legislation relating to stormwater management and the powers and responsibilities of interested 
parties are contained in the Local Government (Stormwater Management Agreement) Amendment Act 
2016, Schedule 1A of the Local Government Act 1999 and the Natural Resources Management Act 
2004. 

The SMA was established pursuant to the Local Government (Stormwater Management) Amendment 
Act 2007, with reference to the Stormwater Management Agreement between the State Government 
and the Local Government Association.  The Stormwater Management Agreement (originally of 2006) 
was revised in 2013 and the Act was subsequently amended in 2016. 

Functions of the SMA include the facilitation and coordination of stormwater management planning by 
councils involving production of stormwater management plans and administration of the Stormwater 
Management Fund.  The fund provides assistance to Local Government organisations for stormwater 
management planning and works, including the Project. 

The Board was established as a Regional Subsidiary pursuant to Section 43 of and Schedule 2 to the 
Local Government Act 1999.  Section 43 allows two or more councils to form a separately 
incorporated entity (‘Regional Subsidiary’) to provide specified services and/or activities, subject to 
obtaining Ministerial approval.  The provisions relevant to a Regional Subsidiary are set out in 
Schedule 2 to the Act. 
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3.5 The Board 
 

The Board is responsible for the administration of the affairs of the Regional Subsidiary.  It is 
responsible for ensuring ‘the Regional Subsidiary observes the objectives set out in the Charter, that 
information provided to the Constituent Councils is accurate and that Constituent Councils are kept 
informed of the solvency of the Regional Subsidiary as well as any material developments which may 
affect the operating capacity and financial affairs of the Regional Subsidiary’. 

The Board comprises five members appointed for a three-year term, excepting that the first 
appointments were made on a differential basis – two members for three years, two members for two 
years and one member for one year.  Elected Members and officers of the Constituent Councils are 
precluded from board membership.  

Board Members were appointed following recommendations made by a Nominations Committee, as 
defined in the Charter.  The process required appointment of persons with demonstrable skills relevant 
to the purpose of the Regional Subsidiary, particularly in respect of corporate financial management, 
corporate governance, project management, general management, engineering, economics or 
environmental management.  The Chairperson is determined by the Board and is appointed for a term 
of 1 year. The inaugural Board of the Regional Subsidiary was appointed on 3 August 2018: 

• Geoff Vogt  1-year term expiring 2 August 2019 
• Paul Bowler   2-year term expiring 2 August 2020 
• Rachel Barratt  2-year term expiring 2 August 2020 
• Judith Choate  3-year term expiring 2 August 2021 
• Paul Gelston  3-year term expiring 2 August 2021 

Prior to appointment of the current Board, the Owners Executive Group, as detailed in Section 3.7, 
acted as an interim board. 
 

3.6 Audit and Risk Committee 
 
An Audit and Risk Committee was formed by resolution of the Board on 9 August 2018.  Board 
Members Geoff Vogt, Rachel Barratt and Paul Gelston were appointed to the committee by resolution 
of the Board on 16 August 2018 with the Charter requiring in Section 9.6 (a) that the Chairperson of 
the Board also ‘serve as Chair of all committees established by the Board’.  The first meeting of the 
Audit and Risk Committee was held on 27 August 2018.   

On 18 October 2018, the Board resolved that ‘the Board appoint to the Audit and Risk Committee an 
independent person whose financial qualifications are endorsed by the Councils, and who is to be paid 
an amount equivalent to that of independent members of other Local Government subsidiary Audit 
Committees’.  The Board subsequently resolved on 15 November 2018 to appoint Justin Humphrey of 
Grant Thornton as the independent member of the Audit and Risk Committee. 
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3.7 Owners Executive Group 
 
The Owners Executive Group, previously known as the Project Steering Group, consists of a 
representative from each of the Constituent Councils. Membership is currently: 

• City of Adelaide  Klinton Devenish, Executive Manager 
• City of Burnside  Barry Cant, Acting Chief Executive 
• City of Mitcham  Matt Pears, Chief Executive 
• City of Unley   Peter Tsokas, Chief Executive 
• City of West Torrens  Terry Buss, Chief Executive 

Meetings between the Board and the Owners Executive Group are scheduled quarterly. Prior to 
appointment of the Board on 3 August 2018, the Owners Executive Group also acted as an Interim 
Board.  

 

4. Project Schedule 
 
The main objective of the SMP is to “mitigate the risk and reduce the impact of major flooding from the 
four major watercourses on properties within the BHKC catchment, up to and including a 100-year 
average recurrence interval (ARI) flood. A 100-year ARI flood is also referred to as a 1 in 100-year 
event and has a 1% chance of occurring in any given year.  Other objectives are concerned with 
quality of runoff and effect on receiving waters, beneficial reuse of stormwater and effective 
complementary planning requirements”. 

The capital works program specified within the SMP is broadly outlined as follows, with detail relating 
to the current status of projects provided. 

PROJECT NAME 2016 SMP 
BUDGET STATUS 

Ridge Park Detention Dam $2,800,000 Complete 
BHC Diversion Culvert by DPTI $5,000,000 Complete 
South Park Lands     
   - Victoria Park $11,565,731 In Progress 
   - Park 20 $2,300,948 In Progress 
   - Glenside $3,491,319 In Progress 
Lower Brown Hill Creek Capacity Upgrades     
  Watson Avenue to Marion Road     
   - Land Acquisition $1,511,328 Pending 
   - Watson Ave - Marion Road Upgrade $4,971,382 Pending 
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PROJECT NAME 2016 SMP 
BUDGET STATUS 

   - Watson Ave Brige Replacement $1,649,781 Pending 
   - Harvey Rd Bridge Replacement $1,459,980 Pending 
  Marion Road Bridge     
   - Marion Rd Bridge Replacement $4,600,555 Pending 
  Marion Road to Birdwood Terrace     
   - Land Acquisition $1,735,901 Pending 
   - Birdwood Tce - Marion Rd Upgrade $8,218,666 Pending 
  Birdwood Terrace to South Road     
   - Land Acquisition $617,432 Pending 
   - Grassmere Res - Birdwood Tce Upgrade $3,225,360 Pending 
   - Daly Rd Bridge Replacement $1,583,447 Pending 
   - South Rd - Grassmere Res Upgrade $2,436,282 Pending 
  Anzac Highway to South Road Upgrade     
   - Land Acquisition $1,433,013 Pending 
   - Anzac Hwy - South Rd Upgrade $4,109,527 Pending 
   - Farnham Rd Bridge Addition $1,517,542 Pending 
Flow Diversions     
   - Section 1 - Le Hunte Barracks $21,684,746 Pending 
   - Section 2 - Barracks $6,041,679 Pending 
   - Section 3 - Anzac Hwy $15,352,672 Pending 
Upper Brown Hill Creek - Area 1     
   - Creek Works & Easements $5,164,557 In Progress 
   - Bridge Upgrades $2,835,443 Pending 
Upper Brown Hill Creek - Hawthorn Reserve $1,500,000 In Progress 
Upper Brown Hill Creek (excl. Area 1)     
   - Creek Works - Area 5a $1,514,218 Pending 
   - Creek Works - Areas 5B and 6 $3,230,332 Pending 
   - Creek Works - Areas 2, 3 & Orphanage Pk $6,258,768 Pending 
   - Bridge Upgrades (excl Area 1) $5,754,028 Pending 
   - Creek Rehabilitation $1,817,062 Pending 
   - Easements $2,725,592 Pending 
Glen Osmond Creek Minor Upgrade Works $800,000 Pending 
Water Quality Works (GPTs) $1,000,000 Pending 

 

The cost of delivering the capital works program was estimated at approximately $140m in 2015/16. 

An Indicative 20 Year Works Schedule detailing the estimated timing for delivery of all infrastructure 
projects associated with the SMP is attached herewith and marked Appendix 1. 
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5. 2018/19 Achievements 
5.1 Operational 
 
Many key operational milestones have been achieved in the reporting period including: 

The Board 
 
Appointment of the Board Members took effect on 3 August 2018 following recommendation by the 
Nominations Committee. 

In the 2018/19 reporting period, meetings of the Board were attended as follows: 

 Board Members 

Meeting Date Geoff 
Vogt 

Judith 
Choate 

Paul 
Bowler  

Paul 
Gelston 

Rachel 
Barratt 

3 August 2018      
9 August 2018      
16 August 2018      
20 September 2018      
18 October 2018      
15 November 2018      
12 December 2018      
16 January 2019      
21 February 2019      
21 March 2019      
16 May 2019      
20 June 2019      

 

  

280 annual report | 2018/19



 

 

 

Annual Report 2018/19 – Brown Hill and Keswick Creeks Stormwater Board Page 12 

Audit and Risk Committee 
 
Establishment of the Audit and Risk Committee took effect on 9 August 2018 with the first meeting of 
the Committee held on 27 August 2018 and appointment of an independent Committee Member made 
on 15 November 2018. 

In the 2018/19 reporting period, meetings of the Audit and Risk committee were attended as follows: 

 ARC Members 

Meeting Date Geoff 
Vogt 

Judith 
Choate 

Justin 
Humphrey 

Paul 
Gelston 

Rachel 
Barratt 

27 August 2018   N/A   
11 February 2019      
16 April 2019      
13 June 2019      

Business Plan 
 
A Business Plan covering the four-year period from 2018/19 to 2021/22 was prepared and adopted by 
the Board in August 2018. 

Accountants and Auditors  
 
Appointments of William Buck as accountants and Galpins as auditors to the Regional Subsidiary 
were made by resolution of the Board on 20 September 2018. 

Project Director  
 
Peta Mantzarapis was appointed as Project Director commencing 14 January 2019 with the role of 
Executive Officer transferring from Michael Salkeld to Peta by resolution of the Board on 16 January 
2019. 

Schedule of Works 
 
Scheduling of individual project works has been established over the life of the Project and both short-
term and long-term financial planning has been considered with reference to the expected delivery 
schedule. 
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Finance Systems  
 
Finance systems have now been established separately from the City of Unley and a reconciliation 
process has been completed to balance any funds owing to the City of Unley.  Xero is being used as 
the Board’s financial management system. 

2019/20 Budget 
 
The 2019/20 budget has been finalised and provided to all Constituent Councils in a format consistent 
with that of the Model Financial Statements.  Formats have also been established to comply with the 
reporting requirements in accordance with Regulations 9 and 10 of the Local Government (Financial 
Management) Regulations 2011.    

Policies and Procedures 
 
Development of policies and procedures has been a key focus of the Audit and Risk Committee and 
the following policies have now been adopted by the Board: 

• Media Engagement Policy 
• Procurement Policy and associated forms 
• Invoice Payment Policy 
• Credit Card Policy 
• Expense Approval and Reimbursement Policy 
• Decision Making Framework for Discretionary Projects 
• Public Consultation Policy 
• Work Health and Safety 

In addition, policies currently in progress include – Prudential Management, Terms of Reference for 
Technical Assessment Panel and Financial Delegations. 

Technical Staff & Finance Staff – Constituent Councils  
 
A meeting of the Project Director and technical staff of the Constituent Councils occurred on 5 May 
2019 with discussion points including timing of projects, project budgets, initiation of project works, 
responsibility for delivery, suppliers and the Technical Assessment Group. 

A meeting of the Project Director and finance staff of the Constituent Councils occurred on 28 May 
2019 with discussion points including timing of projects, project budgets, finance requirements in 
accordance with Regs 9 and 10, timing and content of finance reports, ownership and control of 
assets. 
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Operational Matters 
 
Various operational matters have been attended to and are now functioning efficiently including IT 
arrangements, banking systems, establishment of a postal address and a meeting venue separate 
from the City of Unley.  

Workshop 
 
A workshop attended by the Board, Project Director, Owners Executive Group, technical and finance 
staff of the Constituent Councils was held on 20 June 2019 to discuss the ownership and control of 
assets.  This workshop was useful in establishing a position regarding the responsibilities for 
delivering project works, responsibility for ongoing care and control of assets, insurance implications, 
financial and accounting implications. 

Reporting Requirements 
 
The Local Government Act 1999 along with the Charter of the Board prescribe various reporting 
requirements with which the Board must comply.  These requirements include but are not limited to: 

• Maintenance of a register of Board motions and instances where the Common Seal has been 
affixed. 

• A Key Outcomes Summary to be provided to the Constituent Councils within two weeks 
following each ordinary meeting of the Board. 

• Budget to be prepared for the next financial year. The Budget must be adopted by the Board 
after 31 May but before 30 June each year and must be provided to each Constituent Council 
within five business days after adoption. 

• Reports in accordance with Regulations 9 and 10 of the Local Government (Financial 
Management) Regulations 2011. 

• Audited financial statements to be provided to the Chief Executive Officer of each Constituent 
Council before 30 September of the subsequent financial year. 

• Annual report including the audited financial statements to be submitted to each Constituent 
Council before 30 September of the subsequent financial year. 

• Business Plan to be prepared in respect of the ensuing four years and to be updated each 
year. 

• Long-Term Financial Plan to be prepared and reviewed within 6 months of the adoption or 
update of the Business Plan and, in any event, to be reviewed every four years. 

• Asset and Infrastructure Management Plan to be prepared and reviewed at any time and, in 
any event, to be reviewed every four years. 

Systems and processes have been established to ensure compliance with the reporting 
requirements of the Regional Subsidiary.  
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Stormwater Management Authority 
 
The Board has committed to ensuring a successful relationship is maintained with the Stormwater 
Management Authority (SMA).  In this regard, Chairperson Judith Choate, Board Member Geoff Vogt 
and Project Director Peta Mantzarapis met with the Chairperson of the SMA Steven Haines and the 
General Manager David Trebilcock on 24 January 2019.  Peta Mantzarapis subsequently met with 
David Trebilcock on 28 March 2019 and is in regular contact to discuss timing and status of project 
works along with funding requirements.   

The SMA have provided confirmation that the required funding as set out in the Board’s 10-year 
financial plan will be available.  Further, the SMA have advised that any funding provided in the lead-
up to the approval of the SMP would not be considered part of the $70m funding commitment unless it 
relates to works that are very clearly capital projects defined in the SMP.  As such, of the available 
$70m, the following funds have been provided by the SMA to 30 June 2019: 

• Brown Hill Creek Diversion Culvert (delivered by DPTI)  $2,500,000 
• Victoria Park project works     $35,566 
• Remaining funds available     $67,464,434 

A process for claiming funds from the SMA has been established in consultation with David Trebilcock 
with funds being provided biannually in arrears.  
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5.2 Capital Works 
 
As previously set out herein, projects completed prior to the 2018/19 financial year include the Ridge 
Park Detention Dam and the Brown Hill Creek Diversion Culvert. 

Project works progressed during the current 2018/19 reporting period include: 
 
 

Upper Brown Hill Creek - Hawthorn Reserve 
 
The Hawthorn Reserve project involved creek 
widening and upgrade works and was delivered by the 
City of Mitcham in conjunction with the Mitcham 
Library upgrade.  Construction works were completed 
in early May and the creek works were officially 
opened on May 9th. 

 

 

 

 

An invoice has been submitted by City of Mitcham 
covering the majority of the cost with a smaller amount 
held over to July to allow final reconciliation of 
expenses.  Property acquisitions and associated land 
transfers will be completed in the coming months.  

 

 

  

Completed 
Creek 
Works 
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Artist’s impression of the wetland 

South Park Lands  
Victoria Park/ Pakapakanthi (Park 16)  and Blue Gum Park/ Kurangga (Park 20)  
 

The South Park Lands project involves construction of 
a wetland at the southern end of Victoria Park/ 
Pakapakanthi (Park 16) and creek works within Blue 
Gum Park/ Kurangga (Park 20).  A concept design has 
been prepared by Tonkin and public consultation on 
the concept commenced on 4th of June 2019 and 
ended on 5th of July. The consultation process 
included direct engagement with key stakeholders 
along with an advert in the City Messenger and 
signage erected on both sites.  

 

 

 

Next steps include finalisation of and addressing the 
consultation outcomes, final revision of concept 
designs, Adelaide Park Lands Authority and City of 
Adelaide review process, lodgement of the 
Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation 
Act referral and commencement of the Development 
Application process.  Preparation of final design 
drawings and tender documentation will be undertaken 
concurrently with the Development Application process. 
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Glenside 
 
This project involves enlargement of an existing detention basin from a capacity of 18ML to 37ML, to 
limit flow to the existing capacity of the culvert under the Fullarton and Greenhill Roads intersection.  
The detention basin, together with other works in the South Park Lands is intended to reduce the peak 
stormwater flows along Park Lands Creek and further downstream. 

The Glenside site is being developed by Cedar Woods 
and Stage 2 bulk earthworks are currently being 
designed.  Excavation of approximately 25,000m3 of 
material will be required to form the detention basin in 
addition to providing primary water quality treatment 
via new large gross pollutant traps. The works will 
include a slight re-alignment of the existing twin 
1950mm stormwater pipes to suit the layout of the 
development. 

The infrastructure is currently being designed and 
Cedar Woods is liaising with the City of Burnside for 
necessary approvals.  A design report will be produced 
and will be issued to Council. 
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Artist’s impression of the proposed shared use path 

Upper Brown Hill Creek – Area 1 (Everard Park) 
 
This project involves installation of a covered culvert 
along the length of the creek from Anzac Highway to 
Third Avenue.  The creek is privately owned by a 
single owner on the northern side (Arcadian 
development site) and 8 owners on the southern side.  
The land required from the Arcadian site is to be 
vested in Council’s ownership and will contribute 
toward the open space requirements of the 
development.  Assessments of compensation have 
been prepared and offers of compensation have been 
made to the 8 owners at the southern side.  
Negotiations are underway with these owners.   

 

50% design and documentation has been completed 
and a quotation has been sought for the detailed 
design works and tender documentation.  Next steps 
include acquisition of the required land, EPA and 
NRMB referrals, arboreal assessment and 
development application for removal of trees. 

 

 

 
 

Beyond these current projects and in accordance with the Indicative 20 Year Works Schedule 
attached hereto as Appendix 1, the works scheduled to be completed in the coming 5-year period all 
form part of the Lower Brown Hill Creek Capacity Upgrades.  Close liaison with City of West Torrens 
will therefore be required. 
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5.3 Media Exposure & Community Engagement 
 
Media exposure during the 2018/19 reporting period included: 

• Adelaide Advertiser article on 14 January 2019 regarding a River Red Gum considered to be at 
risk due to the Project.  The project always intends to retain trees where possible and there is 
currently no indication that this significant tree is at risk. This has been communicated to 
Councillor Wright. 

• Adelaide Advertiser article on 25 February 2019 regarding a destroyed garden at Hawthorn 
Reserve.  The Hawthorn Reserve works were delivered by City of Mitcham and a council 
representative contacted Mr Wilson to apologise for the removal of the garden as part of the 
creek works. 

• Westside Weekly Messenger article on 10 April 2019 regarding City of West Torrens wish-list 
for federal funding, including a call for funding toward the Project. 

• Hawthorn Reserve – the official opening of the creek works was held onsite on 9 May 2019.  In 
addition, Outside Ideas shared updates on the project works via their social media and a 
project update was shared on the City of Mitcham website in January 2019. 

• The Mitcham Library and Brown Hill Creek Redevelopment Project was presented with the 
Institute of Public Works Engineering 2019 Excellence Award in the category of “Excellence in 
Design and/ or Construction of a Public Works Environmental Enhancement Project” in June 
2019. 

• A public consultation process was undertaken for the South Park Lands projects commencing 
4 June 2019.  Media exposure generated during the consultation period included: 
o The Advertiser print article 
o AdelaideNow online article 
o FIVEaa interview with Lord Mayor 
o Hit107 news update 
o Glam Adelaide online article 

• Engagement with 9 adjoining land owners directly affected by the Upper Brown Hill Creek – 
Area 1 (Everard Park/ Forestville) works has occurred over recent months. 

A copy of articles that have appeared in the media are included herewith and marked Appendix 2. 
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6. Operating and Capital Contributions 
 
A funding model has been established to enable determination of invoices required and to capture 
accurate detail relating to where the funds are going. 

Operational expenditure is fully funded by Constituent Councils and is invoiced biannually in advance.  
Each Council contributes a 20% share of the required budget. 

Capital expenditure is funded equally between the Constituent Councils and the SMA.  Of the 50% 
funded by the Constituent Councils, the percentage share is as follows: 

• City of Adelaide  8% 
• City of Burnside  12% 
• City of Mitcham  10% 
• City of Unley   21% 
• City of West Torrens  49% 

Invoices are issued to the Constituent Councils biannually in advance while invoices are issued to the 
SMA biannually in arrears.  Given the SMA contribution is made in arrears, a level of capital beyond 
the required budget is maintained for cash flow purposes. 

 

7. Audited Financial Statements 
 
The 2018/19 financial statements have been audited by Galpins and are attached as Appendix 3. 
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14/01/2019 Fears 800-year-old tree could be axed for stormwater project - The Advertiser, 1/14/2019

https://metros.smedia.com.au/theadvertiser/PrintArticle.aspx?doc=NCADV%2F2019%2F01%2F14&entity=ar01101&mode=text 1/3

Fears 800-year-old tree could be axed for
stormwater project
CRAIG COOK 
URBAN AFFAIRS

FORESTVILLE residents are again rallying to protect a spectacular river red gum – believed to be
the oldest in the Unley district.

They fear the tree on Wilberforce Walk, which is estimated to be up to 800 years old, will be axed
as part of upcoming work to floodproof Brownhill Creek.

Residents first raised concerns over the tree’s future in 2015, and again highlighted the issue to
newly elected Unley councillor Emma Wright while she was on the campaign trail in the lead-up
to November’s local government elections.

“We often walk through the area on the way to the playground so we see it all the time,” said Cr
Wright, a mother of two young boys.

“People have had paintings done of the tree that have pride of place in their homes. They are
very passionate about it.

“Residents rightly want to know what’s happening with the Brownhill Creek stormwater project
and if the tree will be affected.”

As well as being possibly the oldest tree in the district, with a 7m trunk circumference, it is also
one of the largest.

A 2014 report by arborist Dean Nicolle – completed at the request of the Brownhill Creek
Forestville community group – said the tree was “highly worthy of retention”.

Despite evident and extensive termite activity, Mr Nicolle stated the tree was in “a good and
stable state of health”.

He added there was an extremely low likelihood of structural failure and the risk to public safety
was “low and acceptable”.

Cr Wright said she would seek further information from council staff about the tree’s future at an
elected member’s briefing session – on a date yet to be announced – but had already put her
stake in the ground.

“If it comes to the crunch, I’ll be kicking up a bit of a stink,” she said.
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14/01/2019 Fears 800-year-old tree could be axed for stormwater project - The Advertiser, 1/14/2019

https://metros.smedia.com.au/theadvertiser/PrintArticle.aspx?doc=NCADV%2F2019%2F01%2F14&entity=ar01101&mode=text 2/3
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14/01/2019 Fears 800-year-old tree could be axed for stormwater project - The Advertiser, 1/14/2019

https://metros.smedia.com.au/theadvertiser/PrintArticle.aspx?doc=NCADV%2F2019%2F01%2F14&entity=ar01101&mode=text 3/3

BEHEMOTH: Unley councillor Emma Wright and sons Oliver, 5, and Jack, 2,
marvel at the massive river red gum at Forestville. Picture: EMMA BRASIER/AAP
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‘Massive dummy spit’ 
over destroyed garden
A FORMER Mitcham
councillor and Citizen
of the Year has lashed
out at council staff who
he says destroyed a
volunteer-planted gar-
den along Brownhill
Creek that took years
to construct.

John Wilson said he
spent his own money on the
project, including on an irri-
gation system which had been
torn apart during work to
flood-proof the creek.

“I did a total dummy-spit
when I saw the damage done
to work done by volunteers,”

he said. “What is so an-
noying is just the sheer
stupidity of it.” 

Named Mitcham’s
Citizen of the Year in
2013 for his work on
flood mitigation at
Brownhill Creek, Mr
Wilson said the plants
and equipment should

have been “salvaged”.
In an email to Mr Wilson,

Mitcham strategic projects en-
gineer Rick Hennig apologised
“for any communication short-
falls” and promised more ex-
tensive irrigation in the area
when works are complete.
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Council unveils election wish list
POLITICS

Anthony Johnson

SEVEN capital projects have
been targeted for federal
funding by West Torrens
Council ahead of the May
election.

But two of these – women’s
football changerooms at Rich-
mond Oval and flood miti-
gation via the Brownhill
Keswick Creek Stormwater

Project – are particularly close
the heart of West Torrens
Mayor Michael Coxon.

“I am extremely passionate
about creating safe and
healthy communities and
these projects need federal
funding to help them to be-
come reality,” Mr Coxon said.

He said that given the “me-
teoric rise in the popularity”
of women’s football, it was
necessary to build suitable
changeroom facilities through

an $850,000 federal grant.
“Richmond Oval is one of the
top 10 AFL playing surfaces in
the nation,” he said.

“The ground is outstanding
and council’s investment in
lighting for night games has
been a huge success. With the
development of the new facili-

ties, Richmond Oval will be-
come the centre of women’s
football in the west.”

For the $140 million five-
council Brownhill Keswick

Creek flood mitigation project,
Mr Coxon would like to see a
$50 million federal contribution
which would allow the project
to be delivered in five years in-
stead of 20 years under the cur-
rent plan.

West Torrens, the council
zone lowest downstream and
most at risk, has to pay the
lion’s share – 49 per cent – of
the local government cost,
with the State Government
chipping in $70 million. “Fed-

eral assistance would be very
welcome as it will allow us to
protect more than 200,000
residents likely to be affected
by a one-in-100-year flood
event,” Mr Coxon said.

The early phases of Kings
Reserve/Thebarton Oval up-
grade will require $2.6 million.

Stage One has started with
the completion of a wetland
and water harvesting, while the
Torrensville Bowling Club up-
grade should be finished by

mid-year. A new playground
and revamp to the skate park
should start in 2020.

The council hopes to com-
plete a $7.8 million makeover
of Thebarton Theatre before
its centenary in 2028. “The
idea is to allow it to compete
with other theatres like the
Entertainment Centre but this
would need a significant con-
tribution from the federal
government,” the council’s
chief, Terry Buss, said.
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Safe haven in the city
Wetland planned for Victoria Park to mitigate flood risk 

PARKLAND PLAN: An artist's impression of the wetlands proposed for the southern end of Victoria Park.     Picture: BROWNHILL KESWICK CREEK PROJECT

CELESTE VILLANI

IT’S a scene of tranquil splen-
dour, but this proposed wet-
land will have a powerful role
to play in safeguarding inner-
city suburbs from floods. 

The proposed wetland –
with a butterfly garden, picnic
areas and viewing decks – is
part of a $12.5 million upgrade
of Adelaide’s south parklands.

The wetland – at the south-
ern end of Victoria Park – is
one of the largest develop-
ments in the $140 million
Brownhill Keswick Creek Pro-
ject to mitigate the flood risk
for 7000 properties.

Project director Peta Man-
tzarapis said the wetland de-
velopment would contribute
to community safety.

“Crucially, these works will

lift the standard of flood pro-
tection in the south parklands
and are key in mitigating
flood risk across the catch-

ment, serving to safeguard
properties and community
spaces against major flooding
events,” Ms Mantzarapis said.

The entire Brownhill Kes-
wick Creek project aims to
protect properties in Adelaide,
Burnside, Mitcham, Unley

and West Torrens council
areas against a one-in-100-
year flood. The wetland would
help mitigate flooding along
the Park Lands Creek and re-
duce water flow into Unley.

New artist impressions also
include picnic areas, a shared
path, a stepping stone creek
and the realignment of some
of the existing creek line. “The
idea of creating the wetlands

and clearing up the old woody
weeds has been on the agenda
for a very long time,” said
Stephanie Johnston, a mem-
ber of Adelaide Park Lands
Authority and Adelaide Park

Lands Preservation Associ-
ation. “I think everyone is
looking forward to it.”

Public consultation ends
on July 5, with construction
expected to begin next year. 
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New $12.5m Wetlands In South Park 
Lands Need Design Feedback 
Feedback from the public is being sought on the proposed design of a new $12.5 million wetland in 
Adelaide’s South Park Lands 

By Glam Adelaide on Jun 17, 2019  

 
Favourite This Post  
Feedback from the public is being sought on the proposed design of a new $12.5 million 
wetland in Adelaide’s South Park Lands as part of the Brown Hill Keswick Creek 
Stormwater Project. 

The new wetland will be constructed at the southern end of Victoria Park/Pakapakanthi 
(Park 16) and is one of the largest developments in the Project’s approved Stormwater 
Management Plan, which is currently being implemented to improve the standard of flood 
protection for properties across the catchment council areas of Adelaide, Burnside, 
Mitcham, Unley and West Torrens. 

Designed to mitigate the flooding issues along Park Lands Creek, the works will contribute 
to a reduction in flows entering the City of Unley under Greenhill Road, thereby reducing 
the flooding risk to the mainly residential areas downstream. Other benefits include 
improved water quality, enhanced biodiversity through diversification of plant and animal 
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species, and new amenity and recreational facilities for park users, including footpaths, 
walking trails and picnic areas. 

 
A dedicated native grassland meadow for butterfly habitat will also be established, in 
addition to board walks, viewing platforms and a stepping stone creek path. 

The community consultation process is also seeking public feedback on planned works in 
nearby Blue Gum Park/Kurangga (Park 20), located at the north western corner of the 
Greenhill and Unley Road intersection. 

Proposed works in Blue Gum Park/Kurangga involve the construction of low-level 
mounding (typically less than 1m high), construction of a new shared use path, and 
realignment of existing creek lines in the southern section of the park. 

Both projects have been designed in accordance with previous feasibility studies and 
consultation processes and form part of the Project’s approved Stormwater Management 
Plan. 

Peta Mantzarapis, Project Director of the Brown Hill Keswick Creek Stormwater Project, 
says community consultation will include distribution of information brochures to key 
stakeholders, local media advertising and site signage, with further information and online 
feedback forms available at www.bhkcstormwater.com.au. 

“We’ve already conducted extensive consultation in developing the SMP along with site 
investigations and design development for these works in the South Park Lands, and are 
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now giving the public a final opportunity to provide any feedback on the designs before 
construction commences,” said Ms Mantzarapis. 

“We encourage members of the public to review the designs and provide any further 
feedback. 

“Crucially, these works will lift the standard of flood protection in the South Park Lands and 
are key in mitigating flood risk across the catchment, serving to safeguard properties and 
community spaces against major flooding events.” 

Feedback on the proposed works closes at 5pm on Friday 5 July 2019, with Ms Mantzarapis 
anticipating construction of both projects to commence next year. 

The Brown Hill Keswick Creek Stormwater Project is a collaboration between Adelaide, 
Burnside, Mitcham, Unley and West Torrens councils to develop and implement an effective 
stormwater management plan to improve the standard of flood protection for homes, 
businesses and public facilities across the catchment. 

Extending from the Adelaide Hills in the east to Adelaide Airport in the west, the Brown Hill 
Keswick Creek Stormwater Project covers a catchment area of 69 square kilometres and 
more than 200,000 residents. Flood mitigation works detailed in the Project’s Stormwater 
Management Plan will reduce the number of properties affected by a one in 100-year flood 
event by nearly 98%. 

For more information about the Brown Hill Keswick Creek Stormwater Project, visit 
www.bhkcstormwater.com.au. 
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